
BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Cabinet 
 

Date: Wednesday, 1 September 2021 at 10.00 am 

Venue: Committee Suite, Civic Centre, Poole BH15 2RU 

 

Membership:  

Chairman: 
Cllr D Mellor 

 

Vice Chairman: 
Cllr P Broadhead 

 

Cllr M Anderson 
Cllr M Greene 
Cllr N Greene 
Cllr M Haines 
 

Cllr M Iyengar 
Cllr R Lawton 
Cllr K Rampton 
Cllr M White 
 

Lead Members 
Cllr H Allen 
Cllr S Baron 
Cllr N Brooks 

 
Cllr B Dove 
Cllr B Dunlop 
Cllr J Kelly 

 

All Members of the Cabinet are summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of 
business set out on the agenda below. 
 
The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following 
link: 
 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4835 
 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Sarah Culwick (01202 817615) or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a

ila
b
le

 o
n

lin
e
 a

n
d

 

o
n
 t

h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 

 
GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

12 August 2021 
 



 

 susan.zeiss@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

mailto:susan.zeiss@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this 
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Confirmation of Minutes 7 - 14 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 
28 July 2021. 
 

 

4.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements 
for submitting these is available to view at the following link:- 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=15
1&Info=1&bcr=1 

The deadline for the submission of public questions is 4 clear working days 
before the meeting 

The deadline for the submission of a statement is midday the working day 
before the meeting. 

The deadline for the submission of a petition is 10 working days before the 
meeting. 
 

 

5.   Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  

 To consider recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board on 
items not otherwise included on the Cabinet Agenda. 
 

 

6.   Care Homes for Older People Strategy 15 - 40 

 This commissioning strategy sets out the future approach and intentions of 
BCP Council and NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
regarding the commissioning of care home placements for older people. It 
follows on from an in-depth review of care home provision and 
commissioning carried out in 2021. 

It covers all types of care home provision including residential care, funded 
nursing care and fully funded NHS Continuing Care where this takes place 
in a care home. 

The commissioning strategy sets out several objectives that seek to reduce 
the overall demand for care home places, with a focus on meeting those 
with complex care needs, reviewing the current contractual arrangements 
and fee structure to ensure best value and improve partnership working 
with care home providers. 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1


 
 

 

 

7.   Extra Care Housing Strategy 41 - 66 

 This commissioning strategy sets out the future approach and intentions of 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP Council) and NHS 
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) with regard to the 
commissioning of extra-care housing provision. It follows on from an in-
depth review of extra-care provision and commissioning carried out in 2021 
and builds upon the vision and aims set out in the Market Position 
Statement issued in 2021 
 

 

8.   Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Policy 67 - 94 

 The report seeks approval of the DFG Policy (Appendix 1) we are required 
to have in place under our Statutory Order, which consolidates the three 
policies from the legacy Councils and takes account of current legislation 
and national guidance.  

The policy includes the following major changes: 

 Implementation of discretionary funding to assist applicants who 
require works costing over £30,000, are unable to meet the 
assessed contribution following means testing or require assistance 
which does not meet the mandatory grant criteria and is deemed by 
the Council to benefit the applicant’s health and wellbeing. 

 Commitment to promote Seascape South Limited as the 
preferred contractor option for grant works as part of a 
comprehensive in-house service 

Implementation of the new policy is proposed for January 2022 by which 
time the Grants Team will be fully staffed and the new BCP procedures will 
be in place.  

DFG’s enable BCP residents to receive adaptations which assist them to 
remain independent in their own homes, reduce the need for care services 
and in some cases prevent moves into residential care. Adaptations reduce 
accidents and assist in hospital discharges back home. The new policy will 
increase the number of applicants who will be able to proceed with grant 
applications and facilitate higher cost adaptations than previously allowed 
under legacy arrangements. 
 

 

9.   Bus Operator Enhanced Partnership (National Bus Strategy) 95 - 102 

 Cabinet is asked to note that the Service Director for Transport and 
Engineering has used delegated authority to indicate to the Department for 
Transport (DfT) that the Council intends to enter into a statutory Enhanced 
Partnership (EP) with the local bus service operators from 1 April 2022. 
Local Transport Authorities and bus operators were asked to commit to 
forming an EP by 30 June 2021 with the EP being operational from 1 April 
2022. 

This report also seeks Cabinet approval to formally enter into the EP with 
the BCP local bus service operators under the Bus Services Act 2017 and 
in line with the National Bus Strategy for England.  

Failure to form an EP will result in no new sources of bus funding from the 
government’s £3bn budget and cessation of the COVID-19 Bus Service 

 



 
 

 

Support Grant (CBSSG). 

Robust and ambitious Bus Service Improvement Plans are required by 31 
October 2021 setting out a roadmap to better services for passengers and 
communities, fully informed by local needs. 
 

10.   Christchurch Business Improvement District 103 - 112 

 Christchurch Business Improvement District (BID) Steering Group is 
preparing to take its BID Proposal to a postal ballot from 2 September 2021 
– 30 September 2021. Result of the Ballot will be announced on 1 October 
2021 

If successful at ballot the 5-year BID Term will run from November 2021 to 
31 October 2026. This report seeks Cabinet approval for the Council to 
support Christchurch BID for the first term.     
 

 

11.   Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Service structure 113 - 120 

 A new Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) staffing 
structure is required after a Dorset Council change of direction with shared 
partnership line management. 

Over the last couple of years a Dorset Wide Partnership to tackle the issues 
of Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk was set up in response to 
encouragement from the Environment Agency wanting to see more projects 
delivered, as well as recognition of the success of FCERM Partnerships in 
other authorities. 

On that journey, BCP have employed key skills able to create that model, 
both from a managerial perspective as well as technical. Dorset Council, 
although wanting to have independent teams, still wish to work 
collaboratively and it is recognised that many of the skills required to deliver 
Dorset based projects are employed by BCP. Also, the increase in 
capability has resulted in requests for collaborative support for other 
authorities (Devon, Cornwall, New Forest and the Environment Agency).  

Formation of an independent BCP Council Centre of Excellence is 
recommended, building on existing reputation and allowing delivery of 
collaborative working opportunities. 

The business model changes to FCERM over the last couple of years have 
demonstrated the ability to deliver more projects, increase income, attract 
quality staff and reduce reliance on consultancy support. Not only does this 
direction achieve more on the ground, it will result in longer term savings. 

The basics of the business model with a broader team (either via 
Partnership or Centre of Excellence): 

 Key skills can be targeted 

 More attractive in the market for quality staff 

 More able to bid for grant funding (under permissive powers, so 
many authorities don’t realise they could be bidding to do more) 

 More able to deliver the projects in-house 

 Grant funding provides income offsetting the staff costs 

 Communities get more projects delivered making them more resilient 
to climate change 

 Reputation increases ability to recruit and retain staff 

 



 
 

 

 Reputation also gives confidence to our funding partners who 
support our delivery (Environment Agency 

These key facts have already been demonstrated very clearly. Employment 
has seen staff joining who are very well recognised in the industry sector. 
This in turn has led to project funding following them, or other authorities 
requesting support where once they sought it from consultancies. 

Grant funding has increased considerably, e.g. Poole Bay Beach 
Management (£36m), Poole Bridge to hunger Hill (£12.5m), Christchurch 
Bay and Harbour Strategy (£450k – will lead to £m’s on project delivery). At 
a recent national funding meeting, the EA’s Area Flood Risk Manager 
described BCP as ‘best in class’ for the Wessex region also demonstrating 
the reputation that has built with our funding partners. 

This proposal sets out a new FCERM service structure that delivers a much 
higher quality of service, able to address the increasing risk from climate 
change and at no additional cost to the Council.   

On the face of the tabulated budget figures in section 11, the salary 
expenditure has risen. However, the budget for the Surface Water Team 
sat separately (£290k) which has now been moved into the salary pot. Also, 
considerable expenditure on consultancy support has historically been 
spent directly against capital budgets, the cost of which is not shown within 
salaries. The new model reduces that need by employing staff where 
appropriate. Not only does that increase income, it also retains the skills 
and knowledge. The FCERM team increased their income from £40k to 
£400k last year. Employing internally also drastically reduces the staff costs 
on the projects. 

The proposal to change the model at no extra cost is conservative and the 
FCERM team are confident it will lead to bigger savings in the longer run. 
Nationally, the budgets for Flood Defence Grant in Aid have doubled from 
£2.6bn to £5.2bn over the next 6 years. The new model will give us the best 
chance of bidding for those funds and preparing ourselves and our 
communities for climate change.  
 

12.   Carters Quay Build to Rent Opportunity, Poole 
 

To Follow 

13.   Urgent Decisions taken by the Chief Executive in accordance with the 
Constitution 

 

 The Chief Executive to report on any decisions taken under urgency 
provisions in accordance with the Constitution. 
 

 

14.   Cabinet Forward Plan 121 - 152 

 To consider the latest version of the Cabinet Forward Plan for approval. 
 

 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes. 

 



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 28 July 2021 at 10.00 am 
 

Present:- 

Cllr D Mellor – Chairman 

Cllr P Broadhead – Vice-Chairman 

 
Present: Cllr M Anderson, Cllr M Greene, Cllr N Greene, Cllr M Haines, 

Cllr M Iyengar, Cllr R Lawton, Cllr K Rampton and Cllr M White  

Lead Members: Cllr S Baron, Cllr B Dove, Cllr B Dunlop and Cllr J 
Kelly 

 
Also in 
attendance: 

Cllr S Bartlett (Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee) 

  

Apologies: Cllr H Allen and Cllr N Brooks 

 
 

27. Declarations of Interests  
 
There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 
 

28. Confirmation of Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 23 June 2021 were confirmed 
and signed as a correct record. 
 

29. Public Issues  
 
The Leader advised that there had been no petitions received on this 
occasion but that a question had been submitted by a Member of the Public 
in relation to Agenda Items 6 (Council Highway Inspection Policy) and 9 
(BCP Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation) and that two statements 
had been submitted from Members of the Public in relation to Agenda Item 
8 (2020/21 Quarter 4 Performance Report) and Agenda Item 9 (BCP Local 
Plan Issues and Options Consultation). 

Question from Soo Chapman  

Agenda Item 9 Local Plan objectives need updating. They are aspirational 
but meaningless given the unambitious "carbon neutrality ahead of 2050" 
statement. Clearly the "wide range of evidence" gathered at the public 
consultation is out of date regarding   impacts now visibly accelerating as 
climate approaches dangerous tipping points and feed-back loops 
significantly earlier than anticipated. An existential threat.  

Agenda Item 6 The Decision Impact Statement Final Report (Highway 
Inspection Policy) admits the proposal does not account for the potential 
impacts of climate change (flooding, storms, heatwaves). 

7

Agenda Item 3



– 2 – 

CABINET 
28 July 2021 

 
How will BCP inform, incentivise, and motivate residents through the 
diminishing window of survivability before our home planet becomes 
uninhabitable? 

Response by the Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Economy and 
Strategic Planning 

I would like to thank Mrs Chapman for her question. National planning 
policy requires that local plans contribute to climate change mitigation and 
adaptation, whilst planning for development that the area needs. We 
recognise the role that the Local Plan has in influencing a range of 
measures to reduce carbon emissions contributing towards meeting both 
national and local net zero carbon targets. The objective on climate change 
sets the scene - to adopt a proactive strategy to tackle climate change 
impacts - whilst other objectives set the overarching approach to 
promoting a sustainable pattern of development that will be key to reducing 
carbon emissions. 

A range of policy options identified in the draft plan will be developed further 
to form detailed policies that on implementation will contribute to the aim of 
carbon neutrality. For example, promoting a brownfield-first approach to 
development that maximises urban potential in sustainable locations, 
energy efficiency in buildings, reducing the need to travel, supporting 
accessible local commercial centres, promoting green infrastructure, and 
promoting cycling and walking routes and facilities. We have also recently 
reviewed our car parking standards to promote lower car use in sustainable 
locations. 

But all that comes next. First, we want to hear the views of the community 
and encourage people to engage in the local plan consultation process to 
make their thoughts known about these key issues that will shape the future 
of BCP. 

Response from the Portfolio Holder for Environment, Cleansing and 
Waste 

I would like to thank Mrs Chapman for her question. The proposed 
Inspection Policy seeks to harmonise BCP Council’s response to the 
national code of practice for Well Managed Highway Infrastructure which is 
concerned with identifying immediate safety defects on the highway 
network rather than network improvements and changes which would allow 
for a response to wider factors including climate change.   Inspectors do 
identify drainage defects through their scheduled inspections and follow up 
public reports.  Whilst the inspections themselves do not result in direct 
changes to the drainage system, all the data gathered is used to inform 
investment strategies including the recently adopted Highway Asset 
Management Strategy and information is also made available to Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Team to support future decision making. 

BCP Council is progressing our Climate Action Plan, Flood Risk 
Management Strategy, Air Quality Strategy and Highway Asset 
Management Strategy all of which will inform our activities to respond to the 
climate change challenge including our engagement with our communities 
and businesses. " 

8



– 3 – 

CABINET 
28 July 2021 

 
Statement from Soo Chapman 

Ignoring their terrifying climate report of 24.11.20 which is still negligently 
and incomprehensively unshared with the public BCP's "prospects, 
positivity and pride" are clearly out of kilter with the environmental literacy 
required to protect residents from "untold suffering".  

Egregious political and media leadership is genocidally failing to incentivise 
the wholesale, radical behaviour change required to decarbonise at speed 
and scale and retain a habitable planet. 

Harriet Stewart-Jones' excellent Echo letter yesterday points out that BCP 
needs to step up with a plan to communicate, educate and serve- for the 
good of us all (planet, nature and humans). 

Statement from Melissa Carrington 

Government has recently set a new target for CO2 reduction of 78% by 
2035 and committed to reversing biodiversity loss by 2030. However, after 
recent global heatwaves, wildfires and surface water flooding, even 
scientists are shocked by the speed of change. We need urgent action on 
climate resilience and emissions reductions. 
BCP council’s lacklustre response is unfathomable. Even after doubling the 
budget for climate, the amount is inadequate. Where are the policies to 
encourage area wide emissions reductions? 2050 is too late; most of the 
reductions are required in the next 10 years. Every month of delay counts. 
 

30. Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  
 
Cabinet was advised that there were no additional recommendations from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Board on items not otherwise included on the 
Cabinet Agenda on this occasion. 
 

31. Council Highway Inspection Policy  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Environment, Cleansing and Waste presented a 
report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of 
which appears as Appendix 'A' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was asked to approve BCP Council’s harmonised Highway 
Inspection Policy to ensure the council meets its responsibilities in line with 
the Code of Practice ‘Well managed highway infrastructure’ 2016. 

In relation to this Cabinet was advised that the developed Highway 
Inspection Policy is the primary evidence used by the authority in any 
defence against third party claims on the highway, under section 41 or 58 of 
the Highways Act 1980. 

Further to this Cabinet was informed that highway safety inspections are 
designed to ensure the network is safe and routinely checked for defects, 
which may have the potential to create injury or disruption to users of the 
highway network. In addition, Cabinet was informed that the current Code 
of Practice recommends that the safety inspection and defect repair 
regimes should be based on risk, in accordance with local needs, context 
and priorities. There are no longer prescriptive or minimum standards 

9



– 4 – 

CABINET 
28 July 2021 

 
published at which an authority should intervene and repair a defect. It is for 
local authorities to determine appropriate levels of service an be able to 
demonstrate clearly what has informed that approach. 

RESOLVED that: - 

(a) the proposed Highway Inspection Policy as set out in Appendix 
1 aligned to the Code of Practice ‘Well managed Highway 
Infrastructure’ be approved; and 

(b) the Director of Environment in consultation with the Director of 
Finance and Portfolio Holder for Environment be delegated to 
make operational adjustments to the Policy because of Code of 
Practice amendments and/or risks identified with the Councils 
insurers. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Environment, Cleansing and Waste 
 

32. Progress in delivery equalities across BCP 2021  
 
The Leader presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to 
each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'B' to these 
Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was informed that the Equality and Diversity Annual report 
provided an update on how the council is progressing with embedding 
equality and diversity in the way it plans, develops, and delivers services 
and in discharging its public sector equality duty, and that further to this the 
report sets out the Equality Footprint which reinforces the commitments to 
equality expressed in the council’s corporate strategy and the vision of the 
Big Plan. 

In addition, Cabinet was advised that the report also identified some of the 
actions the council needs to take to realise the ambitions of the Equality 
Footprint and to achieve the excellence level of the Equality Framework for 
Local Government. 

Thanks, were expressed to those who had been involved in work 
surrounding the report. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: - 

(a) noted the progress with Equality & Diversity for 2020/21;  

(b) supported the introduction of the Independent Observer role in 
recruitment process and support the necessary changes to HR 
recruitment policy; 

(c) supported the adoption of the equality footprint; and 

(d) noted the steps the council must take to realise its equality 
ambitions and to achieve the excellence level of the EFLG. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council 
 

10



– 5 – 

CABINET 
28 July 2021 

 
33. 2020/21 Quarter 4 Performance Report  

 
The Leader presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to 
each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'C' to these 
Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was advised that the report provided an overview of performance 
against the priorities set out in the Corporate Strategy for the financial year 
2020/21, and that the report has been informed by the basket of measures 
agreed as part of the creation of the delivery plans for 2020/21, for each of 
the council priorities. 

In relation to this Cabinet was informed that Year one of BCP Council was 
used to collect baseline performance data and this has been used to set 
performance targets and intervention levels, and that Quarter 4 
performance has been reported against these and informs the RAG ratings 
for each of the measures. It is presented across interactive performance 
dashboards for each of the council priorities.  

Further to this Cabinet was advised that performance against the priorities 
is generally strong with only eight of the performance measures requiring 
action. These are addressed in more detail in exception reports, attached 
as appendix 2 to the report. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the Cabinet 
advising that the Board would welcome receiving regular updates on 
performance. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: - 

(a) noted the end of year performance; 

(b) considered the attached exception reports relating to areas of 
current adverse performance; and 

(c) advised of any amendments, deletions or additions to the 
performance indicator set that informs corporate performance 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council 
 

34. BCP Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 
presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member 
and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'D' to these Minutes in the Minute 
Book. 

Cabinet approval was sought to undertake public consultation on the BCP 
Local Plan Issues and Options Draft.  

In relation to this Cabinet was advised that an Initial Local Plan Issues and 
Call for site’s consultation was undertaken in late 2019, and that this draft 
now identifies particular planning issues that need considering and 
suggests options to address those issues.  

11



– 6 – 

CABINET 
28 July 2021 

 
Further to this Cabinet was informed that the consultation will seek the 
public and other stakeholders views on regenerating our town centres, 
meeting our housing and employment needs, managing the natural and 
built environment, promoting health and well-being, tackling climate 
change, reducing the need to travel and infrastructure provision. However, 
at this stage in the plan making process no decision is being made on 
detailed policy wording or development site allocations. 

Cabinet was advised that following receipt of stakeholder representations 
the plan will be refined to form the Regulation 19 ‘local plan submission 
draft’ that will be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for public 
examination during 2022.   

Cabinet was further advised that this consultation will take place under 
Regulation 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended) and Town and Country Planning Regulations (Local Planning) 
2012 (as amended). 

In addition, Cabinet was informed that the Local Plan once formally adopted 
will form the statutory development plan (along with neighbourhood plans) 
for BCP and will be used to determine planning applications. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the Cabinet 
advising that the Board had had a robust discussion around the term ‘city 
region’ and that the majority of the Board had agreed the subsequent 
recommendation from the Board on this matter. 

In relation to this the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board advised 
that at their recent meeting the Board had resolved to accept the 
recommendations from the Local Plan Working Group and to make the 
following recommendation to Cabinet in respect of this item. 

1. That the word “city” be removed from the document so that the vision 

states, “We aim for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole to be the 

UK’s newest region, brimming with prospects, positivity and pride.”  

2. That, to Reflect the Portfolio Holder’s statement at Full Council on 22 
June 2021 in response to a question regarding the use of the 
Standard Method’s 2014 data, Cabinet should await the initial 
findings of the Housing Needs Assessment, which will then be 
considered at a further meeting of the Local Plan Working Group, 
before the Issues and Options document is put out to consultation.  
The HNA will provide vital information to feed into the consultation 
relating to housing need within BCP. Cabinet will delegate any 
changes to the local plan consultation document to the Head of 
Planning and the Portfolio Holder, taking into account any 
recommendation from the Working Group once it has met to discuss 
the findings of the HNA. 

In relation to recommendation 1 the Portfolio Holder addressed Cabinet and 
stressed that whilst the term ‘city region’ was referred to, that this was a 
term used by the government and didn’t mean that BCP would turn into a 
city, the Portfolio Holder therefore proposed that the term ‘city region’ be 
retained. Further to this the Portfolio Holder advised that he welcomed 

12



– 7 – 

CABINET 
28 July 2021 

 
recommendation 2 and proposed that the recommendation within the report 
be amended to incorporate the recommendation from the Board. 

RESOLVED that: - 

(a) the BCP Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation Draft be 
approved for a minimum of 8 weeks public consultation in 
accordance with Regulation 18 of the Local Planning 
Regulations; and 

(b) Cabinet delegate authority to the Head of Planning in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, 
Economy and Strategic Planning to make changes necessary to 
the plan prior to release for public consultation. Prior to the 
release of the plan for public consultation the Head of Planning 
and Portfolio Holder will take into account any recommendation 
from the Overview and Scrutiny Local Plan Working Group once 
they have met to consider the findings of the Local Housing 
Needs Assessment. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 
 

35. Housing Management Model Review  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Homes presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'E' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was advised that the council’s housing stock within the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) is situated within the Bournemouth and Poole 
neighbourhoods and comprises 9,592 owned properties (5,080 in 
Bournemouth and 4,512 in Poole) and 1,139 leasehold properties (as at 1 
April 2021). In relation to this Cabinet was informed that council housing 
within the Bournemouth neighbourhood is managed in-house within the 
officer structure of the housing service unit, and that  Poole Housing 
Partnership (PHP) is an Arm’s Length Management Organisation (ALMO), 
a wholly owned company, and manages the council housing in the Poole 
neighbourhood whilst BCP Council retains ownership and ultimate 
responsibility. 

Cabinet was advised that the report sets out the national policy context for 
council housing and proposes some core objectives to guide future delivery 
and presents the council’s strategic key drivers for service delivery in this 
area and, measuring these against the various governance options, 
proposes a preferred model for housing management in the future.   

Further to this Cabinet was informed that it is recommended that the council 
should align and create a new combined hybrid service, the ‘best of both 
worlds’, within the council, and that it is recommended that the new 
combined in-house hybrid service has a robust ‘advisory board’, providing 
oversight, expertise and informed advice.  A number of other councils, 
including some which have recently changed from an ALMO model, have 

13



– 8 – 

CABINET 
28 July 2021 

 
similarly set up or are considering setting up an advisory board to ensure 
robust visibility and monitoring for continued good service delivery.  

The report sought approval to commence extensive consultation with 
residents and other stakeholders over summer and autumn 2021 to help 
determine implementation.  

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the Cabinet 
and advised that at their recent meeting the Board had been largely 
supportive of the report. 
RESOLVED that: - 
(a) The proposed objectives of a new combined service within the 

council: 

(b) The preferred governance model for a new combined hybrid 
service within the council overseen by an advisory board: 

(c) The outline principles of governance arrangements for the 
advisory board: and 

(d) The commencement of extensive consultation with all council 
housing tenants/leaseholders and other stakeholders on the 
preferred model and the future nature of services to be 
delivered. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Homes 
 

36. Cabinet Forward Plan  
 
The Leader advised that the latest Cabinet Forward Plan had been 
published on the Council’s website, and that the next publication was due 
on the 3 August. 

The Democratic Services Officer reported that in addition to the Forward 
Plan that three recent decisions had been taken by the Chief Executive 
under urgency provisions in accordance with the Constitution, these being:- 

- Urgent Sustainable Fleet Replacement Procurement 

- Covid Local Support Grant – extension to end of September 2021 

- Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG4) 

Cabinet was advised that the decisions had been published on the Councils 
website and that a standard item would be included on future Cabinet 
agendas for the purposes of reporting urgent decisions taken, if any. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 11.30 am  

 CHAIRMAN 

14



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Care Homes for Older People Strategy 

Meeting date  1 September 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This commissioning strategy sets out the future approach and 
intentions of BCP Council and NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) regarding the commissioning of care home 
placements for older people. It follows on from an in-depth review 
of care home provision and commissioning carried out in 2021. 

It covers all types of care home provision including residential care, 
funded nursing care and fully funded NHS Continuing Care where 
this takes place in a care home. 

The commissioning strategy sets out several objectives that seek to 
reduce the overall demand for care home places, with a focus on 
meeting those with complex care needs, reviewing the current 
contractual arrangements and fee structure to ensure best value 
and improve partnership working with care home providers. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 Cabinet approve the Care Homes for Older People 
Commissioning Strategy. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

Ensuring a diverse, vibrant, sustainable and quality market for Adult 
Social Care is a key duty for all local authorities under market 
shaping requirements of the Care Act 2014. This commissioning 
strategy supports meeting that duty in respect of care homes for 
older people. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Karen Rampton, Portfolio Holder for Adults 

Corporate Director  Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 

Report Authors Phil Hornsby, Director of Commissioning for People 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  Recommendation  
Title:  

15

Agenda Item 6



Background 

1. The Care Act (2014) introduced new duties for local authorities to facilitate and 
shape a diverse, sustainable and quality market, emphasising that local authorities 
have a responsibility for promoting the wellbeing of the whole local population, not 
just those whose care and support they currently fund.  

2. Responding to this duty can involve market oversight, which aims to understand the 
local care market; contingency planning, providing a robust response in the event of 
provider failure in order to minimise the impact on people using the service; and 
Market shaping which is activity to enable choice for people who might need 
services and to ensure that the care market as a whole remains vibrant and stable. 

3. As part of the market shaping element, the Council and NHS Dorset Clinical 
Commissioning Group need to ensure the range of services available can meet the 
diverse needs of our communities, from low level preventative services within 
communities through to 24 hour care and support in a care home setting. This 
strategy focuses on Care Homes for Older People 

National and Local Context 

4. Nationally, BCP Council placed a higher proportion of older people into a care home 
setting during 2019 - 2020 when compared to many other authorities, although the 
number decreased significantly in the last year during the Covid pandemic and the 
continued reduction in new admissions to care homes is one of the strategic 
objectives within BCP Adult Care Strategy. 

5. Locally, there have been significant increases in the fee levels charged by care 
providers over a number of years and this has been exacerbated during the 
pandemic period, placing additional pressures on the Council’s finances. Some of 
this has been offset by short term grants from central Government. This position is 
not sustainable and a different approach is needed that reflects best value for the 
public pound for good quality care. 

6. The future funding of adult social care has yet to be addressed by central 
Government. Significant costs incurred during Covid have been offset by time-
limited Government grants, but these are due to end shortly and legacy costs will 
remain for some time. 

Local Provision 

7. Across the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area, some 113 care homes are 
registered to provide care for older people, including those meeting nursing and 
dementia needs. This is a large number for the size of the population. 

8. The majority of provision is judged by the regulator, the Care Quality Commission, 
as providing care and support that is considered ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. 

9. The care sector in the area is a major contributor to the local economy and employs 
approximately 13,000 people across a wide range of services. There are around 
6,000 people employed in care homes. Workforce recruitment and retention is a 
challenge. 

10. A particular area of concern is for those people who present as having ‘complex 
needs’ and require high levels of  care and support due to the level of needs that 
may arise from their physical or mental health condition, or a combination of 

16



reasons. Having sufficient care provision with staff who have the right training and 
competencies is a challenge. 

Options Appraisal 

11. The commissioning strategy (Appendix 1) sets out the future approach and 
intentions of BCP Council and NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for 
the commissioning of care home placements for older people. It follows on from an 
in-depth review of care home provision and commissioning carried out in 2021 and 
builds upon the vision and aims set out in the Market Position Statement issued in 
2021 (Appendix 2). 

12. The strategy sets out 12 key objectives that the Council and NHS Dorset CCG agree 
they would wish to pursue together and in collaboration with care home providers 
and other stakeholders. These are: 

(i) Reduce the demand for care home placements funded by BCP Council 
and NHS Dorset CCG through a range of initiatives across the health and 
social care economy. 

(ii) Reduce the number of care home admissions made through the Council 
and the NHS. 

(iii) Reduce the number of un-necessary care home admissions by self-
funding residents. 

(iv) Review and revise the Framework Agreement. 

(v) Regularise the process for setting fees to make them fairer and more 
equitable, with the introduction of ‘bandings’ that reflect the level of need, 
including those relating to ‘complex care’. 

(vi) Ensure there is a match between need/demand and the available care 
home provision. 

(vii) Support care homes in developing and maintaining the workforce. 

(viii) Develop a more evidence based and ‘intelligent’ approach to 
commissioning care home placements through better collection and 
usage of information about placements. 

(ix) Promote and improve the use of technology in care homes. 

(x) Improve partnership working with care home providers. 

(xi) To better support care homes as they continue to provide safe, effective 
care and high quality care. 

(xii) Ensure that the placement process and all care homes take full account of 
all aspects of equality and diversity. 

13. Consultation on the strategy has been limited by the Covid-19 pandemic but there 
was a Market Engagement on-line workshop held with providers in June 2021 that 
provided valuable insight into what the strategy could helpfully address.  

14. Providers at the event were broadly supportive of the key objectives of the strategy 
and felt the strategy came at the right time to support their own business planning to 
ensure these aligned to emerging needs. 

15. There was some concern expressed that some of the objectives could impact on the 
sustainability of some care home businesses. 

17



16. Should the Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy be approved, 
Officers will work with stakeholders, including people who use services and their 
carers, to develop a series of plans to achieve the key objectives set out above, with 
an overarching Implementation Plan and governance to track progress and 
achievements. 

Summary of financial implications 

17. Several of the objectives set out above are intended to have a positive financial 
impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. At this time it is not possible to 
quantify those, but as the objectives are implemented they will be subject to the 
relevant level of financial scrutiny.  

Summary of legal implications 

18. The Care Act 2014 imposes a duty that the Council must promote the efficient and 
effective operation of a market in services for meeting care and support needs with a 
view to ensuring that any person in its area wishing to access services in the market 
has:  

a) a variety of providers to choose from 

(b) a variety of high quality services to choose from 

(c) sufficient information to make an informed decision about how to meet the needs 
in question. 

19. By further developing extra care housing, the Council is offering both choice and 
variety of provision, with the added benefit of a more cost-effective option than care 
homes for some people. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

20. Delivering against the objectives set out in this strategy will have a positive impact 
across a number of the Council’s sustainability themes, including health and 
wellbeing, learning and skills, economy and sustainable procurement.  

Summary of public health implications 

21. Care homes are an important element in the provision of a range of services to meet 
the needs of the most vulnerable older people in our communities. The provision of 
good quality care by trained and caring staff supports the health and wellbeing of 
those residents. 

Summary of equality implications 

22. The strategy includes a section that focuses upon equal opportunities and identifies 
and recognises the area’s diverse population and that the Council,  CCG and older 
people’s care homes need to be able to effectively support people who are married 
or have long-term partners, have a mental health issue, learning or other disability 
and cultural, religious or other social needs. 

23. At the same time this is a relatively high level strategy and it does not set out 
detailed actions to be carried out, although these will follow in due course.  However, 
it does include a strategic objective ‘To ensure that the placement process and all 
care homes take full account of all aspects of equality and diversity. 

24. The positive impact of the strategy will be to ensure that more older people can be 
supported at home. Where people have needs that are impacted upon by other 

18



characteristics these would be met by the care home provider as part of their 
individualised response to each resident. Ensuring that those individual care plans 
fully reflect the needs of each resident is something that is picked up in the individual 
care planning process for each resident. 

Summary of risk assessment 

25. There are a small number of risks that are set out below and the mitigations will be 
developed as part the detailed implementation plan to deliver the key objectives of 
the strategy: 

(a) care providers may not wish to fully engage with the delivery of the objectives of 
the strategy. Commissioners will work collaboratively with the market to mitigate 
this and the market engagement event held showed broad support for the 
objectives. 

(b) the reduction in financial pressures is not achieved. 

(c) Workforce recruitment and retention is not sufficient to meet the demands for 
care in the future. 

 

Background papers 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Market Position Statement for Adults 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 - Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy (Draft) 

Appendix 2 – EIA 

 

19



This page is intentionally left blank

20



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole Council 
 
Care Homes for Older People 
Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 
 

 
June 2021 

 
 
 

  
 
 

21



Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 1 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
Council 
 

Care Homes for Older People 
Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 

Table of Contents 

1 Introduction ................................................................................................................... 1 

2 Background .................................................................................................................... 2 

3 Context .......................................................................................................................... 3 

3.1 Care Home – Definition ..................................................................................................... 3 

3.2 Care Homes – Legislation ................................................................................................... 3 

3.3 National context ............................................................................................................... 3 

4 Local context .................................................................................................................. 4 

4.1 Demographics and Demand ............................................................................................... 4 

4.2 Indicators of need ............................................................................................................. 5 

4.3 Demand ............................................................................................................................ 5 
4.3.1 Demand from the NHS .......................................................................................................................... 5 

4.4 Commissioners .................................................................................................................. 6 

4.5 Providers .......................................................................................................................... 7 

4.6 Workforce ......................................................................................................................... 7 

4.7 Current Care Home Provision commissioned via BCPC ........................................................ 8 

4.8 Complex Care .................................................................................................................... 8 

4.9 Fees for Care Homes ........................................................................................................ 10 

4.10 Equal Opportunities ........................................................................................................ 11 

4.11 Contractual Arrangements ............................................................................................... 11 

5 Consultation ................................................................................................................. 12 

6 Strategic Statements .................................................................................................... 13 

7 Objectives .................................................................................................................... 15 

8 Conclusion .................................................................................................................... 15 
 

1 Introduction  

This commissioning strategy sets out the future approach and intentions of 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council and NHS Dorset Clinical 

22

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 2 

Commissioning Group (CCG) with regard to the commissioning of care home 
placements for older people.  
 
It covers residential care, funded nursing care and fully-funded NHS-Continuing Care 
where this takes place in a care home. It does not include other types of care.   
 
This strategy does seek to set out the approach and intentions over the next decade. 
However, we would therefore expect to review and up-date this strategy on a regular 
basis. 
 

2 Background 

The Council’s Big Plan is to make the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole city region 
world class – one of the best coastal places in the world in which to live, work, invest 
and play; developing our vibrant communities, with an outstanding quality of life, where 
everyone plays an active role. This means clean, safe and affordable housing, the 
wellbeing of all age groups, from our youngest to our oldest, with good health and care 
and good local services, and good jobs for working-age residents, to provide financially 
sustainable livelihoods for their families. 
 
As a council, our values, priorities and objectives are orientated around a sustainable 
environment, dynamic places, connected communities, brighter futures and fulfilled 
lives.  
Drawing from this, our Adult Social Care Strategy sets out our intention to:  
 Support people to live safe and independent lives 

 Engage with individuals and communities to promote well-being 

 Value and support carers 

 Enable people to live well through quality social care 

 Deliver services that are modern and accessible 

 

We want to ensure that the future market for adult care reflects these priorities and is 
focussed on achieving them successfully. We will use a range of performance 
measures to understand whether these priorities are being delivered. They include: 
 
 Increasing the proportion of people who report risks have reduced as a result of a 

safeguarding enquiry. 

 Increasing the proportion of adults who use social care services who say they have 
control over their daily life. 

 Increasing the proportion of adults with a learning disability/ or mental health in 
employment. 

 Reducing the numbers of new admissions into care homes. 

 Increasing the proportion of adults with a learning disability in settled 
accommodation. 

 Increasing the proportion of carers who receive information and advice or another 
service after an assessment. 

 Increasing the proportion of adults who say they find it easy to access information 
and advice about services. 

23

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 3 

 Maintaining the percentage of Care Quality Commission registered services rated 
as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. 

 
The review draws upon the findings of a review of residential care and extra-care 
provision in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole that was carried out during the 
course of 2021. Whilst the scope of the enquiries made were restricted due to the 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic there has been consultation with regard to the 
contents of this strategy. 
 

3 Context 

3.1 Care Home – Definition 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) describes a care home as a place where personal 
care and accommodation are provided together. People may live in the service for short 
or long periods. For many people, it is their sole place of residence and so it becomes 
their home, although they do not legally own or rent it. Both the care that people receive 
and the premises are regulated. Nursing care homes provide qualified nursing care to 
ensure that the full needs of the person using the service are met. 

3.2 Care Homes – Legislation 

Care home provision funded by the local authority falls under the Care Act 2014. 
Provision funded by the CCG falls under the National Framework for NHS Continuing 
Healthcare and NHS-funded Nursing Care October 2018 (Revised) Published March 
2018. Care homes are regulated under the Care Standards Act 2000 and the Care 
Homes Regulations 2001. 

3.3 National context 

The focus of this review is very much on Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole and the 
local approaches being followed. However, there are some national factors that impact 
everywhere that need to be taken into account. They include Covid-19, that has 
impacted upon the scale and nature of the demand for places and the demand placed 
upon older people’s services (including care homes).   
 
Some of the changes introduced out of necessity to help cope with the pandemic may 
also be helpful in the longer-term.  
 
Public finances, which at a local authority level have gone through a long period of 
austerity have been further affected by Covid-19.  
 
The effect of Brexit upon adult social care is the third significant factor and is likely to 
have national and local consequences (for example, with regard to the labour market). 
 
Finally. Dementia is a major issue for the older people’s care home population. The 
Alzheimer’s Society estimates that there are 850,000 people with dementia in the UK. 
 

24

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 4 

In terms of the overall state of the care home market, a major national market survey1 

identified: 
 Normal occupancy rates were in the high 80%s, but then in the second quarter of 

2020 (at the onset of the pandemic/lockdown) this fell to some 79%.  
 Fee levels increased in every region.  
 Generally fee increases were 5.5% with residential fees up 4.9% and nursing 

care fees up 5.9%. Self-funder fees went up 4% while local authority fees went 
up 5.5% 

 There was a reported 3.7% increase in staffing costs raising them to an average 
of almost £27K per annum per resident.  

 Property costs rose by 3.7%, reaching an average of £2,399 per resident per 
year. 

 
The report also said that profitability in care homes has been on a downward trend for 
the last decade, more so in nursing homes than residential care homes.   
 

4 Local context 

4.1 Demographics and Demand 

Information from POPPI2 shows that the older population in the local area is going to 
grow significantly over the next 20 years. 
 
There are 86,900 people aged 65 and over living in Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole. Of these 13,900 are aged 85 and over. This will grow to 115,000 by 2040. 
 
The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area has a higher proportion of older people 
than the national average. This applies to both the 65+ and 85+ populations. 
 
There is a current spike in the population in their early 70s and by 2025 this large birth 
cohort will reach their late 70s and will significantly impact on older people’s needs and 
support in the short to medium term (to 2030). 
 
The higher proportion are women, particularly from age 85 onwards. A large proportion 
of older women are living on their own following the death of their partner. 
 
Some key facts about the older population in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole are: 
 
 Most older people in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole own their own home 

with 80% of older person households owner occupied.   

 Between 15% to 30% of older people in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole may 
benefit from some form of adapted or specialist housing, on account of their day to 
day activities being limited a lot from being long term sick or disabled. 

                                            
1 ‘2020 UK Care Homes Trading Performance Review’, Knight Frank, 2020, 
https://content.knightfrank.com/research/548/documents/en/care-homes-trading-performance-review-
2020-7621.pdf 
2 ‘POPPI - Projecting Older People Population Information System’, IPC, 
https://www.poppi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=314&areaID=8658&loc=8658&mdvis=1 

25

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk
https://content.knightfrank.com/research/548/documents/en/care-homes-trading-performance-review-2020-7621.pdf
https://content.knightfrank.com/research/548/documents/en/care-homes-trading-performance-review-2020-7621.pdf
https://www.poppi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=314&areaID=8658&loc=8658&mdvis=1


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 5 

 A significant proportion of older people rate their health as ‘Good’ despite having a 
disability that limits their day to day activities. This may limit older people’s 
inclination to move to specialist housing or to seek help and support. 

 Older people in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole are not universally well off: 
the percentage of older people living in relative poverty varies across 
neighbourhoods from 2% to 44%. (IDOAPI – IMD 2019). 

4.2 Indicators of need 

A number of factors are likely to influence the need for older people’s services, including 
health and dependency levels. 
 
BCPC estimates suggest that 13,800 people aged 75+ may have a long-term illness 
that significantly limits their activities. By 2031 this could rise to around 17,000.3 
 
Further information from POPPI shows that the numbers of people with a life-limiting 
illness whose day to day activities are limited a lot will rise by around 30% by 2035. 
However, POPPI also shows that the health of older people in Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole is generally better than for England as a whole. 

4.3 Demand 

The Adult Social Care Services receive a large volume of request for support each year, 
with people aged 75+ accounting for over 75% of all requests.  
 
The most important figures in terms of demand and residential care is the number of 
people aged 65+ and upwards who need long-term support. 
 
In 2019/20 BCP Council received some 1,100 referrals for people aged over 65 who 
needed some form of long-term support.  The figures for 2020/21 suggest that overall, 
this will reduce by around 100 over the full year. 
 
In March 2020 The total number of people aged 65+ receiving services was over 6,000 
and just over 5,000 at December 2020, reflecting the impact of Covid-19.  
 
Identified changes may be somewhat untypical and not representative of either a 
planned change or a longer-term trend. Indeed, there may be a post-Covid increase in 
due course.  
 

4.3.1 Demand from the NHS 

There is a range of information from the CCG that is relevant to this strategy, most of it 
relating to NHS Continuing Health (CHC) funding. In 2019/20 some 3,000 people had 
CHC assessments of whom some 1,500 were found to be eligible.  
 
Dorset CCG commissions nursing care for those individuals registered with a Dorset GP 
and eligible for CHC commissioned care varies from nursing homes who can offer 
standard nursing care to those which are more specialist and can offer care for those 

                                            
3 These data are calculated by applying 2011 Census prevalence rates to 2018 base sub-national 
population projections. 

26

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 6 

individuals with more challenging complex care needs. The CCG may also commission 
additional support to take place in the home to enable an individual to remain and for 
the home to be supported in the care it is able to offer. 
  
There is a greater demand for those homes who can offer care for more complex needs 
and for which there is less capacity in the market. 
  
Since June 2019 the number of CCG commissioned residential packages in the 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole footprint has decreased by 52% but the spend 
on residential care has only decreased by 15%. The lowest weekly cost has increased 
by 36% and the highest weekly costs by 44%. 
  
The CCG spot purchases residential care but utilises the BCP Council contract for the 
terms and conditions, other than price. Prices paid by the CCG vary from £950 - £8,710 
per week. 

4.4 Commissioners 

Most of the social care services for older people are provided by the independent 
sector. Only some of these are commissioned by the local authority and NHS Dorset 
CCG, some are commissioned by other local authorities (especially residential care 
places), and some by local residents themselves without recourse to the local authority.  
 
BCP Council has developed a corporate approach to strategy4 that identifies its Values, 
Priorities and Objectives.  
 
The Council has also developed an Adult Social Care Strategy that focusses upon the 
‘Fulfilled Lives’ priority and sets out an intention to: 
 
 Support people to live safe and independent lives 

 Engage with individuals and communities to promote well-being 

 Value and support carers 

 Enable people to live well through quality social care 

 Deliver services that are modern and accessible 

 
One of the measures of success identified is reducing the numbers of new admissions 
into care homes. 
 
In terms of the NHS, Dorset CCG is responsible for the commissioning of services in 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, including those for older people in care homes.  
 
 
The Dorset Integrated Care System Phase 3 Recovery Plan (September 2020) set out 
their Aims, that include establishing sufficient, and maintain, critical care demand and 
service infrastructure to meet future Covid-19 demand and non Covid-19 demand. NHS 
Dorset have also outlined a number detailed programmes and schemes/initiatives. One 
of these is the ‘Independent Care Sector Support’. 
 

                                            
4 ‘BCP Council Corporate Strategy’ BCP Council, 2020. 

27

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 7 

These approaches both reflect and inform the development of this care homes 
commissioning strategy. 

4.5 Providers 

As indicated above, most providers are in the independent sector.  
 
As in most places the number of care homes in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
does not remain static. In total there are around 160 care homes in the locality that 
break down as follows: 
 
Care Homes by Category 
 

 Bournemouth Christchurch Poole Total 

Dementia 41 8 21 70 

Other Older People Care Homes 25 5 13 43 

Other (not OP) 27 6 13 46 

Total  93 19 47 159 

 
Some 139 residential homes have ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ ratings from CQC. This is a 
large proportion (87%) of the total.  
 
In addition to self-funders and the places commissioned for Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole residents there are also places commissioned for people who live outside of 
the local area. 

4.6 Workforce 

The care sector in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole is a major contributor to the 
local economy and employs some 13,000 people.5 There are around 6,000 people 
employed in care homes.  
 
Turnover is high, running at 34% per annum in the non-nursing home element and 44% 
in the nursing home element.  These figures rise to 37% and 51% respectively when 
considered for direct care staff only. 
 
BCP Council has done significant work, through its Proud to Care initiative, to support 
recruitment into the care sector with a range of media campaigns and distribution of the 
Government’s Workforce Capacity Fund grant.   

                                            
5 This and all other data taken for the Skills for Care National minimum Data set returns analysis for 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole available at https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-
workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/local-information/My-local-authority-area.aspx 

28

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/local-information/My-local-authority-area.aspx
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/local-information/My-local-authority-area.aspx


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 8 

4.7 Current Care Home Provision commissioned via BCP Council 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole ranked 94 out of 152 local authorities in England 
on the numbers of people aged 65+ who entered residential or nursing care,6 with a 
score of 631/100,000 population compared with averages of 519 regionally and 584 
nationally.  BCP Council activity equates to 240 fewer admissions, or around 135 fewer 
on the national figures. 
 
 
Numbers of older people receiving residential or nursing home care 
 

 Age Band Total YTD 

  2019/20 2020/21 

People in Residential Care 18-64 202 193 

65-74 147 124 

75-84 303 238 

85+ 679 507 

TOTAL 1,331 1,062 

People in Nursing Care 18-64 21 17 

65-74 38 24 

75-84 89 65 

85+ 190 123 

TOTAL 338 229 

People in Dementia Care Home 18-64 51 44 

65-74 55 43 

75-84 48 34 

85+ 55 39 

TOTAL 209 160 

 
At the beginning of March 2021 there were recorded by the Council 200 vacancies in 
care homes in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, a figure affected by the 
pandemic. 

4.8 Complex Care 

A particular area of concern is that of those people who present as having ‘complex 
needs’ and require high levels of care and support due to the level of needs that may 
arise from their physical or mental health condition or a combination of reasons. Often, 
someone’s condition can change once they have entered residential care. Moving 

                                            
6 ‘ASCOF Measures – Numbers of people entering reisdnetial or nursing home care aged 65+ per 
100,000 population.’ https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-
outcomes-framework-ascof/measures-from-the-adult-social-care-outcomes-framework-england-2019-20 

29

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-outcomes-framework-ascof/measures-from-the-adult-social-care-outcomes-framework-england-2019-20
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-outcomes-framework-ascof/measures-from-the-adult-social-care-outcomes-framework-england-2019-20


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 9 

people from one home to another can in itself have a detrimental effect on their well-
being and coping with increasing needs in the existing setting can be problematic. 
However, it is acknowledged that there will be circumstances where a change of home 
is needed. 
 
This issue creates a number of problems for commissioners: 
 
 Ensuring there are sufficient placements for people with complex needs. 

 Ensuring care homes are able to meet existing, changing and emerging needs 
when they occur. 

 Determining which commissioning agency should be financially responsible for each 
resident with complex needs. 

 Determining appropriate fee rates for people with complex needs. 

 
To some extent, the NHS Funded Nursing Care and Continuing Care Funding criteria 
does provide some guidance as to what constitutes complex care, certainly in terms of 
health needs.  
 
Pragmatically, there is a need to identify four categories of care home residents: 
 

i) Those who require care home provision but have no additional needs 
ii) Those who require care home provision but have additional social care needs 
iii) Those who require care provision and meet the criteria for funded nursing care 
iv) Those who require care home provision and meet the criteria for CHC funding. 

 
Once the local authority has criteria by which to assess and cost additional needs it will 
become more possible both to identify the scale of that need and to ensure it is met. 
Also, there needs to be a clear separation between the payment of higher fees to meet 
additional needs and the payment of higher fees to meet the exigencies of the market 
and/or avoid moving someone from their existing placement. 
 
In terms of care homes being able to meet existing, changing or emerging additional 
needs there is an established evidence-base that identifies: 
 
 Building design and environment 

 Approach and quality of care 

 Staffing levels 

 Staff training and skills 

 Specialist advice and support 

 
There is a raft of guidance on what constitutes good design to design with complex 
needs, particularly those associated with dementia. 
 
 

30

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 10 

Specialist advice and support, especially from health professionals is seen as a vital 
aspect of good residential care. The British Geriatric Society have produced a helpful 
list of recommendations7 
 
The recommendations very much accord with the NHS Dorset/ICS workstream focused 
upon developing strategies around care homes, extra care, supported living and home 
care support. 
 
There are recommendations below that seek to address these different aspects with 
regard to dealing with complex care/additional needs. 

4.9 Fees for Care Homes 

BCP Council and NHS Dorset CCG have a Framework Agreement for care homes and 
makes all placements through this agreement. Most but not all care homes in 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole are on the framework agreement and access to it 
is open to all care homes in the area, subject to them agreeing to the terms set out in it. 
 
There are also supplemental terms and conditions to accompany this agreement and a 
service specification for the provision of care for adults in a care home with and without 
nursing care in Dorset.  Placement made outside of Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole by the council are made using a separate contract which is for the council only. 
 
The Adults Brokerage team collects information about vacancies and presents options 
to social workers and service users and their families. The choice of care home rests 
with the resident and their family, although this can be limited by the rates fixed by the 
council and the availability or otherwise of third party ‘top ups’ from families or others. 
 
However, problems occur when the rate previously being charged by the care home is 
in excess of the levels set by the Council and there is no-one willing or able to pay a 
top-up charge. At that point an impasse can occur between the Council and the care 
home, which potentially could lead to the person being required to move from that 
placement to another one. In practice such negotiations can be fraught and difficult and 
often result in the Council feeling obliged to pay a higher fee than if the person were 
moving into a care home from the community.   
 
The established base rate for care home payments by BCP Council (as at June 2021) is 
set at £565 per week per person and £630 per person per week for those assessed as 
having dementia. In addition, Funded Nursing Care payments, currently £183.92 per 
week, are made by the CCG where assessed as appropriate by the NHS Continuing 
Care team (who have a member of staff present in the Brokerage team). Continuing 
Care funding rates are negotiated by the CCG. 
 
Whilst the rate of £565 per week is the official one set by the Council sometimes care 
homes will not accept placements unless paid at a higher level. As part of this process 
the Brokerage team may also enter into negotiations with the care homes as to the price 
of the service. 

                                            
7‘Effective healthcare for older people living in care homes. Guidance on commissioning and providing 
healthcare services across the UK’, https://www.bgs.org.uk/resources/effective-healthcare-for-older-
people-living-in-care-homes Accessed 4 June 2021 
 

31

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk
https://www.bgs.org.uk/resources/effective-healthcare-for-older-people-living-in-care-homes
https://www.bgs.org.uk/resources/effective-healthcare-for-older-people-living-in-care-homes


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 11 

 
The mean average placement costs £872 per week.  The median fee (the middle one(s) 
of all the fees paid) is £791 per week. 
 
Overall, with some 1800 placements, the total cost overall is £1.6m per week, or £86m 
per annum. 
 
The Council does pay higher fees where the care assessment process identifies that 
there are a higher level of needs that require additional support beyond that which might 
reasonably be expected in a care home setting.  
 
Any increased level of payment made on this basis is the subject of negotiation in 
individual cases and the council does not have a fixed-scale of additional payments (for 
example, there is no ‘dementia rate’).  
 

4.10 Equal Opportunities 

The focus of this strategy is upon older people, but we recognise that it will affect and 
needs to take account of a number of other different aspects of equal opportunities. We 
do recognise that some people with long-term conditions can effectively ‘age early’ and 
that in such cases we would not seek to exclude them from this form of provision. 
 
This strategy will inform the sector of the commissioning intentions of the Council and 
CCG and this may be particularly helpful for those older people with mental health 
problems who need a residential placement, ensuring that the market is able to respond 
effectively to the changing patterns of demand. 
 
The ethnic minority population element of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole is less 
than 6% of the total and significantly less than that for the older population. 
Nevertheless, we recognise that for older people of any ethnicity language, culture and 
religious belief can be very important contributors to their wellbeing and need to be 
properly recognised and taken account of in care plans and the support that flows from 
them. 
 
Similarly we recognise that there are other aspects of a person’s life and identity that 
remain important to them as they get older and we do expect these to be picked up as 
part of each resident’s care and support plan, as required in the care homes contract. 
These aspects of a person’s life can include things such as and their cultural and food 
preparation preferences or their marital or relationship status (and their sexual 
orientation).  Wherever possible (and where they choose it) we would look to place 
couples who both need residential care in the same care home. 
 

4.11 Contractual Arrangements  

The monitoring of contracts for BCP Council is undertaken by a combination of the 
Service Improvement Team and the Contracts team. The former engages with care 
homes (as with other providers) with regard to standards and safeguarding, working 
with the homes where standards are not being met or safeguarding issues have arisen. 
These issues may include those in areas such as general advice and support or more 

32

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 12 

specific aspects such as infection control. The approach is described as one of 
partnership and working together. 
 
Prior to the pandemic care homes were visited at least annually by the Service 
Improvement Team, with additional visits in response to specific concerns be raised or 
monitored subsequently. 
 
Standard monitoring visits consist of a general inspection of the home and also 
examination of documentation such as Medication Administration (MAR) charts, rotas 
and care plans. 
 
The Council has been much more involved with care home providers in response to the 
pandemic and dealing with issues such as securing adequate Personal Protective 
Equipment (PPE) and supporting vaccination programmes. 
 
The Service Improvement Team in the Council maintains contact with partners agencies 
such as the CCG, CQC, neighbouring authorities and the Police and also meets weekly 
with the Safeguarding Team to review issues and cases. 
 
Where these are significant to the point of becoming a contractual issue the Service 
Improvement Team will then engage the Contracts team in taking the necessary steps. 
 

5 Consultation 

Consultation on the strategy has been limited by the Covid-19 pandemic but there was 
a Market Engagement on-line workshop held with providers in June 2021 that provided 
valuable insight into what the strategy could helpfully address. Only a small number of 
providers were able to attend, but they provided valuable insight and feedback. 
 
Amongst the main themes raised were: 
 

 Attendees agreed the broader direction of travel was the right one despite 
objectives 1-3 to reduce demand for care home placements. Providers in the 
workshop understood/accepted that there will always be a need for residential 
care for people with higher care needs/appropriate placements. 

 Providers want to align their business plans to future local needs and felt that the 
strategy was being written at the right time. 

 The Objectives feel right, subject to some specific feedback on objectives 
(primarily that the desire to reduce the number of placements may run contrary to 
the sustainability plans of some providers). 

 Providers were receptive and keen to work with BCPC/NHS DCCG to coproduce 

action and implementation plans to meet objectives going forward. 

 Providers were positive about having a transparent effective partnership with 

BCP Council, with regular (monthly) key topic discussions to be arranged in the 

first instance. 

 Acknowledged gap in current provision for people with emerging or new 

predominant need of frailty or age-related conditions (previously LD); recognising 

the major challenge for care homes for older people who may in future be 

supporting people from 50 years to 100+ years in the same setting.  

33

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 13 

6 Strategic Statements 

In the light of the above we are clear about the direction that we wish to take with regard 
with to the commissioning of care homes is summarised in the following Strategic 
Statements: 
 
 We recognise that Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole has a distinctive 

population profile with higher levels of older people than the national average and 
higher levels of homeowners/self-funders. 

 Moreover, there is a high number of older people in the conurbation and this 
proportion will grow by 20% by 2040. Although the older population is relatively 
healthy, there are significant numbers of people with long-term limiting condition. 

 Relatively few people out of the total population go into residential care in 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, but they cost a significant proportion of the 
overall budget of the two statutory agencies. 

 We recognise the growing ethnic diversity of the population in Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole and the need to ensure providers are aware of this and able 
to respond appropriately. 

 Nevertheless, given the severe financial constraints and the evidence that we have 
high numbers of publicly-funded placements we wish to reduce the numbers of 
people we fund in care homes and the numbers of admissions. 

 We need to be aware of the four main issues in the national health and social care 
economy 

 Covid 

 Public finances 

 Brexit 

 Dementia 

 Technology is likely to have a large and wide-ranging part to play in all forms of care 
from now on, including in residential and nursing care. It needs to be built into all 
aspects of thinking from this point on. 

 In 2020/21 there are features of the national market that may have a lasting effect in 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. 

 Occupancy levels were well-down in first quarter of 2021 (possibly below 
sustainable levels), but pent-up demand following the pandemic may lead to 
a rebound in due course. 

 Fee levels have increased (4-5% in 20/21) 

 Costs have increased also (3.7%in 20/21) 

 Profits have slowly declined over the last decade, but remain higher in 
residential care than nursing care. 

 Quality is not currently a major issue of concern in care homes in Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole. 

 The range of other commissioners in the market and the large number of self-
funders mean that BCP Council and the CCG control only a portion of the market 
and this does limit room for manoeuvre. 

 The Council and the CCG have a Framework Agreement for procuring care home 
placements within the area and a different one for placements secured outside of 
the borough. The framework agreement needs to be re-negotiated. 

34

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 14 

 There is a standard council baseline fee set for care home placements, but this is 
set low and very few placements are made at that level, although it does sometimes 
mean that top-ups cover the difference.  

 The ‘spread’ of fees paid is wide and needs to be narrowed and better structured 
There needs to be greater clarity in how fees are arrived at for individual 
placements. 

 The Council and CCG could look to reduce demand for residential and nursing care 
placements and to do so by developing and implement a range of measures, 
loosely based-upon the ‘Six steps’8 approach outlined by IPC elsewhere. 

 Information collection and analysis regarding placements needs to be improved. 

 These approaches could dovetail into wider actions pursed by the two authorities to 
both develop asset-based approaches more generally within the borough and 
specifically to address the hospital route into services as set out in Six Steps’. 

 
  

                                            
8 ‘Six Steps to managing demand in adults social care – A performance management approach’, IPC, 
2017. https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/six-steps-to-managing-demand-in-adult-social-care-a-
performance-management-approach-executive-summary 

35

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/six-steps-to-managing-demand-in-adult-social-care-a-performance-management-approach-executive-summary
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/six-steps-to-managing-demand-in-adult-social-care-a-performance-management-approach-executive-summary


Care Homes for Older People Commissioning Strategy  
2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 15 

7 Objectives 

In the light of the above conclusions BCP Council and NHS Dorset CCG have identified 
a number of Objectives they intend to pursue through this strategy, in partnership with 
care home providers: 
 

Objective #1 To reduce the demand for care home placements funded by 
BCP Council and NHS Dorset CCG through a range of 
initiatives across the health and social care economy. 

Objective #2 To reduce the number of care home admissions made 
through the Council and the NHS. 

Objective #3 To reduce the number of un-necessary care home 
admissions by self-funding residents. 

Objective #4 To review and revise the Framework Agreement. 

Objective #5 To regularise the process for setting fees to make them fairer 
and more equitable, with the introduction of ‘bandings’ that 
reflect the level of need, including those relating to ‘complex 
care’. 

Objective #6 To ensure there is a match between need/demand and the 
available care home provision. 

Objective #7 To support care homes in developing and maintaining the 
workforce. 

Objective #8 To develop a more evidence based and ‘intelligent’ approach 
to commissioning care home placements through better 
collection and usage of information about placements. 

Objective #9 To promote and improve the use of technology in care 
homes. 

Objective #10 To improve partnership working with care home providers. 

Objective #11 To better support care homes as they continue to provide 
safe, effective care and high quality care. 

Objective #12 To ensure that the placement process and all care homes 
take full account of all aspects of equality and diversity. 

 

8 Conclusion 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole has an extensive care home sector with high 
numbers of people accessing placements both via the local authority and directly as 
self-funders.  The size and robustness of the market means that commissioners need to 
have a clear strategy and to take that forward through detailed and time-tabled action. 
 

36

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


 

What is being reviewed?  Care Home Commissioning Strategy for Older People 

Service Lead and Service Unit:  
 Phil Hornsby – Adult Social Care Commissioning 

People involved in EIA process:  
 Mick Mellors, Phil Hornsby 

Date/s EIA started and reviewed:  09/06/2021 

  

  

Background  
  

The proposed change is the introduction of a new commissioning strategy for care homes for older people. It will bring in a number of changes 

intended to regularise the purchasing of these placements and ensure that the processes used are fair and equitable. Along with the Market 

Position Statement (MPS) also being introduced It will also inform providers as to the intentions of the local authority and CCG in terms of the 

commissioning of care home placements. 

 

The strategy is needed in order to give consistency and direction to the commissioning of these services and to ensure it is done in a fair and 

equitable way. Over time we expect the strategy to lead to fewer care home placements being made, with a more structured and consistent 

approach to fee-setting. 

 

This should benefit both the commissioners and providers as well as those people who may have or do go into residential care. 

 

We have done extensive research both in terms of the circumstances of the market here in BCP and in terms of practices and approaches 

elsewhere, as well as a careful analysis of the market, locally and nationally. 

Describe why the change is proposed and what the expected outcomes will be and who it is designed to benefit.   

 

Consultation has taken place largely within the local authority because of the pressures created in the sector by Covid-19 and the restrictions the 

pandemic has placed upon consultation processes. However, as the lockdown eases we do expect to consult more widely with stakeholders. 

  

37



Findings   
  

The strategy is focused upon care homes for older people and will therefore primarily impact upon older people.  However, some younger people 

with long-term conditions do sometimes require a very similar service and they may be impacted also. 

 

Insofar as some older people have previously been members of the armed forces it will impact upon them also. 

Form Version 1.2   Prepared by:     Date:   
  

Equality Impact Assessment: Report and EIA Action Plan  
  

The strategy includes a section devoted to equal opportunities that sets out how they need to be incorporated into the overall strategic approach, 

whilst acknowledging that it is at a more operational level that effective actions will be needed/taken. 

The commissioning strategy for care homes for older people is, as the title suggests focussed upon older people, but this does not mean that 

younger people (for example those with long-term conditions) will be excluded if a residential placement in a care home that normally caters for 

older people was able to meet their needs.   

 

The strategy does include a section that focuses upon equal opportunities and identifies and recognises that BCP does have a diverse population 

and that the council and CCG and older people’s care homes need to be able to effectively support people who are married or have long-term 

partners, a mental health issue, a learning disability  and cultural, religious or other social needs. 

 

At the same time this is a relatively high level strategy and it does not set out detailed actions to be carried out.  However, it does include a 

strategic objective ‘To ensure that the placement process and all care homes take full account of all aspects of equality and diversity.’ 

 

Conclusion  
  

Summary of Equality Implications  

 

The strategy includes a section devoted to equal opportunities that sets out how they need to be incorporated into the overall strategic approach, 

whilst acknowledging that it is at a more operational level that effective actions will be needed/taken. 

 

38



The specific section in the strategy on equal opportunities sets out that the focus of the strategy is upon older people, but we recognise that it will 

affect and needs to take account of a number of other different aspects of equal opportunities. We do recognise that some people with long-term 

conditions can effectively ‘age early’ and that in such cases we would not seek to exclude them from this form of provision. 

 

The overall intention to reduce the numbers of people going into residential care will have an impact upon carers as we hope that more people will 

be able to stay in their own homes longer.  It will continue to be important to recognise the burden that caring can become for some older people. 

At the same time, many people will be pleased to able to continue to have their loved ones living with them and also to avoid the need to make 

visits to a care home. 

 

Along with the Market Position Statement also being developed this strategy will inform the sector of the commissioning intentions of the local 

authority and CCG and this may be particularly helpful for those older people with mental health problems who need a residential placement, 

ensuring that the market is able to respond effectively to the changing patterns of demand. 

 

Women make up some 53% of the OP population but this does not seem to have any significant impact in this particular sector.   

 

The ethnic minority population element of BCP is less than 6% of the total and significantly less than that for the older population. Nevertheless, 

we recognise that for older people of any ethnicity language culture and religious belief can be very important contributors to their wellbeing. Our 

standard contract for care home placements does include reference to equal opportunities and discrimination and we will make sure this is 

reflected in our approach to quality assurance. 

 

Similarly we recognise that there are other aspects of a person’s life and identity that remain important to them as they get older and we do expect 

these to be picked up as part of each resident’s care and support plan, as required in the care homes contract. These aspects of a person’s life 

can include things such as their marital or relationship status.  Wherever possible (and where they choose it) we would look to place couples who 

both need residential care in the same care home. 

 

In order to arrive at this statement we looked at the composition of the population in BCP, especially that of older people. At the same time, we 

drew upon work done elsewhere to ensure that we included the various different characteristics that needed to be covered. As indicated earlier, 

our ability to consult on the strategy at this stage has been severely limited by the impact of Covid-19. 

 

At these stage we do not feel that there are any significant negative issues to be addressed, nor any adverse risks. 

  

 

  

39



Form Version 1.2   Prepared by:  Michael Mellors (IPC) Date:  14/06/2021 

  

 

40



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Extra Care Housing Strategy 

Meeting date  1 September 2021 

Status  Public   

Executive summary  This commissioning strategy sets out the future approach and 
intentions of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP 
Council) and NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
with regard to the commissioning of extra-care housing provision. It 
follows on from an in-depth review of extra-care provision and 
commissioning carried out in 2021 and builds upon the vision and 
aims set out in the Market Position Statement issued in 2021 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) Cabinet approve the Extra Care Housing Strategy; 

and 

(b) Cabinet authorise the Director of Commissioning 

working with the Urban Regeneration Company on 

the identification and development of suitable sites 

for extra care housing schemes. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

Ensuring a diverse, vibrant, sustainable and quality market for Adult 
Social Care is a key duty for all local authorities under market 
shaping requirements of the Care Act 2014. This commissioning 
strategy supports meeting that duty in respect of extra care 
housing. 

The development extra-care housing in Bournemouth, Christchurch 

and Poole is a necessary measure to deliver on the Council’s 

commitments to both promote greater independence and to reduce 

the numbers of people entering residential care. There are a variety 

of shapes that extra-care housing provision can take and BCP 

Council needs to ensure that it has a good range and span of 

schemes and options. 

  

41

Agenda Item 7



Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Karen Rampton, Portfolio Holder for Adults 

Corporate Director  Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 

Report Authors Phil Hornsby, Director of Commissioning for People. 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Recommendation  
Title:  

Background 

1. The Care Act (2014) introduced new duties for local authorities to facilitate and 
shape a diverse, sustainable and quality adult social care market, emphasising that 
local authorities have a responsibility for promoting the wellbeing of the whole local 
population, not just those whose care and support they currently fund.  

2. Responding to this duty can involve market oversight, which aims to understand the 
local care market; contingency planning, providing a robust response in the event of 
provider failure in order to minimise the impact on people using the service; and 
Market shaping which is activity to enable choice for people who might need 
services and to ensure that the care market as a whole remains vibrant and stable. 

3. As part of the market shaping element, the Council and NHS Dorset Clinical 
Commissioning Group need to ensure the range of services available can meet the 
diverse needs of our communities, from low level preventative services within 
communities through to 24 hour care and support in a care home setting. This 
strategy focuses on extra-care housing for vulnerable adults and older people. 

4. With support from the Local Government Association, the Institute of Public Care 
(IPC) was engaged to support the development of the Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole Extra Care Housing Commissioning Strategy for Vulnerable Adults and 
Older People.  

 

Context 

5. Nationally, BCP Council placed a higher proportion of older people into a care home 
setting during 2019 - 2020 when compared to many other authorities, although the 
number decreased significantly in the last year during the Covid pandemic and the 
continued reduction in new admissions to care homes is one of the strategic 
objectives within BCP Adult Care Strategy. 

6. Extra-care housing can provide a viable alternative to some levels of care home 
provision. It is housing with care, primarily for older people, where occupants have 
specific tenure rights to occupy self-contained dwellings and where they have 
agreements that cover the provision of care, support, domestic, social, community or 
other services. 

7. However, extra-care housing can be for people of all types and ages of people and 
needs. It tends towards accommodating older people, but this is not as pronounced 

42



as with care homes. There is significant scope for developing extra-care housing 
that can accommodate people with a range of needs and for bringing together 
people from different categories and age groups. 

Local Provision 

8. Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole currently has a limited number of extra-care 
housing schemes and also some enhanced support housing schemes that are able 
to meet a lower level of needs.  Overall, there are 12 schemes identified as being 
extra care housing including two also labelled as ‘Retirement’.  They have varying 
age thresholds, which for the majority is identified between 50+ and 70+ and they 
vary in size from 6 units to up to 144 units. 

9. In addition to this, there is a large swathe of retirement housing. Mostly it is 
described as ‘Retirement Housing’ or ‘Age Exclusive Housing’.  There are 
approximately 6,100 units across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. 

Future Demand 

10. Using available figures on the local population projections it is suggested that, to 
provide sufficient extra care housing accommodation, Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole should have 1,075 units of extra care housing accommodation now, rising 
to 1,312 units in 2030 and 1,577 units by 2040. This would require significant 
development of this specialist housing provision. 

Options Appraisal 

11. The commissioning strategy (Appendix 1) sets out the future approach and 
intentions of BCP Council and NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for 
the commissioning of extra care housing provision. It follows on from an in-depth 
review of current provision and commissioning carried out in 2021 and builds upon 
the vision and aims set out in the Market Position Statement for Adults that was 
written in 2021. 

12. The strategy sets out 15 key objectives that the Council and NHS Dorset CCG agree 
they would wish to pursue together and in collaboration with Housing colleagues, 
developers, care providers and other stakeholders. These are: 

(i) To develop and open over the next 5 years schemes to bring us up to the 
target number of units of 1,312 by 2030 and 1,577 by 2040. 
 

(ii) To ensure that the development of extra-care housing is fully incorporated 
into the Housing strategy. 

 

(iii) To have in place a clear policy and procedure in place regarding the 
allocation of tenancies/available places in extra- care housing schemes 
and to monitor demand and allocation of places. 

 

(iv) To have a clear assessment of the suitability and viability of currently 
identified provision and to develop plans for each scheme accordingly. 

 

(v) To compile and maintain an up-to-date register of existing local schemes 
that can be categorised as extra-care. 

 

43



(vi) To identify potential sites for extra-care housing schemes within 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. 

 

(vii) To identify and retain contact with potentially interested developers of 
extra-care housing schemes. 

 

(viii) To develop and maintain a policy/checklist for balancing risk and 
opportunity in developing extra-care housing schemes. 

 

(ix) ensure all developed schemes meet the minimum size of 45 places. 
 

(x) To monitor the availability of subsidised sources of funding. 
 

(xi) That all extra-care provision will make use of the latest and most effective 
technology to support the well-being of residents and the efficiency of 
service provision. 

 

(xii) To ensure there is a range of extra-care provision that meets the needs of 
our population including older people and also those younger people who 
would benefit from that form of provision. 

 

(xiii) To ensure that the provision of extra-care housing takes full account of 
those people who fall under the various identified characteristics set out in 
equalities legislation. 

 

(xiv) To increase visibility and understanding of services offered in extra-care 
housing and supported living schemes amongst professionals and the 
wider community 

 

(xv) To ensure that any work to develop the social care workforce in the 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area takes full and proper account 
of the skills and competencies required in the operation of extra-care 
housing schemes. 
 

Consultation 

13. Consultation on the strategy has been limited by the Covid-19 pandemic but there 
was a Market Engagement on-line workshop held with providers in June 2021 that 
provided valuable insight into what the strategy could helpfully address. 

14. General feedback was that: 

 The strategy is being written at the right time, and in conjunction with Care Home 
Commissioning Strategy it means that providers need to align their business plans 
accordingly. 

 Providers are receptive and keen to work with commissioners to co-produce action 
and implementation plans to meet objectives going forward 

 Providers are keen to develop partnerships with extra-care housing and supported 
living services peers and BCP Council 

 There is a general lack of visibility and understanding of services offered in extra-
care housing and supported living schemes amongst professionals and the wider 

44



community and there could be an objective reflecting the need to address this (one 
has now been included). 

 Workforce issues (recruitment etc) impact upon extra care housing and supported 
living schemes as much as other parts of the sector e.g. care homes and community 
care and there could be an objective reflecting the need to address this (again, one 
has now been included). 

 Care and housing provided together can meet the needs of a range of people 
and groups, including older people but also some younger people with disabilities 
and people with mental health problems who can benefit from living in extra-care 
schemes and enhance the communal aspect of living in such schemes. 

15. Should the strategy be approved, more detailed co-production that includes people 
who use services, their carers and families as well as wider stakeholders would be 
undertaken on the development of specific approaches and potential schemes. 

Summary of financial implications 

16. A number of the objectives set out above are intended to have a positive financial 
impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. At this time it is not possible to 
quantify those, but as the objectives are implemented they will be subject to the 
relevant level of financial scrutiny. 

Summary of legal implications 

17. The Care Act 2014 imposes a duty that the Council must promote the efficient and 
effective operation of a market in services for meeting care and support needs with a 
view to ensuring that any person in its area wishing to access services in the market 
has: 

a) a variety of providers to choose from 

(b) a variety of high quality services to choose from 

(c) sufficient information to make an informed decision about how to meet the needs  

Summary of sustainability impact 

18. Delivering against the objectives set out in this strategy will have a positive impact 
across a number of the Council’s sustainability themes, including health and 
wellbeing, learning and skills, economy and sustainable procurement.  

Summary of public health implications 

19. The provision of suitable accommodation through extra-care housing can help 
address health issues, especially if used imaginatively.  

20. Extra care housing an important element in the provision of a range of services to 
meet the needs of the most vulnerable people in our communities. The provision of 
good quality care by trained and caring staff supports the health and wellbeing of 
those people. 

Summary of equality implications 

21. This strategy can have a positive equality impact and will improve accessibility, 
availability and affordability of accommodation for some of the most vulnerable 
people within communities and allow them to retain a higher level of independence. 
An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out and is appended to this 

45



report and changes suggested by the EIA Panel have been incorporated into the 
strategy. 

22. As a means of keeping people in the community, making available extra-care 
housing will have a positive impact upon carers as more people will be able to stay 
in their own homes longer. 

23. The minority ethnic population within the BCP Council area is less than 6% of the 
total population and significantly less within the older population. Nevertheless, it is  
recognised that for people of any ethnicity, language culture and religious belief can 
be very important contributors to their wellbeing. Commissioned services to support 
people in extra-care housing will be aware of this and able to respond accordingly. 

24. People with physical disabilities, learning disabilities and mental health problems 
have all been identified in the past as those who can benefit from living in extra-care 
housing accommodation and some schemes within Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole do specifically accommodate those needs. New schemes will be inclusive and 
meet a range of needs. 

Summary of risk assessment 

25. There are a small number of risks that are set out below and the mitigations will be 
developed as part the detailed implementation plan to deliver the key objectives of 
the strategy: 

(a) Housing and care providers may not wish to fully engage with the delivery of the 
objectives of the strategy. Commissioners will work collaboratively with the 
market to mitigate this and the market engagement event held showed broad 
support for the objectives. 

(b) the reduction in financial pressures is not achieved. 

(c) Workforce recruitment and retention is not sufficient to meet the demands for 
care and support in the future. 

 

Background papers 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Market Position Statement for Adults  

 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council Extra-Care Housing 

Commissioning Strategy 2022-2030  

Appendix 2 – Equalities Impact Assessment 

Appendix 3 – Recommendations from the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

46



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole Council 
 
Extra-Care Housing 
Commissioning Strategy - 
2022-2030 
 
 
June 2021 

 
 
 

  
 
 
 

47



Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 1 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
Council 
 

Extra-Care Housing Commissioning 
Strategy - 2022-2030 
 
 

Table of Contents 

1 Introduction ................................................................................................................... 2 

2 Background .................................................................................................................... 2 

3 Context .......................................................................................................................... 2 

3.1 Extra Care Housing – Definition ......................................................................................... 2 

3.2 National Context ............................................................................................................... 3 

3.3 Equal Opportunities .......................................................................................................... 3 

4 National Context – Extra care housing ............................................................................ 4 

5 Extra Care Housing; market overview ............................................................................. 5 

6 Optimum Size for Extra Care Housing Schemes ............................................................... 6 

7 Funding Extra Care Housing ............................................................................................ 7 

8 Current provision in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole ............................................. 8 

8.1 BCP Housing Strategy ........................................................................................................ 9 

9 Future Demand .............................................................................................................. 9 

10 Consultation ............................................................................................................. 10 

11 Strategic Statements ................................................................................................ 11 

12 Objectives ................................................................................................................. 12 

13 Conclusion ................................................................................................................ 13 
 
 
  

48

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 2 

1 Introduction  

This commissioning strategy sets out the future approach and intentions of 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP Council) and NHS Dorset Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) with regard to the commissioning of extra-care housing 
provision. It follows on from an in-depth review of extra-care provision and 
commissioning carried out in 2021 and builds upon the vision and aims set out in the 
Market Position Statement issued in 2021.  
 
The Council’s Big Plan is to make the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole city region 
world class – one of the best coastal places in the world in which to live, work, invest 
and play; developing our vibrant communities, with an outstanding quality of life, where 
everyone plays an active role. This means clean, safe and affordable housing, the 
wellbeing of all age groups, from our youngest to our oldest, with good health and care 
and good local services, and good jobs for working-age residents, to provide financially 
sustainable livelihoods for their families. 
 
As a council, our values, priorities and objectives are orientated around a sustainable 
environment, dynamic places, connected communities, brighter futures and fulfilled 
lives. Drawing from this, our Adult Social Care Strategy sets out our intention to:  
 

 Support people to live safe and independent lives 

 Engage with individuals and communities to promote well-being 

 Value and support carers 

 Enable people to live well through quality social care 

 Deliver services that are modern and accessible 

 

2 Background 

The review draws upon the findings of a review of residential care and extra-care 
provision in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole that was carried out during the course of 
2021. Whilst the scope of the enquiries made were restricted due to the impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic there has been wider consultation with regard to the contents of this 
strategy. 
 

3 Context 

3.1 Extra Care Housing – Definition 

In 2015, the Housing Learning and Improvement Network (LIN) offered the following:1  
 

“Extra-care housing is housing with care primarily for older people where 
occupants have specific tenure rights to occupy self-contained dwellings and 
where they have agreements that cover the provision of care, support, domestic, 
social, community or other services.” 

                                            
1 ‘ExtraCare Housing- What is it’ – Housing LIN, 2015, 
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Housing_advice/Extra_Care_Housing_What_i
s_it.pdf 

49

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Housing_advice/Extra_Care_Housing_What_is_it.pdf
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Housing_advice/Extra_Care_Housing_What_is_it.pdf


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 3 

 
Housing LIN also make the point that they characteristic of this provision is that it is 
centred around accommodation, although other elements of support can and will be 
added. 
 
Extra-care housing can be for people of all types and ages of people and needs. It 
tends towards accommodating older people, but this is not as pronounced as with care 
homes. There is significant scope for developing extra-care housing that can 
accommodate people with a range of needs and for bringing together people from 
different categories and age groups 

3.2 National Context 

The focus of this review is very much on Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole  

and the local approaches being followed, but there are some national factors at play, 
including Covid-19 and the wider workforce issues affecting social care.  
 
Public finances, which at a local authority level have gone through a long period of 
austerity have been further affected by Covid-19.  Both in the short-term and the long-
term public finances represent a major challenge for all local authorities with adult social 
care responsibilities and the NHS. 
 
These factors are reflected locally in BCP Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP). 
 
Finally. Dementia is a major issue for the older people population, with over 850,000 
people with dementia in the UK (One in six people aged 80 and over), rising to 1 million 
people by 2025. 
 
Overall, each of these national elements adds considerably to the challenges faced by 
the social care sector in the BCP Council area. 

3.3 Equal Opportunities 

We recognise that this strategy can have a positive equality impact and will improve 
accessibility, availability and affordability of accommodation for some of the most 
vulnerable people within our communities and allow them to retain a higher level of 
independence. We have undertaken an Equalities Impact Assessment. 
 
As a means of keeping people in the community, making available extra-care housing 
will have a positive impact upon carers as we hope that more people will be able to stay 
in their own homes longer.   
 
The minority ethnic population within the BCP Council area is less than 6% of the total 
population and significantly less within the older population. Nevertheless, we recognise 
that for people of any ethnicity,  language culture and religious belief can be very 
important contributors to their wellbeing. We expect services commissioned to support 
people in extra-care housing to be aware of this and able to respond accordingly. 
 

50

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 4 

We are aware of schemes elsewhere and of guidance relating specifically to extra care 
housing for people from black and minority ethnic groups2 and will draw upon these as 
new schemes are developed. We will need to ensure that proper consideration is given 
to the needs of people from ethnic minority communities as schemes are developed.   
 
People with physical disabilities, learning disabilities and mental health problems have 
all been identified in the past as those who can benefit from living in extra-care housing 
accommodation and we know there are schemes around the country where this has 
been done successfully.3 
 
Similarly, we recognise that there are other aspects of a person’s life and identity that 
remain important to them, especially as they got older or develop a long-term condition. 
These aspects of a person’s life can include things such as their marital or relationship 
status.  
 
AS BCP council looks to develop further extra-care schemes there may be opportunities 
to go into partnership with specialist housing providers who look to meet the needs of 
minority groups.   
 

4 National Context – Extra care housing 

The Government has recognised the requirement to ensure supply of appropriate 
housing for older people and those who require care and support in their local 
communities, and has set a series of recommendations for local authorities to consider 
in their spatial planning functions.   
 
These are detailed in the Planning Practice Guidance4 issued by The Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government and they prompt local authorities to 
make provision for specialist housing in their planning strategy and planning decisions.  
 
In 2018 the Kings Fund reported that:5 
 
 There is a significant undersupply of housing designed specifically for older people - 

less than 1 per cent of retirees live in housing with care, which is one tenth of that in 
the United States and Australia. 

 Nationally, there is a potential requirement for an additional 725,000 housing with 
care units by 2025, which would equate to nearly half of all new homes being built.  

 
ARCO (‘The Associated Retirement Community Operators’) identify the benefits of 
housing with care as: 
 
 Fixing the social care funding crisis. 

                                            
2 ‘Meeting the sheltered and extra care housing needs of black and minority ethnic older people’, Jones, 
A, & Bignall, T Race Equality Foundation, 2011, https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/02/housing-brief19.pdf 
3‘Extra Care Housing with no lower age limit’ https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Discuss/General-Housing-
Topics/Extra-Care-Housing-with-no-lower-age-limit/796/ 
 
4 Planning Practice Guidance 2019 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people  
5 ‘Key Challenges Facing Adult Social Care Sector in England’, Kings Fund 2018, 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/key-challenges-facing-adult-social-care-sector-england 

51

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk
https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/housing-brief19.pdf
https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/housing-brief19.pdf
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Discuss/General-Housing-Topics/Extra-Care-Housing-with-no-lower-age-limit/796/
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Discuss/General-Housing-Topics/Extra-Care-Housing-with-no-lower-age-limit/796/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/key-challenges-facing-adult-social-care-sector-england


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 5 

 Boosting health and the NHS: By improving the physical and mental health of 
residents. 

 Freeing up family homes: nationally, 562,000 bedrooms could be released to the 
market for all generations. 

 Efficient use of land (Apartments for older people are built using up to six times less 
space than family homes). 

 Tackling loneliness (Residents are five times as likely as non-residents to 
participate in social events, and four times as likely to get together with friends). 

 
One area identified in the Dorset Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)6 that could 
be positively impacted by an increase in extra-care housing is the morbidity due to hip 
fractures (often caused by falls).  
 
The properly designed accommodation and availability of support provided by extra-
care housing could lead to a reduction in these figures. 
 
The provision of suitable accommodation through extra-care housing can help address 
health issues, especially if used imaginatively.  
 
A report on the Planning System7 identified the low (or slow) rate of approval for 
planning applications for older people’s housing schemes and also the barriers that 
need to be overcome. 
 

5 Extra Care Housing; market overview 

“The latest data from the Elderly Accommodation Council (EAC), shows that 
there are over 166,938 private retirement units in the UK, provided by 4,666 
schemes. Since 2008, the housing with care market has continued to grow and 
housing with care now represents around 60% of all new retirement housing built 
since 2008.  

 
A minimum of 3,000 units have been added every year since 2008, with a 
highpoint of almost 6,000 new units in 2015 and a low of 3,000 in 2013. Between 
2008 and 2017 the total number of housing with care units grew from under 
40,000 to almost 80,000. The EAC estimates that 2018 will see another 6,000 
new units” - ‘Building’ 
 

What stands out here is the concentration of provision in the top three providers. 
 
Knight Frank8 identify that some 25% of over-55’s would consider downsizing or moving 
into some sort of retirement, or purpose-built, accommodation.  
 

                                            
6 Dorset JSNA, https://www.publichealthdorset.org.uk/jsna/data-repository.aspx 
 
7 Planning, Clarity and Certainty:  The View from the Sector’ ARCO, 2021, 
https://www.arcouk.org/sites/default/files/ARCO_Carterwood%20-
%20Planning%2C%20Clarity%20and%20Certainty.pdf 
8 ‘The case for Retirement Housing’ Retirement Housing Insight Series 2018, Knight Frank, 
https://content.knightfrank.com/resources/knightfrank.co.uk/case-for-retirement-housing.pdf 

52

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk
https://www.publichealthdorset.org.uk/jsna/data-repository.aspx
https://www.arcouk.org/sites/default/files/ARCO_Carterwood%20-%20Planning%2C%20Clarity%20and%20Certainty.pdf
https://www.arcouk.org/sites/default/files/ARCO_Carterwood%20-%20Planning%2C%20Clarity%20and%20Certainty.pdf
https://content.knightfrank.com/resources/knightfrank.co.uk/case-for-retirement-housing.pdf


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 6 

Skills for Care9 identify that there are approximately 500 extra-care services in England. 
 
In 2015, the Housing LIN estimated that there were some 47,000 extra-care housing 
places in England. Both the older population and therefore demand is likely to rise 
greatly, everywhere. 
 
A Housing LIN tool indicates that there will be an estimated shortfall of 61,000 units of 
extra-care housing in England by 2030, without significant further growth. 
 
There will be a significant increase in the number of people with dementia by 2025 and 
growth also in the older population of people with physical or learning disabilities. 
 
The further development of prevention-based and other innovative approaches in adult 
social care could reduce demand for extra-care housing.  
 
The Housing LIN comment that:10 
 
 …with extra-care housing being seen as a direct lower cost alternative to both 

residential care and use of intensive packages of domiciliary care for older people 
living in mainstream housing; 

 to widen housing choices for older people and people with long term conditions e.g. 
dementia; 

 to promote development of long term housing capacity for older people aimed at the 
self- funder market i.e. to facilitate market retirement housing expansion to enable 
older people to ‘right size’ and better manage their own housing and care/support 
requirements as they age.11 

 
In terms of estimating future demand The LIN has set out a consistent methodology for 
calculating extra-care future demand12, based upon the demand for extra-care being 
required at 25 units per 1,000 population aged 75 plus. 
 

6 Optimum Size for Extra Care Housing Schemes 

As we develop our strategy we need to give consideration to scheme size as a key 
variable in extra-care housing schemes.   
 
Extra-care housing schemes come in a variety of shapes and sizes and can range from 
small 6 person units up to large ‘retirement village’ schemes accommodating 600 
people or more. 
 
On the whole, smaller schemes are relatively more expensive as they still require a 
range of features such as communal areas, that impact upon the cost.  
 
When considering ‘optimal unit size’ in terms of care service provision it is helpful to 
break it down into components elements – risk, quality, and ‘viability’ or ‘efficiency’ (in 
terms of cost/resident). Some schemes do also operate by providing a service to people 

                                            
9 Skills for Care 2017, ibid 
10 Housing LIN 2019, Ibid, page 13 
11 Housing LIN, 2019 ibid, page 13 
12 Housing LIN 2015, ibid 

53

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 7 

in the surrounding community and this sort of approach can be used to create a critical 
mass of care staff. 
 
Optimal unit size can be affected by a number of factors which are inter-related: 
 
 The physical location, design and layout of the unit. 

 The dependency levels and care needs of the residents (often seen as the most 
important factor) 

 The model of care adopted; and  

 The staffing model adopted 

 
The Housing LIN also look at what ‘Optimal cover’ might include, and identify: 
 
 An allowance of “floating time” which is not tied into individual care packages  

 Minimum day time presence. 

 Waking night staff 

 Management presence 

 
Two further points are worth noting: 
 
 Given the variables involved the ‘optimum size’ is likely to be a range rather than a 

point, and this does provide some helpful flexibility. 

 With the possibility of ‘doubling up’ in terms of size (which might bring some small 
further efficiencies around overheads) there do emerge ‘no go’ sizes that fall 
between the optimum size range for one unit and that for two, and so on. These 
sizes will be either risky, poor quality or unviable economically. 

 
An un-published IPC report in 2014 identified that for extra-care housing to be cost-
effective and achieve good outcomes for residents it needed to be a minimum of 45 
units of accommodation. It also confirmed that the provision of care on site in a small 
scheme is likely to be more expensive than in larger schemes where efficiencies of 
scale can be brought into play.  
 
It is not just the costs of the care component that might determine what size unit is built. 
There is a growing consensus, for example, that 40 units of accommodation is the 
absolute minimum size that would be economically viable in terms of capital and 
housing costs.  
 
The Housing LIN arrive at a figure of 400 hours contact time as a reasonable basis for a 
contract for that unit.  
 
Overall then, there seems to be a consensus that 40 units is the absolute minimum 
sized unit possible, because of capital and other costs. 
 

7 Funding Extra Care Housing 

The funding of extra-care housing is a critical consideration for this commissioning 
strategy. There are a number of issues and requirements around extra-care housing. 

54

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 8 

 
There are three main components to the funding of extra-care housing: 
 
 Housing Capital costs 

 Housing Revenue/operating costs 

 Care and support costs 

 
All three need to be fully considered when seeking to develop new schemes.   
 
Capital finance was and remains in short supply and comes from two main sources - 
subsidy funding and non-subsidy funding. Subsidy funding includes that available from 
national schemes, local authority subsidies, free publicly-owned land and section 106 
planning agreements. 
 
The availability of money from national schemes is currently very limited.  
 
Other subsidy sources are from the local authority through the free (or reduced cost) 
provision of land, direct subsidies or the use of planning legislation to require 
developers to make provision for extra-care housing as part of wider schemes.  We do 
not anticipate there being any direct subsidy available for the foreseeable future given 
the current financial situation. 
 
Non-subsidised funding comes primarily from housing providers of one type or another. 
Local authorities can use their own housing revenue account to provide investment in 
new schemes.  Alternatively private sector developers can be encouraged to invest in 
schemes, accessing their own finance.   
 
The overall cost of capital development and operating costs do have to be covered over 
a period of time either through subsidy or on a revenue basis. Proper income modelling 
is critical in this regard and needs to cover any void costs and any costs factored in for 
facilities for the housing provider and care provider (e.g. office space etc for care staff 
etc). 
 

8 Current provision in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole  

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole currently has a limited number of extra-care housing 
schemes and also some enhanced support housing schemes that are able to meet a 
lower level of needs.   
 
Overall there are 12 schemes identified as being extra care housing (including two also 
labelled as ‘Retirement’).  398 units are identified as being extra care places and 162 
units are identified as being Enhanced care placements. 
 
They have varying age thresholds, which for the majority is identified between 50+ and 
70+ and they vary in size from 6 units to up to 144 units.   
 
Overall council systems report that at the end of 2019/20 the council was supporting 
243 people in extra-care housing, but by February 2021 this had fallen to 218.  
 

55

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 9 

In addition to this, there is a large swathe of retirement housing that is to be found in all 
three former local authority areas. Mostly it is described as ‘Retirement Housing’ or ‘Age 
Exclusive Housing’.  There are approximately 1,500 units in Christchurch, 2,300 units in 
Poole and 2,300 units in Bournemouth. There are around 35 providers overall, varying 
in size (some are very large social landlords or private developers, others very small 
local organisations). 

8.1 BCP Housing Strategy 

In March 2021 the Council published “BCP homes - our commitment to our 
communities, 2021-26.13 The document is the focus of consultation for the Council’s 
planned new housing strategy. 
 
The key features of the new strategy will be: 
 
 The new strategy will replace the legacy strategies from the predecessor councils. 

 It will reflect the overarching corporate strategy (see above). 

 The strategy will be for 5 years and reflect national legislation and priorities and the 
local context. 

 
The issues document references a number of associated strategies and policies, but 
that list does not include the proposed Extra-care housing strategy. 
 
Affordability is a key issue, with both house prices and rents high in Bournemouth, 
Poole (more so) and Christchurch (even more so). Clearly this also affects the likely 
cost of all housing schemes, including extra care housing. The document does 
acknowledge the issues associated with the older population and references the 
Housing LIN demand model referred to above (BCP Homes – ‘Our commitment, our 
communities’ - page 14). 
 
In addition to the possible current un-met need identified above, there is also the 
Council’s stated desire to reduce the dependency upon care home provision, adding 
further to the identified pressure for extra care housing provision. 

9 Future Demand 

Using available figures on the local population projections and the Housing LIN formula 
shows that to meet that standard Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole should have 
1,075 units of ECH accommodation now, rising to 1,312 in 2030 and 1,577 by 2040.  
 
Guidance issued by the Race Equality Foundation14 identifies that: 
 

                                            
13 ibid 

14 ‘Meeting the supported housing needs of black and minority ethnic communities’, Jones, A, Bignell, T, 
Race Equality Foundation, 2011, https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/02/housing-brief19.pdf 

 

56

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk
https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/housing-brief19.pdf
https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/housing-brief19.pdf


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 10 

 People from minority groups may be more likely to require supported housing 
services, but also more likely to experience difficulties in service access and use 

 While good practice can be identified in meeting the supported housing needs of 
culturally and ethnically diverse communities, meeting the needs of these groups 
within general provision remains an issue that must be addressed’ 

 
We will need to hold these points in mind as we seek to increase our stock of extra-care 
housing. 
 

10 Consultation 

 
Consultation on the strategy has been limited by the Covid-19 pandemic but there was 
a Market Engagement on-line workshop held with providers in June 2021 that provided 
valuable insight into what the strategy could helpfully address. 
Key questions addressed were:  
 

 Do providers feel the direction of travel as set out in the draft strategy is the 

right one?  

 Do providers agree with objectives as they are, or would further expansion to 

existing objectives or new objectives be beneficial?  

General themes to emerge from the workshop were: 

 The strategy is being written at the right time, and in conjunction with Care 
Home Commissioning Strategy it means that providers need to align their 
business plans accordingly. 

 Providers are receptive and keen to work with commissioners to co-produce 

action and implementation plans to meet objectives going forward 

 Providers are keen to develop partnerships with extra-care housing and 

supported living services peers and BCP Council 

 There is a general lack of visibility and understanding of services offered in 

extra-care housing and supported living schemes amongst professionals and 

the wider community and there could be an objective reflecting the need to 

address this (one has now been included) 

 Workforce issues (recruitment etc) impact upon extra care housing and 

supported living schemes as much as other parts of the sector e.g. care 

homes and community care and there could be an objective reflecting the 

need to address this (again, one has now been included). 

Feedback on specific objectives emphasised: 
 

 The review of existing schemes could address tensions between the percentage 
of space allocated to communal areas and the number of individual properties 
being created, which can make the financial viability difficult to achieve. 

 Also, that review could be expanded to include clear pathway for people who will 
need ongoing care. 

 Process to plan for future needs as well as current suitability. 
 A key feature of extra-care housing is the onsite care and support provider, not 

catering and social options.   

57

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 11 

 Appropriate transport links should be considered when identifying potential sites 

to support independence and community connection. 

11 Strategic Statements 

In the light of the above we are clear about the direction that we wish to take with regard 
with extra-care housing and that direction is summarised in the following Strategic 
Statements: 
 
 We define extra-care housing as specific tenure rights to occupy self-contained 

dwellings and where they have agreements that cover the provision of care, 
support, domestic, social, community or other services. 

 
 We wish to expand our extra-care housing provision significantly as we believe this 

reflects prevailing and future levels of need.   

 
 Care and housing provided together can meet the needs of a range of people and 

groups, including older people but also some younger people with disabilities and 
people with mental health problems who can benefit from living in extra-care 
schemes and enhance the communal aspect of living in such schemes. 

 
The ethnic diversity of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole is increasing and we need to 
ensure this is properly reflected in the schemes we develop. 
 
 We believe that the quality of an extra-care housing scheme depends upon the 

quality of the accommodation, the quality of the other facilities available within the 
scheme and the quality of the care and support provided, including that available 
from the NHS. 

 
 We will work to clear standards and good practice guidance in all our developments. 

 
 We will work with our internal housing partners and look for new partner 

organisations to develop new extra-care hosuing provision and schemes. 

 
We believe that extra-care housing schemes in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole will 
take a variety of forms and may be part of wider schemes that have a range of facilities 
on-site. 
 
 We also recognise that younger people with disabilities and people with mental 

health problems can benefit from living in extra-care schemes and enhance the 
communal aspect of living in such schemes. We will expect our extra-care housing 
schemes to accommodate people of all ages. 

 
 Whilst we will expect schemes to be able to accommodate people with significant 

care needs, we recognise that for a scheme to have a positive living environment is 
likely to require to accommodate people with various levels of need. 

 
 We will ensure that we have fair and equitable procedures for the allocation of 

tenancies in extra-care schemes. 

58

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 12 

 
 We recognise that some people who may need extra-care housing may wish to 

continue to own their own home and we will seek to ensure that there opportunities 
for people to own properties within extra care housing. 

 
 Technology is likely to have a large and widespread part to play in all forms of care 

from now on, including extra-care housing. It needs to be built into all aspects of 
thinking from this point on. 

 
 Extra-care housing does not have a high profile in Bournemouth, Christchurch and 

Poole and further work to promote it as an option is needed. 

 
In the light of the above BCP Council have identified a number of objectives we intend 
to pursue through this strategy, in partnership with other stakeholders. 
 

12 Objectives 

 

Objective #1 To develop and open over the next 5 years schemes to bring 
us up to the target number of units of 1312 by 2030 and 1577 
by 2040 

Objective #2 To ensure that the development of extra-care housing is fully 
incorporated into the Housing strategy. 

Objective #3 To have in place a clear policy and procedure in place 
regarding the allocation of tenancies/available places in extra- 
care housing schemes and to monitor demand and allocation 
of places. 

Objective #4 To have a clear assessment of the suitability and viability of 
currently identified provision and to develop plans for each 
scheme accordingly. 

Objective #5 To compile (via a survey) and maintain an up-to-date register 
of existing local schemes that can be categorised as extra-
care. 

Objective #6 To identify potential sites for extra-care housing schemes 
within Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole . 

Objective #7 To identify and retain contact with potentially interested 
developers of extra-care housing schemes. 

Objective #8 To develop and maintain a policy/checklist for balancing risk 
and opportunity in developing extra-care housing schemes. 

Objective #9 To ensure all developed schemes meet the minimum size of 
45 places. 

Objective #10 To all monitor the availability of subsidised sources of 
funding. 

59

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Extra-Care Housing Commissioning Strategy - 2022-2030 June 2021 
 

 
ipc@brookes.ac.uk 13 

Objective #11 All extra-care provision will make use of the latest and most 
effective technology to support the well-being of residents 
and the efficiency of service provision. 

Objective #12 To ensure there is a range of extra-care provision that meets 
the needs of our population including older people and also 
those younger people who would benefit from that form of 
provision. 

Objective #13 To ensure that the provision of extra-care housing takes full 
account of those people who fall under the various identified 
characteristics set out in equalities legislation. 

Objective #14 To increase visibility and understanding of services offered in 
extra-care housing and supported living schemes amongst 
professionals and the wider community 

Objective #15 To ensure that any work to develop the social care workforce 
in the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area takes full 
and proper account of the skills and competencies required in 
the operation of extra-care housing schemes. 

 

13 Conclusion 

The development extra-care housing in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole is a 
necessary measure to deliver on the Council’s commitments to both promote greater 
independence and to reduce the numbers of people entering residential care. There are 
a variety of shapes that extra-care housing provision can take and BCP Council needs 
to ensure that it has a good range and span of schemes and options. 
 

60

mailto:ipc@brookes.ac.uk


Form Version 1.2   Prepared by:  Michael Mellors (IPC)  Date:  14/06/2021 

 

 

Equality Impact Assessment: Report and EIA Action Plan  
 

What is being reviewed?  Extra Care Housing Commissioning Strategy  

Service Lead and Service Unit:  
 Phil Hornsby – Adult Social Care Commissioning 

People involved in EIA process:  
 Mick Mellors, Phil Hornsby 

Date/s EIA started and reviewed:  09/06/2021 

  

  

Background  
  

The proposed change is the introduction of a new commissioning strategy for extra-care housing. It sets out in broad strategic terms the demand 

for extra-care housing and the opportunities to develop new schemes in BCP.  Whilst it does not make detailed proposals, it does contain a 

section focusing upon equality and diversity issues and it concludes by identifying 13 strategic objectives, including one to ensure that the 

provision of extra-care housing takes full account of those people who fall under the various identified characteristics set out in equalities 

legislation.  

 

The strategy is needed in order to give impetus  and direction to the commissioning of these services and to ensure it is done in a fair and 

equitable way. Over time we expect the strategy to lead to an increase in extra-care accommodation in BCP.  

 

We researched the local market and developments elsewhere as well as a careful analysis of the market, locally and nationally. We found some 

guidance on developing extra-care housing for people from BME and other minority communities, but this was somewhat out of date. 

 

Consultation has taken place largely within the local authority because of the pressures created in the sector by Covid-19 and the restrictions the 

pandemic has placed upon consultation processes. However, as the lockdown eases we do expect to consult more widely with stakeholders. 

  

61



Form Version 1.2   Prepared by:  Michael Mellors (IPC)  Date:  14/06/2021 

 

Findings   
  

The strategy is focused upon extra-care housing that can be suitable for older people and those with a wide range disabilities, all of whom fall 

under the identified characteristics  

 

Insofar as some people have previously been members of the armed forces it will impact upon them also. 

 

 The strategy includes a section devoted to equal opportunities that sets out how they need to be incorporated into the overall strategic approach, 

whilst acknowledging that it is at a more operational level that effective actions will be needed/taken. 

 

The commissioning strategy for care homes for older people is, as the title suggests focussed upon older people, but this does not mean that 

younger people (for example those with long-term conditions) will be excluded if a residential placement in a care home that normally caters for 

older people was able to meet their needs.   

 

The strategy does include a section that focuses upon equal opportunities and identifies and recognises that BCP does have a diverse population 

and that the council and extra-care providers need to accommodate older people from minority communities and also those with a mental health 

issue, a learning disability  and cultural, religious or other social needs. There is evidence that a mix of people with the various identified 

characteristics can work well in extra-care housing.  

 

At the same time this is a relatively high level strategy and it does not set out detailed actions to be carried out.  However, it does include a 

strategic objective ‘To ensure that the placement process and all care homes take full account of all aspects of equality and diversity.’ 

 

Conclusion  
  

Summary of Equality Implications  

 

The strategy includes a section devoted to equal opportunities that sets out how they need to be incorporated into the overall strategic approach, 

whilst acknowledging that it is at a more operational level that effective actions will be needed/taken. 

 

The specific section in the strategy on equal opportunities sets out that the focus of the strategy is developing new schemes of extra-care 

accommodation.   We recognise that it will affect and needs to take account of the whole range of different aspects of equal opportunities.  

 

62



Form Version 1.2   Prepared by:  Michael Mellors (IPC)  Date:  14/06/2021 

 

In the Equal Opportunities section we identify that as a means of keeping people in the community making available extra-care housing will have 

an impact upon carers as we hope that more people will be able to stay in their own homes longer.  It will continue to be important to recognise the 

burden that caring can become for some older people. At the same time, many people will be pleased to able to continue to have their loved ones 

living with them.   

 

The ethnic minority population element of BCP is less than 6% of the total and significantly less than that for the older population. Nevertheless, 

we recognise that for people of any ethnicity,  language culture and religious belief can be very important contributors to their wellbeing. We would 

expect the services commissioned to support people in extra-care housing to be aware of this and able to respond accordingly. 

We are aware of schemes elsewhere and of guidance relating specifically to ECH for people from black and minority ethnic groups1 

AS BCP council looks to develop further extra-care schemes there may be opportunity to go into partnership with specialist housing providers who 

look to meet the needs of minority groups.  BCP council will look to take up those opportunities. 

 

People with physical disabilities, learning disabilities and mental health problems have all been identified in the past as those who can benefit from 

living in extra-care housing accommodation.  

 

Similarly we recognise that there are other aspects of a person’s life and identity that remain important to them, especially as they got older or 

develop a long-term condition. These aspects of a person’s life can include things such as their marital or relationship status.  

 

We do expect all aspects of diversity and equal opportunities to be picked up as part of each person’s care and support plan, and this will be 

required in the accommodation and care providers’ contracts.  

 

In order to arrive at this statement we looked at the composition of the population in BCP, especially that of older people. At the same time, we 

drew upon work done elsewhere to ensure that we included the various different characteristics that needed to be covered. As indicated earlier, 

our ability to consult on the strategy at this stage has been severely limited by the impact of Covid-19. 

 

At these stage we do not feel that there are any significant negative issues to be addressed, nor any adverse risks. 

  

 

  
 

                                                
1 ‘Meeting the sheltered and extra care housing needs of black and minority ethnic older people’, Jones, A, & Bignall, T Race Equality Foundation, 2011, 
https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/housing-brief19.pdf 

63

https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/housing-brief19.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank

64



Recommendations from the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
– 26 July 2021 
 
RESOLVED that:-  
 

1. “This Committee recommends that Cabinet, working with relevant officers in 
both planning and adult social care, to be asked to make submissions to the 
Local Plan Working Group, regarding the provision of Extra Care Housing 
accommodation”. (Relating to item 9 – Extra Care Housing Strategy). 

 
2. “This Committee recommends that the Cabinet and/or Leader be asked to write 

to the local MPS to lobby the relevant government minister to review the 
£30,000 discretionary funding limit”. (Relating to item 10 – Disabled Facilities 
Grant Policy). 

 

65



This page is intentionally left blank

66



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Policy 

Meeting date  01-09-21 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The report seeks approval of the DFG Policy (Appendix 1) we are 

required to have in place under our Statutory Order, which 

consolidates the three policies from the legacy Councils and takes 

account of current legislation and national guidance.  

The policy includes the following major changes: 

 Implementation of discretionary funding to assist 
applicants who require works costing over £30,000, are 
unable to meet the assessed contribution following means 
testing or require assistance which does not meet the 
mandatory grant criteria and is deemed by the Council to 
benefit the applicant’s health and wellbeing. 

 Commitment to promote Seascape South Limited as the 
preferred contractor option for grant works as part of a 
comprehensive in-house service 

Implementation of the new policy is proposed for January 2022 by 
which time the Grants Team will be fully staffed and the new BCP 
procedures will be in place.  

DFG’s enable BCP residents to receive adaptations which assist 
them to remain independent in their own homes, reduce the need 
for care services and in some cases prevent moves into residential 
care. Adaptations reduce accidents and assist in hospital 
discharges back home. The new policy will increase the number of 
applicants who will be able to proceed with grant applications and 
facilitate higher cost adaptations than previously allowed under 
legacy arrangements. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 The proposed policy be considered and approved. 

67

Agenda Item 8



Reason for 
recommendations 

 To meet our statutory obligation under the The Housing 

Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996; as 

amended by the Regulatory Reform (Housing 

Assistance)(England & Wales) Order 2002 (RRO) to have a 

published document in place setting out Council policy on 

the aims and application of the local grant scheme 

 To meet our obligations under the Statutory order and align 

legacy Council’s policy 

 To provide clear and transparent policy for applicants and 

staff  

 To increase our offer to applicants with discretionary funding 

to maximise use of the grant in line with national good 

practice and the aims of the Better Care Fund. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Robert Lawton Portfolio Holder for Homes 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Chief Operations Officer 

Report Authors Tracey Kybert, Housing, Health & Social Care Manager 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Approval  
Title:  

Background 

1. Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s) provide funding to improve accessibility and 
enable people to remain living independently in their own homes.  

2. Legislation requires all Local Authorities to have a published document in place 
setting out Council policy on the aims and application of the local grant scheme. 

3. This new policy replaces legacy Council policies and is set out in Appendix 1. 

4. The grant scheme is funded through the Better Care Fund where a budgeted 
amount is agreed on an annual basis. The Government’s indicative figure and 
terms of the grant provides flexibility and enables the funding to be allocated to 
Social Care and Housing to fund a range of services. These services include the 
community equipment service and the disabled facilities grant.  

5. To date the legacy Council’s DFG Policy has reflected only mandatory grant 
funding assistance and the new BCP Council policy proposes to use powers to 
provide discretionary assistance as needed to better meet the needs of 
applicants, fulfil the aims of the Better Care Fund, and maximise use of the grant.   

6. Discretionary funding may assist applicants who require works costing over 
£30,000, are unable to meet the assessed contribution following means testing or 
require assistance which does not meet the mandatory grant criteria and is 
deemed by the Council to benefit the applicant’s health and wellbeing.  A robust 

68



Discretionary Funding Panel will be established to oversee and agree these case 
by case. 

7. This ringfenced grant is used for both adaptations and the staffing to facilitate the 
grant process. There is a current underspend as set out in the Summary of 
Financial Implications however, with the additional powers in place, the backlog 
and expected increase in applications following lockdown and the recruitment 
required to manage the whole programme across the BCP area, it is expected 
that the budget will be fully utilised in future. 

8. A communication plan will be put in place to launch the new policy and ensure 
that promotion maximises take up of the service.  

9. Figures for the last 3 years are set out below however are not truly representative 
of the Christchurch numbers owing to data discrepancies. 

 

 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

No of applications received 170 158 141 

No of completed works 175 154 130 

 

10. The policy sets out the intention of the Council to promote the Council’s wholly 
owned company Seascape South Limited to complete any works as part of a 
comprehensive in-house service to applicants who choose this service.  

11. Seascape South Limited has a proven track record delivering adaptations across 
Bournemouth and Christchurch.   External contractors will continue to provide 
specialist services as needed and tender for works where the applicant chooses 
not to use Seascape South Limited. 

Consultation 

12. The policy and action plan has been developed through good practice 
documentation such as the Royal College of Occupational Therapists (RCOT) 
Adaptations without Delay, Adult Social Care project work and examples of other 
Local Authority policies. 

13. Key stakeholders that have been consulted with are the Principal Occupational 
Therapist for Adult Social Care, Team Manager for SEND, OT and Grants 
Officers, Financial Services and Legal Services. 

14. Housing associations, several service user groups and some local charities who 
advise and represent applicants have been consulted with. Support for the policy 
has been positive with further consultation to take place around the 
implementation of the new policy. 

15. Health and Adult Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee confirmed support 
of the draft policy at the meeting on 26th July 2021.   

Options Appraisal 

16. The recommended option is to implement the new policy as set out in Appendix 
1. This policy meets the legislative requirements for the grant and provides 

69



discretionary powers to Council officers to facilitate grant funding for applicants 
that require works over and above the mandatory limit of £30,000, in 
circumstances of hardship are unable to meet their contribution and for complex 
cases where the Council deem the requirements over and above the legislation 
should be met to ensure the health and wellbeing of the applicant and prevent 
more costly service delivery to the Council.  

17. The recommended option incurs additional cost to the grant in staffing, resources 
and funding however will mitigate costs to the Council in terms of delivery of care 
services including residential and potentially carer services as well. 

18. There is scope to use Better Care Funding allocation with some degree of 
flexibility within BCP Council to ensure efficient service provision however to date 
this has not been possible without a finalised policy in place. 

19. Discretionary funding assistance affords the Council flexibility to meet new 
national guidance and good practice around adaptations and grant delivery within 
the lifetime of the policy. 

20. An alternative option would be to implement a new policy which meets the 
legislative requirements for the grant but does not include any discretionary 
funding assistance. This would be in line with the legacy Council arrangements 
where in some historical cases Adult and Children’s Social Care topped up or 
applicants applied for charitable grants with limited success, but the majority of 
applications would have been cancelled and adaptations would not have been 
completed.  

21. The alternative option would mean a proportion of applications would not proceed 
owing to requiring works over and above £30,000, not being able to make 
contributions and certain complex cases such as some of our more complex 
children’s cases needing innovative and long term options to sustain them into 
adulthood. This in turn would lead to more costly and intrusive services as well as 
poor health outcomes. 

22. A further option would be to do nothing. We currently have in place legacy policy 
arrangements which differ across the separate teams leading to confusion and 
leaving the Council open to challenge.  

23. Government expects BCP Council to have one combined policy as set out in the 
Statutory Order. 

24. Where the Council may identify a need for innovative and more costly 
adaptations to meet an applicant’s needs over and above £30,000 we will not be 
able to proceed without the necessary policy in place setting out our discretionary 
powers. 

 

 

 

 

 

70



Summary of financial implications 

25. The previous and current DFG budget and spend is set out in the table below. 
This includes costs of adaptations and staffing. 

 

Year Allocation 
(£) 

Spend (£) 

19/20 3,100,781 1,599,000 

20/21 3,518,312 1,034,000 

21/22 3,518,312 212,000 
Qtr1 

 

26. At the time of this report the current spend is £276,000 with a further £472,858 
committed spend in approved applications. This does not account for pending 
applications where costs have not been determined yet. 

27. The three legacy Councils had a combined allocation of £3.1 million in 19/20, 
during which time the Christchurch DFG service was moved to the Bmth grants 
team, however no staff were transferred, and the team remained understaffed 
because of an organisational restructure. As a result, applications were delayed 
which have contributed to the reduced spend. 

28. BCP Council received a further in year allocation of £400,000 for 20/21 and 21/22 
from central government contributing to the underspend. 

29. 20/21 spend was significantly affected by the pandemic. Grant applications 
reduced in line with OT assessments. Works in progress were stopped at a safe 
point during lockdowns owing to the work needing to be undertaken within 
people’s homes. Some vulnerable applicants were shielding or chose to delay 
visits and works.  Only critical cases were progressed in the first lock down and 
straightforward adaptations that could be assessed and specified through online 
assessments in subsequent lockdowns.   

30. Applications are now increasing along with works progressing that have been on 
hold and more complex works that have been delayed and require Planning and 
Technical services.  The application process can take some time therefore these 
costs will not be reflected in spend for some months yet.  

31. Adult Social Care teams are currently working through around 180 requests for 
OT assessments and are stating a high percentage of these will require 
adaptations.  

32. The Children’s SEND team have approximately 20-25 open cases where a DFG 
is under way or assessment is indicating the need to progress to a DFG. It is 
estimated most are likely to be within the £30,000 statutory limit however up to 5 
will be over this amount. There are some households where there are two or 
more children with disabilities and recommendations will be made for more than 
one grant in these cases.  

33. The SEND team have confirmed they have another 15 children pending 
assessment whose needs are likely to indicate a DFG application. 

71



34. The Grants Team have 3 large bespoke projects for children which require 
funding above £30,000 and are going through planning or are about to start work. 
These costs will be reflected in the spend later in the financial year. 

35. Children’s cases are increasingly complex and require adaptations for conditions 
such as Autism where the adaptations are to reduce risk and behaviours which 
have not been possible under statutory funding criteria. It is anticipated the 
discretionary funding arrangements will mean a considerable increase in spend. 

36. Some bespoke housing projects to meet individual or family needs have been 
funded through a legacy Poole bespoke fund or Section 106 funding. The last 2 
projects amounted to £70,000. In future the discretionary funding powers under 
the new DFG policy will be used to fund these projects. 

37. The staff recruitment that is now taking place is key to assisting with the back log 
from COVID in terms of capacity to process applications across BCP, an 
increased demand because of the promotion of the new policy and the additional 
discretionary funding applications.  

38. We have also committed to part fund an additional Occupational Therapist role in 
the Adult Social Care Contact Centre to provide advice and guidance and carry 
out assessments to reduce the requests that go through to the long-term teams 
and streamline the process for applicants. 

39. The legal process that needs to be followed to place legal charges on applicant’s 
properties with the Land Registry will be agreed with Legal Services and there will 
be a cost implication for this additional resource. 

40. The £30,000 limit on disabled facilities grants has been in place since 2008 and 
owing to increasing costs of works the amount of applications where the costs 
amount to over £30,000 is becoming more frequent. In the last 3 years we have 
progressed 30 applications that have come in over the £30,000 limit with the 
difference funded by families, personal loans, applicant savings and charitable 
grants.  The cost to the Council for these grant applications was £870,000.00 
however the total cost for these adaptations amounts to £1,306,828.00.   

41. These amounts, whilst not representative of all the discretionary assistance set 
out in the policy and not all these applicants would have been eligible for 
discretionary funding, it gives an indication of the financial risk to the Council.  

42. All funding awards will be approved and made in compliance with the Council’s 
financial regulations and after Financial Services confirmation of funding 
available. Financial Services colleagues will be members of the robust 
Discretionary Funding Panel and advise on the current budget position. 

43. Discretionary grant assistance may be withdrawn by the Council at any time 
depending on the availability of DFG funding. 

44. Where the budget becomes oversubscribed meeting the mandatory grant funding 
obligations within the financial year the Grants Team will work with Adult and 
Children’s Social Care/SEND to prioritise cases and take a planned approach to 
completion of works within the statutory 12 month time frame. 

Summary of legal implications 

45. The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996; as amended by 
the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales) Order 2002 

72



(RRO) requires all Local Authorities to have a published document in place 
setting out Council policy on the aims and application of the local grant scheme. 

46. The policy sets out the mandatory legal framework for DFGs, and how the 
Council intends to use its powers under the RRO to provide interventions to 
promote independent living and wellbeing. 

47. BCP Council are required to have a policy in place under our Statutory Order.  

48. Without a policy in place BCP Council can only award mandatory grants at this 
time.  

49. The implementation of discretionary funding assistance will require additional 
processes to be put in place around securing land registry charges on properties. 
This is a legal procedure and will require resource from Legal Services.   

Summary of human resources implications 

50. There will be additional resource implications because of the new policy in terms 
of management of a larger programme across BCP and to facilitate the additional 
discretionary funding process.  This will be addressed partly through the 
recruitment of three additional posts funded through the grant and Legal Services 
support as mentioned above.  

 

Summary of sustainability impact 

51. The policy contributes to the Council’s sustainable development goals: 

Good Health and Well Being 

 Facilitates residents remaining in their own homes, enabling access to and use 

of all areas and contributing to their health and wellbeing by maintaining their 

independence. 

 Enables residents to access their gardens and leave their homes to enjoy local 

green spaces. 

Clean Water and Sanitation 

 Enables residents to continue to access and use bathroom and kitchen facilities 

Reduced Inequalities  

 Facilitates residents remaining in their own homes, maintaining their 

independence. 

Sustainable Cities and Communities. 

 Enabling people to remain in their own homes accessing and contributing to 

their community. 

52. There will be an environmental impact from the delivery of our disabled facilities 
grant scheme under this policy and we are committed to encouraging applicants 
to choose local and sustainable organisations to carry out works. Seascape 
South Limited and any other contractors promoted by the Council will adopt 

73



sustainable business practices where possible including waste reduction and 
sustainable transport. 

Summary of public health implications 

53. Public Health Dorset works closely with the Planning Authority to shape 
environments and make sure that the places in which we live, work and play are 
‘healthy places’. 

54. The new DFG Policy will ensure applicants who are most in need will receive 
adaptations to maintain their independence within their homes and access the 
community. Adaptations contribute to positive health outcomes, promote people’s 
independence, and reduces the need for more intrusive services.  

Summary of equality implications 

55. A full Equality Impact Assessment Screening document has been completed. 

56. The new grant scheme set out in the DFG policy will improve the condition and 
access of applicant’s homes.  

The benefits of the new policy include: 

 Improving access for disabled people in their home improves their ability to 
live and remain active within their local communities. 

 Ensures the households that are most in need receive funding to cover the 
costs for their adaptations. 

 An increase in applicants who will now be able to proceed with a grant. 

 The Council will provide support to applicants 
 

57. There is no known negative impact, as a result, of this policy however there are 
some identified areas which may lead to an inequity of access which will be 
mitigated by the following: 

 a communications plan for the launch of the new grant scheme which will ensure 
information is accessible both online and in hard copy and targeted in key 
universal places such as GP practices.  

 support with applications available for applicants 

 

58. In addition, as the Discretionary Funding Panel is developed a further EIA will be 
carried out to ensure equalities form part of the consideration process. 

 

 

 

 

 

74



Summary of risk assessment 

59. This report identifies limited risks in implementing the recommended new DFG 
Policy for BCP Council. There are specific risks in not implementing a new policy 
which need to be considered when looking at the Options Appraisal.  

60. The financial risk to the Council is the most significant in terms of the additional 
commitment to discretionary funding however the policy outlines the decision -
making process to mitigate this as the summary table below details. 

61.  

Summary Table of Funding Levels 

Funding level Decision 

Grant funding up to the mandatory level of 

£30,000 

Grants Team 

Grant funding between the mandatory level of 

£30,000 and the discretionary level of £40,000 

Grants Team 

Grant funding over £40,000 up to £100,000 Discretionary Funding Panel 

Grant funding over £100.000 Agreed by Director of 

Housing 

  

62. There is a risk of applicant dissatisfaction at this time whilst OT’s and Grants 
Officers catch up with assessments and applications which have been delayed 
owing to the pandemic. Additional recruitment and fast tracking of cases will 
assist in alleviating this.  

63. BCP Council Officers are committed to the continual improvement of the grant 
programme and set out in the Action Plan at Appendix 3 are the key planned 
pieces of work which mitigate the risks and will support and add value during the 
term of this policy. 

Background papers 

None  

Appendices   

1. Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Policy 

2. Equality Impact Assessment Screening document  

3. Action Plan  

  

 

75



This page is intentionally left blank

76



Appendix 1  

  

Disabled Facilities Grants 

(DFG) Policy 

 

January 2022 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

77



1  

  

  

Housing  
  

  

  

Author: Tracey Kybert – Housing, Health & Social Care Manager   

Version: 1.2     

Review Date: July 2024 

    

 

1. Purpose Statement  

  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  

1.1 Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s) provide funding to improve accessibility and enable people to 
remain living independently in their own homes. Initially introduced by s.114 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989, it is a means tested (adults only), mandatory grant 
administered by the Local Authority to meet or contribute towards the cost of ‘relevant’ 
adaptations that are ‘necessary and appropriate’ and ‘reasonable and practicable’ to meet the 
needs of a disabled adult or child.  

 

1.2 The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996; as amended by the Regulatory 
Reform (Housing Assistance)(England & Wales) Order 2002 (RRO) requires all Local Authorities 
to have a published document in place setting out Council policy on the aims and application of 
the local grant scheme. 

 

1.3 This policy sets out the mandatory legal framework for DFGs, and how the Council intends to 
use its powers under the RRO to provide interventions to promote independent living and well-
being.  

 

1.4 BCP Council is committed to awarding grants to achieve equality, prevent harm and improve the 
quality of life for disabled residents in the BCP area. 

 

1.5 To meet these commitments the policy:  
 

 Provides clear information to ensure eligible applicants can make informed choices about 
their adaptation and accommodation options  

 Provides an accessible, understandable, and transparent grant scheme  

 Helps the Council effectively manage its DFG budget  

 Aims to provide a straight-forward process that achieves an outcome for the applicant 
within the statutory time frame  

 Sets out the intention of the Council to promote the Council’s wholly owned company 
Seascape South Limited to complete any works as part of a comprehensive in-house 
service to applicants.  

 
 

2.  Who the policy applies to   
  
  2.1 
 
 
 
   
2.2 
 
 

 
This policy applies to all home owners, private rented and social housing tenants in the BCP area 
who are determined as requiring adaptations by Occupational Therapy professionals and qualify 
for funding under the means testing requirements for, a contribution towards or full funding for, 
their adaptation(s). 

 
Council tenants do not apply for a DFG and follow a different process for funded 
adaptations outside of this policy. 

 
 

78



2  

  

  2.3 
 
  2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Persons from abroad, with no recourse to public funds are not eligible to apply for a DFG. 
 

This policy adheres to the following relevant legislation in defining a person as disabled: 
 

 The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, under which a person 
is defined as being disabled if: their sight, hearing, or speech is substantially and 
permanently impaired, they have a mental disorder or impairment of any kind, or they 
are physically substantially and permanently disabled by illness, injury, and 
impairment present since birth or otherwise. 

 

 A person aged 18 years or over is taken to be disabled if: they are registered as a 
result of any arrangements made under section 29(1) of the National Assistance Act 
1948, or they are a person for whose welfare arrangements have been made under 
that section or might be made under it.  

 

 A person aged under the age of 18 is taken to be disabled if: they are registered in a 
register of disabled children maintained under the Children Act 1989, or in the 
opinion of the social services authority they are a disabled child as defined for the 
purposes of Part III of the Children Act 1989.  

 

 Under the Equality Act 2010 if you have a physical or mental impairment that has a 
‘substantial’ and ‘long-term’ negative effect on your ability to do normal daily 
activities. 
 

This policy also applies to all: 
 

 Housing staff who advise and support residents with grant applications  

 Housing staff who provide housing options advice and allocate properties under any 
relevant nomination arrangements  

 Children’ Social Care/SEND and Adult Social Care staff who are assessing and 
advising residents around their needs 

 Members who are acting on behalf of their constituents  

 Agencies supporting or acting on behalf of applicants with their consent 

3.  This policy replaces   
  

3.1 
  
  
  

 
This policy replaces legacy Bournemouth Borough Council Policy for Giving Grants for Home 
Improvements and Adaptations 2014/15 and supersedes any other policy relating to Disabled 
Facilities Grants under legacy arrangements across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.   

 

4.  Approval process  
 

4.1      In developing this policy, the Council has consulted with key stakeholders; Adults’ and          

           Children’s Social Care/SEND; Finance and Legal services; service user groups, Housing     

Associations who have housing in the area; and local third sector organisations.  

 

4.2      This policy requires Cabinet approval. 

 

  

5.  Links to Council Strategies  
  

5.1   This policy supports the Corporate Strategy to deliver the aims under the Fulfilled Lives key  
  priority – helping people lead active, healthy and independent lives, add life to years and years to 

  life. This policy specifically contributes to the following aims: 

79



3  

  

 

 Support people to live safe independent lives by adapting properties so adults and 

children can remain in their own homes whilst retaining their independence and wellbeing. 

 Value and support carers to continue caring for family members in their own homes in a 

safe and manageable environment  

 Enable people to live well through quality social care by providing adaptations to 

support safe delivery of care within the home environment. 

 Tackle homelessness by carrying out adaptations to people’s homes to negate the need 

for individuals and families to move.     

 

 5.2     This policy supports the Council’s sustainable development goals: 

Good Health and Well Being 

 Facilitates residents remaining in their own homes, enabling access to and use of all areas 

and contributing to their health and wellbeing by maintaining their independence. 

 Enables residents to access their gardens and leave their homes to enjoy local green 

spaces. 

            Clean Water and Sanitation 

 Enables residents to continue to access and use bathroom and kitchen facilities 

             Reduced Inequalities  

 Facilitates residents remaining in their own homes, maintaining their independence. 

              Sustainable Cities and Communities. 

 Enabling people to remain in their own homes accessing and contributing to their 

community. 

There will be an environmental impact from the delivery of our disabled facilities grant scheme 

under this policy and we are committed to encouraging applicants to choose local and 

sustainable organisations to carry out works. Any contractors promoted by the Council will adopt 

sustainable business practices where possible including waste reduction and sustainable 

transport. 

5.3 During the preparation of this policy document due consideration has been given to the       

following key Council Strategies:  

 Corporate Plan   

 Health & Wellbeing Strategy  

 Safeguarding Strategy  

 Housing Strategy  

 Children in Care Strategy  

 Communities Engagement Strategy   

 Equality & Diversity 

 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) and Improvement Strategy 2021-24 

 

5.4 Disabled Facilities Grant funding is allocated through the Better Care Fund (BCF). Since 2013 

the BCF has been a programme spanning both the NHS and local government which seeks to 

join-up health and care services, so that people can manage their own health and wellbeing and 

live independently in their communities for as long as possible. 

  

 

  

80



4  

  

 

 

6.  The Policy  
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Assessment and Application 
 
6.1.1   Applications must be supported by a recommendation from an Occupational Therapist 

confirming that the person is disabled and that the proposed works are necessary and 
appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled person. 

 
6.1.2   Adaptation recommendations for a DFG application for persons up to 18 years are 

received by the Grants Team from Children’s Social Care/SEND following an 
assessment under the Children Act 1989 and any needs arising out of an assessment.   

 
6.1.3   Adaptation recommendations for a DFG application for persons 18 years and over are 

received by the Grants Team from Adult Social Care following an assessment under the 
Care Act 2014 and any needs arising out of an assessment.   

 
6.1.4   The Act sets out for what purpose DFGs can be used and eligible works are summarised 

below:   
 

 Facilitating access to the dwelling and garden, to overcome or remove any obstacles, 
and allow free movement around the property.  

 Making the dwelling or building safe, e.g. lighting  

 Facilitating access to a living or family room  

 Facilitating access to a room used for sleeping 

 Access to, or the provision of, a W/C, bath or shower (or both) and washhand basin 
facilities.  

 Facilitating accessible food preparation/cooking amenities.  

 Improving or providing a suitable heating system where necessary.  

 Providing accessible sockets, switches and controls for power, light and heat.  

 Allowing better access to care for a dependant resident in the dwelling.  

 To allow access to the dwelling through common-parts of a building. 
 
6.1.5   The initial assessment process evaluates what major adaptations are necessary and 

appropriate to meet the needs having regard to whether major adaptations are 
reasonable and practicable given the age and condition of the dwelling, the practicalities 
and cost- effectiveness of alterations, conservation considerations and the structural 
characteristics of the property. 

 
6.1.6    From the outset, discussions are held with the applicant to consider and determine the 

most reasonable and practicable solution to meet their identified needs.  The Council 
may discuss alternative options with the applicant including how rooms in the dwelling 
could be used differently to accommodate the disabled occupant or a move to 
alternative accommodation may be more practical and sustainable than funding 
alterations.  

 
6.1.7    If an applicant is proposing to buy a new home, a DFG can only be awarded once the 

purchase has been completed and this can be proven. If an applicant is looking to move 
either through selling and buying or moving within both the private and social rented 
sector, they will be encouraged to liaise with the Council regarding the suitability of the 
dwelling to meet the needs of the person with a disability, whether it is possible to adapt 
the property, and the likely timescales, cost and contribution expected to do so. 

 
6.1.8   The property must be the person with a disability’s main or only residence at the time of 

the application or will be once adapted. The grant is awarded to the person therefore 

81



5  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

there may be more than one applicant living at the property and adaptations being 
funded under separate grant applications to meet the needs of more than one individual. 

 
6.1.9   The applicant and where relevant the landlord will be required to provide the necessary 

paperwork to confirm ownership, tenancy and consent for the grant works to proceed. 
 
6.1.10  DFG applications are processed by an inhouse Grants Team who will support applicants 

and social care colleagues to navigate the process, ensure applicants receive the funding 
to progress the adaptations they need and BCP Council administer the grant in line with 
current legislation and local policy. 

 
6.1.11 The Grants Team process applications in date order. Where an application is identified by 

Social Care and SEND colleagues as urgent there is a fast track process in place to 
ensure applications are prioritised. 

 
 
Grant Funding 
 
6.2.1   The maximum amount of grant funding that can be awarded under a mandatory DFG is 

currently £30,000. 
 
6.2.2    Applicants for a DFG will be subject to a formal means test in accordance with the Housing 

Renewal Grants Regulations 1996 to determine their contribution towards the cost of the 
works. Applications where the work is to meet the needs of a child will not be subject to a 
formal means test. 

 
6.2.3   Both homeowners and tenants must have the intention to live in the property for a period 

of not less than 5 years and where the person is not the home owner, the owners will 
also need to confirm they have the intention to allow the person to remain in the property 
for a period of not less than 5 years. 

 
6.2.4   Where the cost of the DFG exceeds £5,000, BCP Council will place a charge against the 

property (limited to a maximum charge of £10,000). This will be repayable if the property 
is disposed of or ownership is transferred, or the conditions of the grant are breached 
within ten years. This applies to owner occupiers only. In each case the Council will 
consider the individual circumstances of an applicant in deciding whether the charge 
should be made.  

 
6.2.5   There is no restriction on DFGs for the same applicant, and depending on the time lapse 

between applications, there is provision for any means tested contribution made on the 
first grant to be accounted for on a subsequent application. This is five years for a 
tenants’ application, and ten years for an owner-occupier’s application. 

 
6.2.6   If the outcome of an applicant’s means test is that they are not eligible for a grant 

contribution from BCP Council, and fund any works themselves, these costs will be 
taken in to account for subsequent applications subject to the necessary information 
being provided.  

 
6.2.7   Where an applicant wishes to proceed with a more expensive quote they will be liable for 

the difference in addition to any means tested contribution. 
 
6.2.8   Where an applicant wishes to extend the remit of works beyond what is necessary and 

appropriate for their own purpose, they will be liable for the cost of the additional works 
above the agreed grant and must enter into a private arrangement with the contractor for 
these works. Any additional works will be planned in consultation with the Occupational 
Therapist and must not compromise the purpose of the necessary and appropriate 
funded works. 

 

82



6  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.2.9   The Authority may not assess or approve applications where works have commenced 
before approval.  Any works carried out before a grant is approved may not be funded.  
Grant cannot be retrospectively applied for after works are complete.   

 
6.2.10  Payment of Grant Funding is made based on the following: 
 

 that the eligible works are carried out by the contractor whose estimate accompanied 
the application  

 Any variations to the schedule of works were agreed in advance  

 Works are completed to the satisfaction of the Council 

 The Council receive an acceptable invoice, demand or receipt for payment for works 
and/or services/charges in respect of which grant or part of the grant is to be paid 

 
6.2.11 Where grant conditions are not met, the Council may refuse payment of grant, pay in 

part or request that the grant is repaid to the Council considering the individual 
circumstances of the applicant.  In circumstances where grant conditions are breached 
and grant has already been paid out, the Council may take appropriate action to recover 
it.  

 
6.2.12 In the event an amount of grant is payable, but the works in question have not been 

completed to the satisfaction of the applicant, the Council will act as intermediary to reach 
an agreed resolution and may at the applicant’s request and if they consider it appropriate 
to do so withhold payment from the contractor. 

 
 
 
Discretionary Grant Funding 
 
6.3.1   Under the RRO 2002 BCP Council has powers and flexibility to provide additional 

financial assistance. 
  
6.3.2   The Council recognise that extensive adaptations and rising costs mean works often                

exceed the current mandatory limit of £30,000.  BCP Council will assess and where 
necessary award grants above the mandatory maximum up to £40k for any applications 
subject to the same means testing framework that is applied to grants within the 
mandatory limit. 

 
6.3.3   In addition to this a Discretionary Funding Panel made up of Senior officers from 

Housing, Social Care/SEND and Financial Services will evaluate and agree further 
assistance up to a maximum of £100k on the following basis:  

 

 Where the cost of works is estimated to exceed the maximum amount (£40k) awarded 
as a DFG under this policy.  

 To facilitate the relocation to a more suitable property  

 To facilitate essential repairs in addition to the mandatory DFG, to meet the needs of 
vulnerable individuals.  

 Where the individual is significantly impacted by statutory means testing in relation to 
adaptations. 

 Where there are unique circumstances that the Council recognise require an innovative 
approach to achieve the best outcome for the applicant   

         
6.3.4   All funding awards will be approved and made in compliance with the Council’s financial         

regulations and after Financial Services confirmation of funding available. 
 
6.3.5   For owner occupiers the maximum amount repayable to the Council upon change of     

ownership is £10,000 for a mandatory DFG up to £30,000. Where the Council exercises 
discretion and pays a grant over £30,000 a legal charge will be placed on the property 

83



7  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.4 

for the whole amount in excess of £30,000 for a period of 10 years. This Legal Charge 
will be registered at HM Land Registry and secured against the property.  

 
 
6.3.6   Discretionary disabled adaptations financial assistance will be subject to the same 

eligibility criteria as mandatory DFGs, in terms of tenure of property, and the purpose of 
the funding. 

 
6.3.7   The Council will provide the applicant with documentation clearly outlining the agreed 

terms and conditions of any grant funding giving appropriate advice and/or information 
about the extent and nature of any obligations. This will include payment arrangements. 

 6.3.8   Discretionary grant assistance may be withdrawn by the Council at any time depending 
on the availability of DFG funding.  

 
6.3.9 

Summary Table of Funding Levels 

Funding level Decision 

Grant funding up to the mandatory level of £30,000 Grants Team 

Grant funding between the mandatory level of 
£30,000 and the discretionary level of £40,000 

Grants Team 

Grant funding over £40,000 up to £100,000 Discretionary Funding Panel 

Grant funding over £100.000 Agreed by Director of Housing 

 
 
Works 
 
6.4.1   Seascape South Limited is a wholly owned company of BCP Council and has a proven 

track record delivering adaptations across the BCP area. As part of the in-house Grant 
Team service all applicants will be offered the services of Seascape South Limited to 
carry out any DFG works. 

 
6.4.2   The applicant retains the right to choose another contractor who has submitted a value 

for money quote as per the schedule of works.  
 
6.4.3   The contractual relationship lays with the applicant and the contractor. The Council acts 

as financial provider and intermediate, at the request of the applicant, throughout the 
grant process.  The Council decides what works are eligible under grant funding.  The 
applicant has control over which contractor to employ.   

6.4.4    The inhouse Grants Team will liaise with social care/SEND colleagues to support 
applicants throughout the process to ensure the applicant receives the adaptations they 
require, and the grant process is brought to a satisfactory conclusion. 

6.4.5    Warranties and maintenance agreements vary and change over time for equipment and 
the relevant liabilities will be made clear to the applicant before proceeding with the 
grant funded works. 

 
6.4.6   Where eligible works require planning permission or building regulation approval, 

applicants will need to apply for this in addition to making a grant application. The Grants 
Team can support the applicant with this process or carry this out on their behalf.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

84



8  

  

 
 
 
 

7.  How to use this policy  

  
7.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.2 
 
 
 
 
7.3 

 

 
 

 

Housing and Adult and Children’s Social Care/SEND work jointly where the need for a 

major adaptation is identified.   

 
  Housing’s role includes: 

 providing a bespoke service to the applicant and their parent, where relevant, 
throughout the process 

 acting as conduit between applicant and landlord, where relevant to the 
application 

 working in partnership with registered providers of social housing, where relevant 
to the application 

 conducting the means test where a grant is requested for a disabled adult  

 arranging technical property inspections by surveyors with Occupational Therapy 
where appropriate 

 preparing the schedule of works with the Occupational Therapist 

 confirmation of grant payment method with the applicant 

 confirming conditions for grant approval are met 

 organising quotations for the works at the request of the applicant 

 co-ordinating and managing the tender process where relevant to the application 

 co-ordinating contractors where relevant 

 Application approval or refusal 
 

  Adult and Children’s Social Care/SEND role includes: 

 providing a bespoke service to the applicant and their parent, where relevant, 
throughout the process 

 establishing applicant meets the definition of disabled 

 assessing and identifying care and support needs 

 the provision of minor home adaptations or community care equipment where 
relevant 

 determine whether major adaptations are ‘necessary’ and ‘appropriate’ to meet 
the care and support needs of the disabled applicant 

 conducting dwelling inspections to recommend ‘necessary’ and ‘appropriate’ 
major adaptations 

 requesting Relocation Grants where applications for major adaptations are not 
considered reasonable and practicable. 

 
 
 
Minor adaptations (any adaptation costing under £1000) or the provision of community 
care equipment fall outside of this policy and are provided for by Social Care/SEND 
following assessment. All minor adaptations and equipment are provided free of charge 
and are not subject to means testing. 
 
 Service Standards 
 
7.3.1    The Council will provide notification in writing, the decision to approve or refuse an 

application for grant as soon as reasonably practicable and not later than six 
months after the date of application.   

 
7.3.2    Approved applications will confirm the following: 

 a statement of the works eligible for grant 

85



9  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.4 

 the costs which, in the Council’s opinion are properly incurred by the eligible 
works 

 any assessed applicant contribution 

 the amount of grant which will be paid 
 

7.3.3    In accordance with legislation, the Council will aim to complete the installation of 
all disabled adaptations within 12 months from the date of grant approval.  

 
7.3.4    The Council aims to pay grant money due within 30 days of a valid claim on 

certified work.  
 
Customer Feedback 
 
7.4.1    BCP Council encourage feedback on the process to improve the experience for all 

future applicants including where things may have gone wrong. Feedback can be 
provided at the following link: https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Contact-us/Feedback-
and-complaints/Feedback-and-complaints.aspx. Alternatively a feedback form can 
be provided by the Grants Team. 

 
7.4.2    In the event the applicant is not satisfied by the outcome of a complaint they can 

contact the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman at the following link: 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint  

 
 
 

8.   Roles and responsibilities 
 
8.1 
 
 
 
 
8.2 
 
 
 
8.3 

  

 

  
  

 
For minor changes to the policy to comply with new legislation and national guidance authority 
is delegated to the Chief Operations Officer in consultation with the Director of Housing and 
the Portfolio Holder for Homes.   All major changes to the existing policy will require Cabinet 
approval.  
 
To suspend approval of any discretionary grant assistance under this policy in line with 
budgetary constraints authority is delegated to the Chief Operations Officer in consultation with 
the Director of Housing and the Portfolio Holder for Homes.  
 
The majority of, day to day decisions on assessment of applications for the grant will be made 
by the Adaptations Officers except for the decisions listed below:  
 

Decision Responsible person 

Applicant Feedback and Reviews Housing, Health & Social Care Manager 

Discretionary Funding up to £100k Discretionary Funding Panel  

Discretionary Funding over £100k Director of Housing 

 

  

9.  Enforcement and sanctions  
  

9.1    Failure to follow this DFG Policy in line with the relevant legislation under which grant 

funding is awarded will leave the Council at risk of a charge of maladministration and judicial 

review.  

9.2  The Council may be subject to investigation by the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman where an applicant has not been satisfied through review, that the Council has 

followed their policy or met their responsibilities under the relevant legislation. This can 

result in additional costs to rectify circumstances and compensate applicants. 

86

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Contact-us/Feedback-and-complaints/Feedback-and-complaints.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Contact-us/Feedback-and-complaints/Feedback-and-complaints.aspx
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint


10  

  

9.3 The application process and award of grants will be subject to internal audit to ensure 

funding is awarded in line with policy. 

9.4 Grant Applications will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that funding has been 

awarded as per the terms of the policy. 

 

10.  Appendices  
 

Appendix A DFG Action Plan 

Appendix B DFG Policy Equality Impact Assessment  

87



This page is intentionally left blank

88



Appendix 2 

  

Equality Impact Assessment: conversation screening tool   

  

  

Policy/Service under 
development/review:  

  
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Policy 

What changes are being made to 
the policy/service?  

The new policy supersedes previous policy and sets out the 

following: 

 This policy replaces the three legacy Councils policy on 
grants into one BCP policy to ensure an equitable service is 
delivered to all residents across the BCP area.  

 Bournemouth Borough Council and Borough of Poole did 
not have discretionary funding powers set out in their 
legacy policy and Christchurch under Dorset County 
Council had some discretionary arrangements in place. The 
new policy sets out the new discretionary financial 
assistance over and above mandatory assistance offered to 
eligible residents to adapt their property.  

 

 The wholly owned company Seascape South Limited will 
now be promoted by the Grants Team to deliver works 
under the scheme. Seascape have previously only 
operated in the Bournemouth and latterly the Christchurch 
area but will now be extended to deliver in Poole to provide 
applicants with the benefit of a quality inhouse service. All 
applicants still retain choice and can opt for an external 
contractor with the Grants Team support. 

 

All applicants are assessed by Adults or Children’s Social 

Care/SEND and recommendations on the necessary and 

appropriate adaptations are made to the Grants Team. In the case 

of adult applicants, they are means tested using a mandatory 

framework to determine the amount of grant they are eligible for 

and any contribution they will be required to make towards the 

costs.   

Service Unit:   Housing 

Persons present in the 
conversation and their 
role/experience in the service:   

Teresa Stanley – Principal OT Adult Social Care 
Ruth Morgan – Children’s Occupational Health Team Manager 
Tracey Kybert – Housing, Health & Social Care Manager 

Conversation dates:   July 2021 

Do you know your current or potential 
client base? Who are the key 
stakeholders?  

The new policy will be introduced for residents in the BCP area 
who are determined through assessment by the Council to require 
adaptations to their property.  
 
Stakeholders of the service are: 

 Adult Social Care 

89



 Children’s Social Care/SEND 

Do different groups have different 
needs or experiences in relation to 
the policy/service?   

1. For some groups access to information or ability to request 
assessment for services may be compromised.  

2. Some residents in the past would not have proceeded with 
adaptations owing to having to source financial 
contributions over and above the grant amount.  

Will the policy or service change 
affect any of these service users?   
  

Yes, as part of the communications plan for the new policy and 
service more isolated parts of the community will be accounted for. 
The provision for discretionary funding will ensure more residents 
will receive the adaptations they need. 

What are the benefits or positive 
impacts of the policy/service change 
on current or potential service users?   

All residents can contact the Council to request services because 
of identified need which may include grant funding for adaptations 
in the home. The protected and relevant equality factors have been 
considered below.  
 
Age 

 A proportionately higher number of older people will benefit 
from a grant because of their deteriorating health conditions 
and increasing needs.  

Disability 

 Relevant legislation sets out the definition of a disability for 
the purposes of applying for a grant. 

 The Council assessment process under The Children’s Act 
1989 and the Care Act 2014 determines those in need of 
adaptations. 

 Improving access for disabled people in their home 
improves their ability to live and remain active within their 
local communities. 

 People with disabilities within the community who will be 
disproportionately reflected in lower income households will 
benefit from the new discretionary funding available. 

 
Socio-Economic Status 

 Mandatory means testing recognises receipt of certain 
Benefits which ensures applicants are eligible for the full 
grant contribution required to fund their required 
adaptations. This ensures the households that are most in 
need receive funding to cover the costs for their 
adaptations. 

 The new discretionary funding means there will be an 
increase in applicants who will now be able to proceed 
whereas in the past they would not owing to having to 
source financial contributions over and above the grant 
amount. 
 

Race 

 Some residents where English is not their first language will 
benefit from the support the Council will provide to support 
people with applications 

 

90



What are the negative impacts of the 
policy/service change on current or 
potential service users?  

There is no known negative impact, as a result, of this policy. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect employees?   

Yes, this will ensure all staff have clarity and confidence in 
providing guidance to applicants with one new policy in place 
across the BCP area. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect the wider community?   

Applicants will benefit from adaptations to maintain their 
independence and access the community from their property 

What mitigating actions are planned  
or already in place for those 
negatively affected by the 
policy/service change?   

Communications plan for the launch of the new grant scheme will 
ensure information is accessible both online and in hard copy and 
targeted in key universal places such as GP practices.  
Support with applications available for applicants  

Summary of Equality Implications:   
  

The new grant scheme set out in the DFG policy will improve the 
condition and access of applicant’s homes.  
 
The benefits of the new policy include: 
 

 Improving access for disabled people in their home 
improves their ability to live and remain active within their 
local communities. 

 Ensures the households that are most in need receive 
funding to cover the costs for their adaptations. 

 An increase in applicants who will now be able to proceed 
with a grant. 

 The Council will provide support to applicants 
 

There is no known negative impact, as a result, of this policy 
however there are some identified areas which may lead to an 
inequity of access which will be mitigated by the following: 
 

 a communications plan for the launch of the new grant 
scheme which will ensure information is accessible both 
online and in hard copy and targeted in key universal 
places such as GP practices.  

 support with applications available for applicants 

 
In addition, as the Discretionary Funding Panel is developed a 
further EIA will be carried out to ensure equalities forms part of the 
consideration process.  

 

 
For any questions on this, please contact the Policy and Performance Team by emailing 
performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk      

91



This page is intentionally left blank

92



Appendix 3 

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Policy Action Plan 2021  

No. Action Responsible 
Area 

Deadline 

1.  Operational alignment of inhouse Grant Teams  Facilities October 2021 

2.  Development of the operational procedures including the discretionary 
panel process. 

Housing and 
Facilities 

January 2022 

3.  Launch of the new policy and grant scheme including 
Communications Plan 

Housing and 
Facilities 

January 2022 

4.  Development of a new case management system  Facilities and 
Service 
Improvement 
Partner 

Dependent on 
Council Service 
Improvement 

Partner 
recommendations 

5.  Development of the online DFG offer to include web pages and online 
application process. 

Housing and 
Facilities 

March 2022 

6.  Work with registered providers to agree commitment to social housing 
tenants around adaptations. 

Housing and 
Registered 
Providers 

July 2022 

7.  Introduce register of adapted properties across the Allocations System 
to improve efficacy of allocation across registered provider stock. 

Housing and 
Registered 
Providers 

September 2022 

8.  Explore options for OT roles within ASC front door in line with 
Adaptations without delay 2019 

Housing and 
Adult Social 
Care 

March 2022 

9.  Evaluation of new grant programme and explore opportunities for 
further development of discretionary funding options to ensure equity 
of access to adaptations.  

Housing March 2023 

 

 

93



T
his page is intentionally left blank

94



Title 

CABINET 

 

Report subject  Bus Operator Enhanced Partnership (National Bus Strategy) 

Meeting date  1 September 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  Cabinet is asked to note that the Service Director for Transport and 
Engineering has used delegated authority to indicate to the 
Department for Transport (DfT) that the Council intends to enter 
into a statutory Enhanced Partnership (EP) with the local bus 
service operators from 1 April 2022. Local Transport Authorities 
and bus operators were asked to commit to forming an EP by 30 
June 2021 with the EP being operational from 1 April 2022. 

This report also seeks Cabinet approval to formally enter into the 
EP with the BCP local bus service operators under the Bus 
Services Act 2017 and in line with the National Bus Strategy for 
England.  

Failure to form an EP will result in no new sources of bus funding 
from the government’s £3bn budget and cessation of the COVID-19 
Bus Service Support Grant (CBSSG). 

Robust and ambitious Bus Service Improvement Plans are required 
by 31 October 2021 setting out a roadmap to better services for 
passengers and communities, fully informed by local needs. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) Cabinet supports the formation of an Enhanced 
Partnership with the bus operators as a replacement 
to the existing voluntary Quality Bus Partnership. 

(b) Cabinet delegates authority to the Service Director 

for Transport and Engineering in consultation with 

the Portfolio Holder for Transport and Sustainability 

to negotiate, seek stakeholder views and then 

publish a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) on 

behalf of the Council by the end of October 2021 in 

line with the requirements of the National Bus 

Strategy for England.  

95

Agenda Item 9



Reason for 
recommendations 

The recently published National Bus Strategy for England sets out 
an ambition for every local transport authority and bus operator in 
England to be in a statutory Enhanced Partnership or a franchising 
arrangement (entering into an EP does not preclude franchising in 
the future, however, achieving franchising is lengthy and complex 
with significant financial risk). 

Improving bus services to attract more passengers is a joint aim of 
the bus operators and the Local Transport Authority (LTA). 

An Enhanced Partnership will build on the good work undertaken 
through the voluntary Quality Bus Partnership over the last two 
decades. 

Not entering into an Enhanced Partnership will result in a significant 
financial funding loss for the council and for the bus operators. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Mike Greene, Cabinet Member for Transport and 
Sustainability 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Chief Operations Officer 

Report Authors John McVey, Sustainable Transport Policy Manager 

Richard Pincroft, Head of Transportation including Sustainable 
Travel 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background 

1. The local bus service industry has been deregulated (outside London) for 35 years 
and as a result the bus operators have largely determined the bus network. Bus 
operators have been free to operate routes wherever and whenever they consider 
there is a commercial case. They provide the vehicles, drivers and some of the 
infrastructure. Bus shelters, raised bus stop kerbs and bus priority measures are 
provided and funded by the LTA. Bus information (including Real Time), publicity 
and data provision are provided jointly.  

2. The LTA has the power to provide non-commercial bus services considered ‘socially 
necessary’ and currently does so through its bus subsidy budget. These 
predominately operate in the evenings, on Sundays and away from the main routes 
outside the peak hours.  

3. The Council, as the Travel Concession Authority, has the statutory duty to reimburse 
bus operators for journeys undertaken through the English National Concessionary 
Travel Scheme. This is a subsidy to the passenger and not the bus operators. The 
intention is for the bus operators to be no better or worse off as a result of the 
concessionary travel scheme. This means that they are compensated for the loss of 
revenue sustained from passengers who would otherwise be paying the full fare and 

96



for their costs associated with carrying the additional passengers generated by the 
scheme including extra buses where required. 

4. BCP Council and its predecessor Local Transport Authorities (LTAs) formed the first 
non-statutory (voluntary) Quality Bus Partnership for South East Dorset in 1999. 
This helped deliver significant patronage growth and at one stage Poole and 
Bournemouth were recorded as having the biggest increases in passenger numbers 
in the country. 

5. Bus patronage has been in general decline since the 1950s. Most recently in 
England it fell by 317m passenger journeys (6.9%) in the period between 2014/15 
and 2018/19. The decline in the BCP area has been much less severe. In 
recognition of the importance of buses to address emissions levels and to reverse 
the decline in usage onto a sustainable footing, government has published its 
National Bus Strategy for England.  

6. The Covid-19 pandemic continues to have an impact on bus patronage. Journey 
numbers are increasing but remain at between a half and two-thirds of pre-pandemic 
levels. This is due to a number of factors including continuing anxiety over using 
public transport following government messaging at the start of the pandemic to 
avoid it; home-working; and, fewer shopping trips. Government has been supporting 
local bus operators through the Covid Bus Service Support Grant (CBSSG) on a 
not-for-profit basis but this is being phased out. 

7. Greater emphasis will now be placed on partnership working, where LTAs and bus 
operators form statutory partnerships to define bus networks, service levels, and 
fares strategies. The government expects all LTAs to develop Bus Service 
Improvement Plans (BSIPs) and set up Enhanced Partnerships (EPs), as defined in 
the Bus Services Act 2017.The strategy represents the greatest change since 1985 
and provides the opportunity to give LTAs more control. 

8. Through the strategy, LTAs and bus operators are asked to commit to forming a 
statutory Enhanced Partnership (EP) if not already on the route to franchising and to 
jointly develop a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP). Dependent on how 
ambitious the BSIP is, LTAs and bus operators will benefit from £3bn of government 
funding over 5 years. 

9. A number of bus services cross the council boundary to/from the Dorset Council 
area, with key bus passenger destinations in both areas. Dorset Council will 
therefore be invited to EP meetings to ensure standards are applied consistently and 
seamlessly when services cross into the neighbouring authority area. This aligns 
with the joint approach to the Transforming Cities Fund covering the South East 
Dorset journey-to-work area and the Councils’ joint Local Transport Plan. 

10. As an alternative to an EP and where partnership working has failed to achieve 
improvements in bus services, the legislation does permit London-style franchising 
to be considered. However, the route to franchising is complex and can take several 
years, particularly for LTAs that are not Mayoral Combined Authorities (MCAs), and 
bus service franchising carries significant risk. Transport for Greater Manchester is 
the only city region outside London committed to bus service franchising. Forming 
an EP does not preclude franchising in the future should the statutory partnership 
not deliver the desired outcomes. 

11. It is possible to continue with the existing voluntary partnership working and not 
enter into the statutory arrangement. However, government has made it clear that 
this would result in a significant loss of funding for LTAs and bus operators. It is 

97



therefore strongly recommended that an Enhanced Partnership is formed. This is 
the preferred arrangement of the bus operators. 

12. The required government timescales are ambitious and highly challenging as set out 
in a DfT announcement made on 15 March 2021 with the following milestones 
presented: 

i. 30 June 2021 – LTAs to commit to establishing Enhanced Partnerships 
across their entire areas under the Bus Services Act 2017, and all bus 
operators to co-operate with the LTA throughout the process. If this 
requirement is not met LTAs and operators will no longer receive Covid-
19 Bus Services Support Grant (CBSSG), Bus Service Operators Grant 
(BSOG) or any new sources of bus funding from the £3bn budget. (Note: 
Due to the DfT timescale this decision was delegated to the Service 
Director for Transport and Engineering in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Transportation and Sustainability on 23 June 2021 and 
published on 29 June 2021). 

ii. 31 October 2021 – LTAs and bus operators to have jointly developed and 
published a robust and ambitious Bus Service Improvement Plan setting 
out a roadmap to better services for passengers and communities, fully 
informed by local needs. 

iii. 1 April 2022 – Fully structured Enhanced Partnerships must be up and 
running. 

 

Bus Service Improvement Plans  

13. Plans must be developed in collaboration with local bus operators, community 
transport bodies and local businesses, services and people. These will be living, 
transparent documents, with targets. LTAs will need to routinely publish six-monthly 
progress reports against these targets. Plans will need to:  

 

i. Cover the LTA’s full area, all local bus services within it, and the differing 
needs of any parts of that area (e.g. urban and rural elements). 

ii. Consider how the network should serve school, health, social care, 
employment and other services. 

iii. Drive improvement in accessibility for all. 

iv. Set targets for journey times and reliability improvements (for the LTA as a 
whole and in each of the largest towns in its area) – to be reported against 
publicly at least every six months. 

v. Identify where bus priority measures are needed, including consideration 
of Bus Rapid Transit routes to transform key corridors and how traffic 
management can be improved to benefit buses. 

vi. Demonstrate how bus services are integrated with other types of transport 
in their area such as connectivity to train stations and cycling and walking 
schemes, complementing these forms of travel and not competing with 
them. 

98



vii. Focus on delivering the bus network that LTAs (in consultation with 
operators) want to see, including how to address the under provision and 
overprovision of bus services and buses integrating with other modes. 

viii. Be updated annually and reflected in the authority’s Local Transport Plan 
and in other relevant local plans such as Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs). 

ix. Set out pressures on the road network, air quality issues and carbon 
reduction targets which improved bus services could address. 

x. Set targets for passenger growth and customer satisfaction. 

xi. Set out plans and costs for fares, ticketing and modal integration. 
Ultimately the strategy aims to see multi-modal ticketing. It is a local 
ambition for TfL-style daily fares capping (subject to financial 
considerations). 

xii. Set out how the objectives of the national strategy will be achieved, 
including growing bus use, and include a detailed plan for delivery.   

 

14. Note:  Changes to bus services that are subsidised by the council are not 
included within the BSIP. Any decisions relating to such services would be taken 
outside this process.  

Options Appraisal 

15. The council has three potential options with regards to bus services and its 
relationship with the bus operators: 

i. Continue with existing non-statutory Quality Bus Partnership (QBP)  

For: The existing voluntary QBP has resulted in notable improvements for 
bus passengers and at one stage had the biggest increase in bus patronage 
in England. 

Against: Successful though not transformational. This route would not 
attract any new government funding and would result in the loss of some 
existing funding. 

Not recommended 

ii. Form a statutory Enhanced Partnership. 

For: Provides opportunity for step change in bus patronage and mode share. 
Opens up future government funding opportunities and secures existing 
funding. Does not preclude consideration of franchising in the future should 
partnership working not deliver the desired outcomes. 

Against: None identified. 

Recommended 

iii. Commence proceedings towards franchising. 

For: Would give the council complete control of bus routes, timetables, 
vehicle standards, fares/ticketing, information etc. 

Against: High risk (financial, passenger impact, reputational). Lengthy 
process requiring secondary legislation. No evidence that partnership 

99



working cannot deliver the required outcomes. The council does not currently 
have the experience, resources or expertise to operate local bus services on 
the scale required. Would not meet government’s National Bus Strategy 
timetable so not an immediate option. 

Not Recommended 

Summary of financial implications 

16. Failing to form an Enhanced Partnership with the bus operators will preclude the 
LTA and bus operators from receiving any new sources of bus funding including the 
£3bn budget announced by government earlier this year. It will also be an end to the 
annual ringfenced BSOG grant currently received by the Council for subsidised 
services of £294,368. 

17.  DfT provided funding (Capacity Grant) of £100k to BCP Council for developing local 
bus proposals as outlined in the National Bus Strategy (NBS). In particular, it is 
being offered to help LTAs towards the development of their Enhanced Partnership 
Scheme (or where appropriate franchising scheme), and Bus Service Improvement 
Plans work, and to meet the timescales that go alongside that work. 

18. BCP Council is using the £100k grant to fund consultancy support as well as a 
temporary member of staff. The new staffing structure includes a Public Transport 
Officer post replacing a retiring member of staff.  

19. A further £177,498 Capacity Grant funding has been allocated to BCP Council to 
support this process. 

20. The Enhanced Partnership is a statutory version of the previous voluntary Quality 
Bus Partnership and it is not expected there will be any revenue pressures as a 
result of the change. Budgets are already in place to cover staffing, bus subsidy and 
concessionary fares reimbursement. 

21. In terms of funding the initiatives that are developed through the partnership, 
government has announced £3bn for buses outside London. Initially this will be 
invested across the rest of England as follows (with details to follow):  

• Supporting new and increased services – with at least £300m of funding to support the 
sector recover from the pandemic in 2021/22.  
• Giving LTAs the skills and people they need to deliver this strategy – with £25m of the 
£300m allocated in 2021/22. £100k has already been offered to each LTA.  
• Bus priority schemes to speed up journeys – with the first schemes delivered in 
2021/22.  
• Accelerating the delivery of zero emission buses with £120m in 2021/22.  
What we receive will depend on our ambition as shown by our Bus Service 
Improvement Plan (currently under development). 
  

22. It is expected that some of the funding will continue to go to the bus companies 
direct as currently. For example, for the local bus services they operate 
commercially they are paid Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG) which is a rebate 
of duty paid on fuel used. Other funding is expected to come via the Local  

100



Summary of legal implications 

23. Enhanced Partnerships are statutory arrangements created by the Bus Services Act 
2017. All parties have a stronger commitment to joint working than the voluntary 
Quality Bus Partnership arrangement previously in place. 

Summary of human resources implications 

24. In recognition of the requirement for specialist knowledge and relevant experience to 
develop a Bus Service Improvement Plan and establish an Enhanced Partnership 
with the Bus Operators, the Department for Transport has made available to Local 
Transport Authorities grants of £100k. BCP has used some of this funding to cover 
the costs of a temporary Public Transport Officer as well as external consultancy 
support. Account has also been taken through the Smarter Structures project of the 
need to ensure adequate public transport professional expertise to continue to 
develop and deliver bus service initiatives and improvements. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

25. In its recently published Decarbonising Transport Plan, the government set out its 
vision for a net zero transport system which will benefit us all. In the plan, public 
transport and active travel will be the natural first choice for our daily activities. We 
will use our cars less and be able to rely on a convenient, cost-effective and 
coherent public transport network. The bus is the most efficient user of road space 
and a vital part of an environmentally friendly local sustainable transport system. 
Actions taken by the council that negatively impact on bus service provision will 
make it more difficult to achieve this vision. It would also be contrary to the Council’s 
own 2030 zero carbon priority set out in the Corporate Strategy. 

Summary of public health implications 

26. Urban traffic speeds are falling by on average 2% every year, causing NOx 
emissions to rise. Diesel cars are the single biggest contributor to NOx levels, 
responsible for 41% of all NOx emissions from road transport. Buses are amongst 
the cleanest vehicles on our roads with many now achieving Euro VI emissions 
standards. 

27. An Expression of Interest in the government’s zero-emission bus fund (ZEBRA) was 
submitted to DfT. £8.4m was requested to support the purchase by Go South Coast 
of 43 electric buses and associated charging infrastructure. Unfortunately this 
application was unsuccessful, however, a further submission will be made when the 
opportunity arises. 

Summary of equality implications 

An EIA conversation/screening document has been completed on 8 June 2021and 
been approved by the EIA panel.   

EIA Summary: 

101



The recommended decision to enter into an Enhanced Partnership between 

BCP Council and local bus operators is the first required step in our obligations 

under the government National Bus Strategy. The decision in itself has no 

specific impacts but the progression of the Enhanced Partnership from April 

2022 as a result of the decision will have equality impacts. As the overall aim of 

entering into the partnership is to improve local bus services, when developed 

there are significant anticipated positive equality impacts – based on the profile 

of people that use bus services. These benefits will not just affect existing 

people who use buses but also potential users as the strategy aims to 

encourage people that have not necessarily used bus before to do so.  

The profile of people that use buses from both national and local evidence are 

groups the Equality Act is intended to benefit by advancing equality of 

opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those 

who do not.   Much older, much younger age groups, people with a disability, 

women, other ethnic groups, other religions, other sexual orientations and 

residents from more deprived areas are all more likely to use buses, compared 

to others in their protected groups. When the strategy is developed improved 

bus services will give wider transport choice to all, but notably improve 

opportunities for the groups listed above.  

Wider benefits to our communities through improved transport to access 

employment, education, healthcare, retail and leisure opportunities will also 

result in positive equality implications. Visitors to our area will also benefit from 

an enhanced public transport network.  

The initial intended recommendation to decide to enter into an Enhanced 

Partnership is the first stage in realising the equality benefits suggested above. 

Further assessment will be needed as the partnership formally starts and 

develops to determine equality impacts when specific actions are discussed, 

agreed and implemented.  

 

Summary of risk assessment 

No hazards identified. 

Background papers 

1. Bus Back Better - A National Bus Strategy for England 

2. Bus service improvement plan - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

3. The National Bus Strategy Delivering Bus Service Improvement Plans using an 

Enhanced Partnership (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Appendices   

None  

102

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bus-service-improvement-plan
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/998184/bus-services-act-2017-enhanced-partnerships-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/998184/bus-services-act-2017-enhanced-partnerships-guidance.pdf


CABINET 

 

Report subject  Christchurch Business Improvement District 

Meeting date  1 September 2021 

Status  Public Report 

Executive summary  Christchurch Business Improvement District (BID) Steering Group 
is preparing to take its BID Proposal to a postal ballot from 2 
September 2021 – 30 September 2021. Result of the Ballot will be 
announced on 1 October 2021 

If successful at ballot the 5-year BID Term will run from November 
2021 to 31 October 2026. This report seeks Cabinet approval for 
the Council to support Christchurch BID for the first term.     

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 Cabinet agree BCP Council’s support of the Christchurch 
Business Improvement District (BID); and agree: 

i) To endorse the BID proposal that will be submitted to 
BCP Council on 26 July 2021 by the Christchurch BID 
Steering Group.  

ii) To note that the BID ballot will be run by CIVICA at a 
cost of £3,000. This cost would be paid for by the BCP 
Council Economic Development team through existing 
budgets.  

iii) To note that if the ballot is successful, the Council will 
pay any BID levy due in relation to the Council’s 
hereditaments within the BID area (totalling £16,211 per 
annum) for 5 years. The service units that own the 
liable premises will pay the levy for their site(s). 

iv) To authorise the Director of Economic Development to 
complete the ballot papers on behalf of the Council in 
favour of the BID proposal.  

v) To authorise the Head of Legal Services to complete 
any necessary legal agreements required for the 
operation of the BID Levy, Ballot and service 
arrangements and any other necessary matters for the 
proposed BID in consultation with the appropriate 
officers.   

103

Agenda Item 10



 

Reason for 
recommendations 

BCP Council is fully supportive of BIDs and the significant benefits 
and investment that they bring. The Christchurch BID proposal will 
help deliver the Council’s strategic aims and objectives including 
the Dynamic Places objectives in the Corporate Plan. It is therefore 
recommended that BCP Council supports the Christchurch BID for 
its first 5-year term. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Philip Broadhead 

Corporate Director  Adam Richens, Chief Finance Officer and Director of Finance 

Report Authors Adrian Trevett, Head of Economic Development 

Paula Sales, Economic Development Officer   

Wards  Christchurch Town;  

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background 

1. Business Improvement Districts (BID) are business led partnerships, created 
through a ballot process to deliver additional improvements and services for local 
businesses. BIDs have a defined geographical area in which a levy is charged on 
all business rate payers in addition to their business rates bill. The funding is 
ringfenced to provide additional improvements and services identified by the 
businesses. BIDs are typically run as not for profit companies and are controlled 
by the businesses that fund them.  

2. For a BID to be successful it needs to meet the two criteria of achieving a  
majority (over 50%) of eligible businesses voting yes (each hereditament has one 
vote, irrespective of size), and also for all of those voting in favour to represent a 
majority of the total rateable value of all businesses voting. If these two criteria 
are met, then the levy becomes mandatory across all eligible businesses in the 
area. 

3. BCP Council fully supports 3 existing BIDs in the BCP region – Bournemouth 
BID, Bournemouth Coastal BID and Poole BID.  

 

 

Christchurch Business Improvement District (BID)  

 

4. The Christchurch Business Engagement Group (Christchurch Chamber of Trade 
and Commerce, Christchurch Businesses and Christchurch Borough Council) 
carried out several Public Engagement Meetings with businesses and stakeholders 

104



in 2017 and 2018. A result of these meetings was the agreement to carry out a 
Feasibility Study to see if a BID could be viable in Christchurch Town Centre. 

5. The Feasibility Study was carried out in 2018 with detailed business consultation 
and the results presented at a Public Meeting in April 2019. The result of the 
Feasibility Study confirmed that it was feasible to develop a BID in Christchurch 
Town Centre.  

6. The Christchurch Business Improvement District (BID) Steering Group was 
established from the former Business Engagement Group. The Steering Group 
includes Christchurch Businesses, Christchurch Town Council, BCP Council and 
Dorset Police.  

7. The Steering Group was successful in July 2019 in its application to the 
Governments BID Loan Fund to develop a BID in Christchurch. The Loan Fund 
covers the required Stages of a BID Development. 

8. In October 2019 the BID Development Stage began with businesses being 
consulted with and surveyed. There were also a series of business information 
sessions and workshops. The results were presented in March 2020 showing a 
continued support for a BID.  

9. The Steering Group have also set up a dedicated Christchurch BID website 
www.christchurchbid.co.uk and social media pages. There has been distribution of 5 
business information sheets to date which are also available on the website. 

10. The COVID 19 Pandemic created an enforced break in the face to face business 
engagement. The Steering Group has had to meet virtually from March 2020 to July 
2021. The Information Sheets have continued to be produced and information 
updated on the website and social media pages.  

11. The BID Business Plan will be launched at a Public Meeting on the 12 August 2021 
following extensive further business consultation. It will also be available on the BID 
Website www.christchurchbid.co.uk 

12. The area of the Christchurch BID is outlined on the Map in Appendix 1 and is also 
included in the Business Plan. 

13. The BID Steering Group is preparing for the start of the postal ballot on 2 September 
2021 to seek a 5-year term until end October 2026, which will start on 1 November 
2021. 

14. Key Dates:  

Notice of Ballot issued – 19 August 2021 

Ballot papers issued – 2 September 2021 

Ballot end – 30 September 2021 

Ballot Decision – 1 October 2021 

New term – 1 November 2021 

 

15. The rate of the levy being proposed for the ballot is 1.75% of a business’s rateable 
value (RV). 

105

http://www.christchurchbid.co.uk/


16. Any tenant of a managed centre who are subject to a service charge would pay a 
reduced rate of 1.3% to reflect the fact that their service charge covers some of the 
services which would be provided by the BID. 

17. All Non-Domestic Ratepayers within the proposed boundary, as outlined within this 
Business Plan, would be liable to pay the BID levy, with the exception of 1) Any 
hereditament with a rateable value below £5,000,2) Any School or 3) Any Day 
Nursery. 

18. The number of eligible businesses (hereditaments) in the defined area is 271. The 
sum expected to be raised from the levy is £124,500 per annum for a period of 5 
years, totalling £622,500 of investment into the town centre. This figure does not 
include any additional sponsorship or match funding that the BID would inevitably 
secure. 

19. The BID has produced a draft Business Plan for 2021-2026 (which will be available 
on the BID Website from August 2021) which outlines the areas that it will seek to 
address including a:  

Christchurch ENHANCED - Businesses have prioritised: 

 Car parking discounts 

 Improving the appearance of empty shops 

 Car parking arrangements to provide additional spaces 

 Increased floral planting or landscaping 

 Street cleansing & washing, including chewing gum removal 

 Town Centre Wi-Fi for visitors 

 Physical improvements to paving, landscaping or street furniture 

 

Christchurch ANIMATED - Businesses have prioritised:  

 More major town centre events or festivals  

 New seasonal events, including more Christmas activities 

 

Christchurch PROMOTED - Businesses have prioritised: 

 Marketing & promotion to project the town to a far wider audience 

 Projects to encourage investment into Christchurch 

 Social Media campaigning 

 Visitor website 

 Business to business communication 

 

Christchurch SUPPORTED- Businesses have prioritised: 

 Projects to encourage investment into Christchurch 

 Schemes to save businesses money on their overheads 

106



 Business to business communication 

 

 

Options Appraisal 

20. Option 1:  

Council fully supports 3 existing BIDs in the BCP region as they bring significant 
benefits and investment to the BCP region.  

Option 2:  

If support is not offered for the Christchurch BID there could be reputational damage 
to the Council. If the BID is not voted in there would be a loss of over £622,500 of 
investment into Christchurch Town Centre. This would be very harmful to the town 
centre and would be contrary to the aims and objectives of the BCP Council 
Strategy. 

 

Summary of financial implications 

21. It has been agreed in consultation of officers, that on behalf of BCP Council, the 
Stour Valley and Poole Partnership (SVPP) Revenue and Benefits service will 
undertake the task of billing the levy to all businesses, and then pass the funding 
across to the BID Company. This is at no cost to the Council as the costs of 
undertaking this role (£8,871 in Year 1 and £7,984 per annum in Years 2-5) will be 
funded from the levy collection sum.  

22. The payment will be taken prior to passing on the remainder of collected funds 
across to the BID company. 

23. There are however two financial implications for the Council:  

 The Council are a landowner for 17 liable hereditaments in the BID boundary 
(see Appendix 2). As such, the Council are liable for £16,211 per year 
(£81,055 over 5 years) if the ballot is successful. The service units that own 
the liable hereditaments will pay the levy for their hereditament as they will 
benefit from the BID. 

 The ballot will run by CIVICA at a cost of £3,000. The cost of the ballot is 
paid for by the local authority and it has been agreed this cost would be paid 
for by BCP Council Economic Development through existing budgets. 

Summary of legal implications 

24. Christchurch BID as a company, would be limited by guarantee. 

25. Christchurch BID would be run by a Board of Directors, all of whom would represent 
businesses from the private sector or organisations paying the BID levy. Members of 
Christchurch BID elect their Board of Directors. The Board of Directors will be 
responsible for the delivery of projects, ensuring that they are delivered on time, in 
budget and to the highest standards possible. 

107



26. An Operations Agreement has been drafted by the Stour Valley and Poole 
Partnership (SVPP) Revenues and Benefits Service that outlines the terms of the 
relationship between the BID company and the billing authority. 

27. Baseline Agreements have been drawn up with relevant Service Unit Heads 
covering: Regulatory Services; Cleansing; Car Parking; CCTV; Market; Tourism and 
Events. The Baseline Agreements determine the current commitments of the 
Council in the BID area to ensure that there is no duplication of activities from the 
BID funds. Legislation states that BID activity is not to replace services provided by 
the local authority. 

Summary of human resources implications 

28. There are no human resources implications. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

29. Christchurch BID supports businesses and employment in the town centre.  A 
thriving and vibrant town centre has sustainability benefits as the town centre is well 
served by public transport. 

Summary of public health implications 

30. There are no public health implications. 

Summary of equality implications 

31. The BID would make a positive contribution to the town centre. It would continue to 
improve the vitality and viability of the town centre thereby creating (and retaining) 
employment opportunities. It would also fund safety measures to make the town 
centre a safer and more welcoming environment. 

Summary of risk assessment 

32. The financial risks have been identified above. There would be a reputational risk if 
the Council do not support the Christchurch BID ballot (whilst supporting other BIDs). 

 

Background papers 

None. Link to Christchurch BID - www.christchurchbid.co.uk 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – Christchurch BID Area  

Appendix 2 - Council owned sites  

 

 

 

 

108



Appendix 1 - Christchurch BID area 

  

 

 

 

 

 

109



Appendix 2 - Council owned sites 

BCP COUNCIL COUNCIL OFFICES BRIDGE STREET CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 

 

2 RIVERSMEET LEISURE 
CENTRE LTD 

STONY LANE SOUTH CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 

 

SAXON SQUARE 

CAR PARK 

SAXON SQUARE CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 

 
 

CHRISTCHURCH 
LIBRARY 

DRUITT BUILDINGS CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 

 

CAR PARK R/O 11-13 HIGH 
STREET 

 

CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 

 

PRIORY 

CAR PARK 

QUAY ROAD CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 

 

WICK LANE 

CAR PARK 

DRUITT GARDENS CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 
 

BY-PASS 

CAR PARK 

BARGATES CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL TWO RIVERS MEET 
LEISURE CENTRE 

CAR PARK 

STONY LANE SOUTH CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 
 

MARKET HIGH STREET CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 

 

MAYORS MEAD  

CAR PARK 

WICK LANE CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL ADJ CIVIC OFFICES 

CAR PARK 

BRIDGE STREET CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL  27 HIGH STREET CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 
 

C V KEYNES QUOMPS WICK LANE CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL 
 

PIT SITE  

CAR PARK 

BARRACK ROAD CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL SOPLER LANE  

CAR PARK 

WILLOW WAY CHRISTCHURCH 

BCP COUNCIL PUBLIC CONVENIENCES SAXON SQUARE CHRISTCHURCH 

110



 

 

111



This page is intentionally left blank

112



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Service structure  

Meeting date  1 September 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  A new Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) 
staffing structure is required after a Dorset Council change of 
direction with shared partnership line management. 

Over the last couple of years a Dorset Wide Partnership to tackle 
the issues of Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk was set up in 
response to encouragement from the Environment Agency wanting 
to see more projects delivered, as well as recognition of the 
success of FCERM Partnerships in other authorities. 

On that journey, BCP have employed key skills able to create that 
model, both from a managerial perspective as well as technical. 
Dorset Council, although wanting to have independent teams, still 
wish to work collaboratively and it is recognised that many of the 
skills required to deliver Dorset based projects are employed by 
BCP. Also, the increase in capability has resulted in requests for 
collaborative support for other authorities (Devon, Cornwall, New 
Forest and the Environment Agency).  

Formation of an independent BCP Council Centre of Excellence is 
recommended, building on existing reputation and allowing delivery 
of collaborative working opportunities. 

The business model changes to FCERM over the last couple of 
years have demonstrated the ability to deliver more projects, 
increase income, attract quality staff and reduce reliance on 
consultancy support. Not only does this direction achieve more on 
the ground, it will result in longer term savings. 

The basics of the business model with a broader team (either via 
Partnership or Centre of Excellence): 

 Key skills can be targeted 

 More attractive in the market for quality staff 

 More able to bid for grant funding (under permissive 
powers, so many authorities don’t realise they could be 
bidding to do more) 

 More able to deliver the projects in-house 

113

Agenda Item 11



 Grant funding provides income offsetting the staff costs 

 Communities get more projects delivered making them 
more resilient to climate change 

 Reputation increases ability to recruit and retain staff 

 Reputation also gives confidence to our funding partners 
who support our delivery (Environment Agency 

These key facts have already been demonstrated very clearly. 
Employment has seen staff joining who are very well recognised in 
the industry sector. This in turn has led to project funding following 
them, or other authorities requesting support where once they 
sought it from consultancies. 

Grant funding has increased considerably, e.g. Poole Bay Beach 
Management (£36m), Poole Bridge to hunger Hill (£12.5m), 
Christchurch Bay and Harbour Strategy (£450k – will lead to £m’s 
on project delivery). At a recent national funding meeting, the EA’s 
Area Flood Risk Manager described BCP as ‘best in class’ for the 
Wessex region also demonstrating the reputation that has built with 
our funding partners. 

This proposal sets out a new FCERM service structure that delivers 
a much higher quality of service, able to address the increasing risk 
from climate change and at no additional cost to the Council.   

On the face of the tabulated budget figures in section 11, the salary 
expenditure has risen. However, the budget for the Surface Water 
Team sat separately (£290k) which has now been moved into the 
salary pot. Also, considerable expenditure on consultancy support 
has historically been spent directly against capital budgets, the cost 
of which is not shown within salaries. The new model reduces that 
need by employing staff where appropriate. Not only does that 
increase income, it also retains the skills and knowledge. The 
FCERM team increased their income from £40k to £400k last year. 
Employing internally also drastically reduces the staff costs on the 
projects. 

The proposal to change the model at no extra cost is conservative 
and the FCERM team are confident it will lead to bigger savings in 
the longer run. Nationally, the budgets for Flood Defence Grant in 
Aid have doubled from £2.6bn to £5.2bn over the next 6 years. The 
new model will give us the best chance of bidding for those funds 
and preparing ourselves and our communities for climate change. 

114



Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) Approval be given for the proposed FCERM service 
structure.  

(b) Support be given to the principle of a ‘Centre of Excellence’ 
approach and taking up requests to support neighbouring 
authorities and FCERM delivery bodies for the South West 
region. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To allow formation of an independent FCERM service in BCP 
Council, no longer recognising a single line management structure 
across BCP and Dorset Councils, but facilitating a collaborative 
working arrangement. 

To enable decisions to be made to take on additional external 
income related work for regional authorities and the Environment 
Agency. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Mark Anderson – Portfolio Holder for Environment, 
Cleansing and Waste 

Corporate Director  Julian McLaughlin – Service Director, Transport & Engineering 

Report Authors Matt Hosey – Head of Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management (FCERM) 

Alan Frampton – FCERM Strategy & Policy Manager 

Wards  Not applicable  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background 

1. Over the last couple of years, BCP Council have been working under a signed 
partnership agreement with Dorset Council, including shared line management, as 
part of a process to form a single FCERM Service for the entire coastline of Dorset, 
from Chewton Bunny in the east to Lyme Regis in the west. On preparing a 
recommendation to create a full shared service, with shared staffing budget, a 
change in approach was requested from Dorset Council to move to a position 
whereby BCP and Dorset have independent FCERM teams that work in 
collaboration, rather than forming a single team. 

2. A formal letter was received from Dorset Council on 25 May to make this change in 
approach clear and to withdraw from the existing partnership agreement. 

3. The BCP Council FCERM service therefore needs to adapt their line management 
structure to ensure staff are managed effectively and the growing portfolio of 
projects as well as external requests for support can be delivered. 

115



4. Both the original Dorset wide Partnership structure and the proposed structure are 
shown below. 

5. Original Structure: 

 

6. Proposed structure: 

 

116



7. The proposals see the employment of an additional six members of staff in the team, 
required to cover for the increasing number of grant funded projects as well as 
replacing expenditure on consultancy support. 

Options Appraisal 

8. The original proposal to have a single FCERM team serving all of Dorset would have 
been the best position in terms of management efficiencies and allowing available 
budget to be focussed on recruitment of technical staff. The change in direction 
requested by Dorset Council to have fully independent FCERM teams that work in 
collaboration means that both councils now need to have full management teams. In 
considering the options for BCP Council in this regard, they were considered to be: 

a. Establish an FCERM ‘centre of excellence’ with a line management 
structure to ensure staff are managed effectively and the growing portfolio 
of projects as well as external requests for support can be delivered.  

b. Operate an FCERM service with reduced staffing levels and rely on 
external consultant support, which has been demonstrated to cost more 
longer-term so is not the best use of available resources. 

9. Based on the two options available, option (a) provides the best value approach to 
BCP Council, ensuring BCP communities are served by a high-quality, expert 
FCERM team with local knowledge and experience. 

10. The BCP ‘centre of excellence’ approach gives the following key advantages (many 
of which have already been demonstrated over the last 2 years since the business 
model changed): 

 Retention of in-house knowledge, fully integrated with other BCP services 
(e.g. Planning) 

 Attracts better quality staff due to career prospects and broader work 
portfolio 

 Increases ability to bid for funding and to deliver more projects for our 
residents  

 Increases income, offsetting salary expenditure 

 Increases reputation in the industry sector, particularly giving confidence to 
our funding partners 

 Reduces reliance on more expensive consultancy support. 

Summary of financial implications 

11. The proposed budget changes will not result in a pressure on the budget or on-going 
MTFP.  The table shows the comparison between the current 2021/22 budget and 
the proposed structure.   

117



 

12. The current 2021/22 net service budget is £862k. The proposed staffing structure is 
estimated to cost £1.346m, an increase of £649k.  The FCERM capital team 
averaged a return of 130% of their cost last year demonstrating value in quality 
internal recruitment as opposed to using consultancy support; the proposed 
structure increases employed staff and reduces the need for using external 
consultants.  This means that the £290k third party payment budget currently used 
to purchase resources from WSP for Lead Local Flood Authority duties (Surface 
Water Flood Risk) can be transferred to salary budgets and fill some of the salary 
budget gap.  

13. Considerable funding has historically been spent on consultancy staff directly 
against capital budgets. This would not show against the salaries budget above as 
they are not directly employed. Bringing those roles in house increases our salary 
budget but directly provides additional income to offset, not only for the role, but also 
support services as part of their recharge rate. For example, in 20/21 the staff 
working on the Poole Bay Beach Management scheme averaged a return of 130% 
of their salaries. They were also a far lower cost against the scheme budgets. 

14. Much of the work carried out by the service is on projects and is recharged to 
capital.  In 2020/21 the income budget for capital recharges was originally £40k,  the 
outturn position was £396k.  With increased staff numbers undertaking more 
projects, and with government funding to support these projects increasing 
(government have doubled the funding for FCERM delivery from £2.6Bn to £5.2Bn 
for the next 6-year period) the proposed capital recharge budget is set to increase to 
£573k to cover the remaining salary budget gap. This will allow for the net budget 
position of £862k to be maintained.  

15. Additional BCP Council projects such as the Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill Scheme, 
Christchurch Bay and Harbour Strategy and the Dorset Coastal Asset database all 
need significant staff input giving a high level of confidence to the increase recharge 
target. Undertaking further work for external authorities will only add to that income 

Budget Changes as a result of the propsals

21/22 

Current

21/22 

Proposed

£ £

Salaries 696,600 1,345,925 

Premises 19,200 19,200 

Transport 2,200 5,000 

Supplies and Services 65,100 65,100 

Third Party Payments 290,000 0 

Total Expenditure 1,073,100 1,435,225 

Recharges to Capital (210,800) (572,925)

Net Budget 862,300 862,300

118



potential. There will also be a greater ability to bid for funds under our permissive 
powers and being able to recharge staff time against those budgets. This also gives 
high confidence that FCERM will in continue to increase income against budget. 

16. The structure has been developed with a transitional employment model in mind, 
whereby recruitment will only be undertaken once projects have been accepted and 
appropriate funding identified and anticipated. This mitigates the risk of taking on 
and having to pay staff without achieving the required income levels and also means 
that redundancy is highly unlikely, only if the government determined that Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk was no longer a priority would exit costs become an issue 
under this proposal.  If the capital budgets available are significantly reduced in the 
future, then appropriate management action to reduce the staffing costs would be 
required. 

Recruitment will be approached in a controlled manner in line with regular financial 
monitoring. However, budget forecasts are already showing an income level that 
would support full recruitment of the new structure, even without income against 
additional staff (hence the high confidence).  

Financial risks 

17. CIPFA accounting permits the capitalisation of all direct costs relating to the 
construction of an asset, which includes allowance for direct staff time, provided 
supporting evidence for the basis of this charge exists. Recharges to capital will 
therefore be supported by detailed timesheets. 

18. Grant funding for capital projects should be applied to capital spend as outlined in 
project specific business cases approved by grant provider. All future business 
cases should therefore continue to include appropriate allowance for staff time as 
well as tangible costs of asset construction.  

19. There is sufficient capital grant secured within the coastal protection capital 
programme to cover the immediate term of the FCERM proposal. 

20. There is some longer-term risk around recruiting staff in advance of future capital 
grant being secured. The capital programme will need to be monitored over the next 
5 years to ensure the FCERM service continues to be managed within budget. This 
could mean future redundancy costs if insufficient new capital grant funding is 
secured. Based on previous experience, including turnover levels this risk is likely to 
be manageable. 

Value for Money 

21. The proposal presents the opportunity to realise efficiencies and savings from 
reduced use of external providers. Even after competitive tendering processes are 
followed, the cost of external contractors is higher than using internal staff. 

22. The FCERM service will continue to access external specialist technical support if 
and when required. 

Summary of legal implications 

23. Any work undertaken for external authorities will need a legal agreement in place to 
cover liabilities associated with each task/project. Historically, with Dorset Council, 
this has been via the existing Partnership Agreement, but this will be moving to a 
Public Sector Collaboration Agreement (PSCA). It is anticipated the approach will 
involve BCP Council staff effectively delivering as being ‘on secondment’ to any 

119



external authority. Legal services are currently working with us to establish an 
agreement template before any external work is undertaken. 

24. Each project/task will also be assessed in its own right regarding any potential 
liabilities. 

Summary of human resources implications 

25. This request results in 6 additional posts, allowing for growth with the FCERM 
Centre of Excellence approach. This also recognises the need to have managers in 
place where they were once provided by Dorset Council and ability to deliver against 
the growing portfolio of projects. 

26. A Job Evaluation has already been completed for the Surface Water Manager role 
and recruitment to that team to enable BCP Council to fulfil their Lead Local Flood 
Authority responsibilities is a high priority (currently a heavy reliance on consultancy 
support). Job Evaluation will be needed for the remaining 2 managerial roles. 

27. The proposed approach will see us continue to attract good quality staff. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

28. There is no sustainability impact. 

Summary of public health implications 

29. There are no public health implications. 

Summary of equality implications 

30. There are no equality implications of this recommendation. 

Summary of risk assessment 

31. A change to the FCERM Structure has to happen to reflect the fact that Dorset staff 
are no longer participating in a single line management partnership, therefore a new 
independent BCP Council FCERM Service structure is proposed. 

32. BCP Council FCERM have been very successful with both recruitment and project 
delivery over the last 2 years and we continue to enhance our reputation. 
Neighbouring authorities as well as the Wessex Region Environment Agency are 
looking to BCP Council for support and a move to create a ‘Centre of Excellence’ in 
Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management. This is an opportunity to clearly 
demonstrate we are taking the climate change emergency seriously. 

33. The proposed structure will not result in any additional budget requirement.  If the 
business model were to become less affordable (e.g. reduction in available capital 
budgets), then staffing would be tailored to suit. However, FCERM track record on 
budget management clearly demonstrates this is a low risk.  

34. It is recommended to allow the FCERM service to continue growth in capacity 
through implementation of the proposed structure. Importantly, this will result in 
more flood and coastal erosion risk initiatives being implemented for our 
communities. 

Background papers 

None 

Appendices   

There are no appendices to this report. 

120



CABINET FORWARD PLAN – 1 SEPTEMBER 2021 TO 31 DECEMBER 
2021 

(PUBLICATION DATE – 13 August 2021) 
 

 

What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

Older Peoples 
Care Home 
Strategy 

To seek approval for 
the strategic approach 
to shaping and 
developing the care 
home market that 
meets the needs of the 
Council and NHS 
Dorset Clincial 
Commissioning Group. 

Yes Health and 
Adult Social 

Care Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 
26 Jul 2021 

 
Cabinet 

1 Sep 2021 

All Wards NHS partners 
and care home 
providers 

On line and 
focus groups 
over a 4 week 
period. 

Phil Hornsby Open 

 

Extra Care 
Housing 
Strategy for 
Vulnerable 
Adults and 
Older People 

To seek approval for a 
strategic approach to 
the development of 
housing with care 
accommodation 
options that support 
independence for older 
people and vulnerable 
adults. 

Yes Health and 
Adult Social 

Care Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 
26 Jul 2021 

 
Cabinet 

1 Sep 2021 

All Wards NHS partners, 
extra care 
housing 
developers and 
care providers 

On line and 
focus groups 
over a 4 week 
period. 

Phil Hornsby Open 

 

121

A
genda Item

 14



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Disabled 
Facilities Grant 
Policy 

To seek approval of the 
new BCP Policy for the 
management and 
award of Disabled 
Facilities Grant funding 
to residents of BCP 
who require 
adaptations. 

Yes Health and 
Adult Social 

Care Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 
16 Jul 2021 

 
Cabinet 

1 Sep 2021 

 
Council 

14 Sep 2021 

All Wards Adult's and 
Children's Social 
Care 
Service User 
Groups 
Third Sector 
organisations 
Registered 
Providers 

Feedback 
through e-mail 
and meetings 
over a 3 week 
period. 

Tracey Kybert Open 

 

122



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Bus Operator 
Enhanced 
Partnership 
(National Bus 
Strategy) 

Cabinet is asked to 
note that the Service 
Director for Transport 
and Engineering has 
used delegated 
authority to indicate to 
the Department for 
Transport (DfT) that the 
Council intends to enter 
into a statutory 
Enhanced Partnership 
(EP) with the local bus 
service operators from 
1 April 2022. Local 
Transport Authorities 
and bus operators were 
asked to commit to 
forming an EP by 30 
June 2021 with the EP 
being operational from 
1 April 2022. 
This report also seeks 
approval to formally 
enter into the EP with 
the BCP local bus 
service operators under 
the Bus Services Act 
2017 and in line with 
the National Bus 
Strategy for England.  

Yes Cabinet 
1 Sep 2021 

 
Council 

14 Sep 2021 

All Wards   John McVey Open 

 

123



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Christchurch 
Business 
Improvement 
District 

Christchurch BID 
Steering Group is 
preparing to take its 
BID Proposal to a 
postal ballot from 2 
September 2021 – 30 
September 2021.  
Result of the Ballot will 
be announced on 1 
October 2021 
If successful at ballot 
the 5-year BID Term 
will run from November 
2021 to 31 October 
2026.  
This report seeks 
Cabinet approval for 
the Council to support 
Christchurch BID for 
the first term. 

No Cabinet 

1 Sep 2021 

Christchurch 
Town 

  Paula Sales Open 

 

124



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

FCERM Service 
structure – 
Smarter 
Structures 
alteration 

A new Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management (FCERM) 
staffing structure is 
required after a Dorset 
Council change of 
direction with shared 
partnership line 
management. 
Formation of an 
independent BCP 
Centre of Excellence is 
recommended, building 
on existing reputation 
and allowing delivery of 
collaborative working 
opportunities. 
The business model 
changes to FCERM 
over the last couple of 
years have 
demonstrated the 
ability to deliver more 
projects, increase 
income, attract quality 
staff and reduce 
reliance on consultancy 
support. Not only does 
this direction achieve 
more on the ground, it 
will result in longer term 
savings. 

Yes Cabinet 

1 Sep 2021 

 Julian 
McLaughlin 

This has been 
through CMB 
who 
recommended it 
be raised to 
Cabinet for final 
approval. 

Alan Frampton, 
Matt Hosey 

Open 

 

125



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Carters Quay 
Build to Rent 
Opportunity, 
Poole 

 No Cabinet 

1 Sep 2021 

Hamworthy    Part Exempt 

 

         

BCP: New 
Approach to 
Regeneration 

To update Cabinet on 
the Council's proposed 
approach to 
Regeneration including 
an update on the 
formation of the Urban 
Regeneration 
Company. 

Yes Cabinet 
29 Sep 2021 

 
Council 

9 Nov 2021 

All Wards   Dave Anderson Open 

 126



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

High Streets 
and District 
Centres 
Strategy 

The strategy looks at 
our High Streets and 
District Centres through 
the lens of economic 
growth, focusing on 
creating an 
environment for 
economic vibrancy and 
to enable a high 
quality, world class 
visitor experience. It 
sets the objectives and 
forms the framework 
for a series of more 
detailed project-specific 
Action Plans that will 
be produced for each 
High Street and District 
Centre. 

No Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

All Wards None None Liz Orme, Paula 
Sales, Chris 
Shephard, Adrian 
Trevett 

Open 

 

127



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Smart Place 
Strategy and 
Programme 
Updates 

To set out the Smart 
Place Strategy and 
Business Plan  
To update on the Smart 
Place Pilot 
To update on the Smart 
Place Programme 
To update on the Smart 
Place Investment Plan  
To set out potential 
procurement route 
options to support 
delivery of the Smart 
Place Strategy  

Yes Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

All Wards Directors 
Strategy Group 
Corporate 
Management 
Board 

An element of 
the Smart Place 
Strategy will be 
consulted on in 
June. This will 
include possible 
use cases and 
applications 

Ruth Spencer Fully exempt 

 

BCP Housing 
Strategy 2021-
2026 

To share with members 
the new BCP Housing 
Strategy which will 
detail the current and 
anticipated future 
housing issues, setting 
out the priorities and 
delivery options to 
address local needs 

No Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

All Wards All other BCP 
Services as well 
as many 
external 
stakeholders 

Public 
consultation (12 
weeks) with 
options paper 
along with a 
number of 
stakeholder 
engagement 
sessions 

Lorraine Mealings Open 

 

128



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Council New 
Build & 
Acquisition 
Strategy 

To provide an 
approach for the 
Council’s internal 
development 
programme and seek 
members approval to 
endorse the proposed 
strategy. 

Yes Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

 Appropriate 
Service Areas 
within the 
Council, all BCP 
councillors and 
Key Portfolio 
holders. 

A series of 
internal 
workshops/ 
stress testing 
including 
Housing 
Delivery 
Steering Group. 
All member 
seminars etc. 

Nigel Ingram Open 

 

Quarter One 
Budget 
Monitoring 
Report 

To provide budget 
monitoring information 
for the end for quarter 1 
with explanations for 
significant variances. 
The report may also 
include budget 
virements for approval 
by Cabinet or Council. 
 

No Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

All Wards CMB CMB Nicola Webb Open 

 

129



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Community and 
Voluntary 
Sector and 
Volunteering 
Strategy 

Adoption of compact 
dealing the Council’s 
approach to working 
with the voluntary 
sector (harmonisation) 

Yes Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

All Wards Voluntary sector 
organisations 
and internal 
departments. 

Public 
Consultation 
April/May 2021 
and 
internal/external 
stakeholder 
engagement 
April-July 2021 

Cat McMilan, Amy 
Gallacher 

Open 

 

Community 
Engagement 
and 
Consultation 
Strategy 

Approval of strategy No Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

 The community 
and internal 
departments. 

Public 
consultation Jan 
to April 2020. 
Internal 
consultation 
April-May 2020. 

Cat McMilan Open 

 

130



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Cleaner, 
Greener, Safer 

A key building block to 
a thriving place with 
satisfied residents and 
visitors is a streetscene 
that is clean, green and 
safe. We want our 
conurbation to have a 
clean physical 
environment; to be 
somewhere where 
people feel safe and 
secure; to be an 
environment that 
people treat with 
respect; and to be a 
place that people have 
pride in. 
 
The report outlines a 
set a proposed strategy 
and the resource 
investment needed to 
support the realisation 
of these key grass 
roots aims. 

No Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

All Wards   Kate Langdown Open 

 

131



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Complaints and 
2020/21 
LGSCO annual 
report 

To provide cabinet with 
an update on 
complaints received 
and concluded within 
the 2020/21 financial 
year and to report the 
details of the Local 
Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman 
Annual Report 

No Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

All Wards   Graeme Smith Open 

 

Spending 
priorities for 
Strategic 
Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy 

To agree the spending 
priorities for the use of 
strategic Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
collected from 
development to support 
growth through the 
provision of 
infrastructure. 

Yes Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

All Wards   Steve Dring Open 

 

         

132



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Corporate 
Strategy 

To update Cabinet on 
the corporate strategy 

No Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

All Wards None None Bridget West Open 

 

Estates and 
Accommodation 
- Poole civic 
space 

To propose the design 
and layout for the 
Poole civic (vertical 
slice) and obtain 
approval for funds to 
commence remodelling 
works. 

No Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

All Wards Coroner, Poole 
Charter Trustees 

 Matti Raudsepp Open 

 

School Place 
Planning 
Strategy 

To present the strategy 
- to CS O and S and 
Cabinet 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
21 Sep 2021 

 
Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

All Wards   Jack Cutler, Terry 
Reynolds 

Open 

 

133



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Children's 
Services 
Capital 
Programme 

To advise both CS O 
and S and then Cabinet 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
21 Sep 2021 

 
Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

All Wards   Simon Mckenzie Open 

 

Organisational 
Design - 
Implementation 
Progress 

To provide an update 
on progress of 
implementation of the 
organisational design 
and BCP Council 
operating model 

No Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

All Wards None None Julian Osgathorpe Open 

 

BCP Seafront 
Strategy 

Updated strategy No Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

 Seafront 
Strategy Board, 
Ward 
Councillors, land 
owners, NGOs, 
DMB, BIDs, 
Seafront User 
Groups, 
Resident Groups 
in coastal wards. 

Two stage 
consultation 
around vision, 
aims, objectives 
and high level 
delivery plan.  
To take place 
across June, 
July & August. 

Andrew Emery Open 

 

134



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Corporate 
Asset 
Management 
Plan 

To approve the 
Corporate Asset 
Management Plan 

Yes Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

   Chris Shephard  

 

MTFP Update 
Report 

To provide the latest 
progress on balancing 
the 2022/23 budget 
and the 5 year MTFP 
position 

No Cabinet 
27 Oct 2021 

 
Council 

9 Nov 2021 

All Wards Senior Council 
Leadership 

Through CMB Nicola Webb Open 

 

Home to School 
Transport 

To present the report 
for sign off (pre 
consultation report 
previously presented to 
Cabinet and O and S in 
June 2021) 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
21 Sep 2021 

 
Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

All Wards   Rachel Gravett Open 

 

135



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Estates and 
Accommodation 
- BCP civic 
space 

To propose the layout 
and design for the civic 
space in BCP civic 
centre and obtain 
approval for funds to 
commence remodeling 
works. 

No Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

All Wards Bournemouth 
Charter Trustees 

 Joelle Price Open 

 

         

Housing and 
Property 
Compliance 
Update 
(Housing 
Revenue 
Account) 

To provide assurance 
that Council homes 
within the Bournemouth 
and Poole 
Neighbourhoods are 
being managed in 
accordance with health 
and safety legislation 
and best practice and 
that the Council is 
compliant with current 
regulations and 
standards. 

No Cabinet 

24 Nov 2021 

All Wards   Lorraine Mealings Open 

 

136



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

BCP Economic 
Development 
Strategy (EDS) 

To seek Cabinet 
approval for the 
Economic 
Development Strategy 
for BCP Council 

No Cabinet 

24 Nov 2021 

All Wards None None Matthew Robson Open 

 

137



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

BCP Arts 
Festivals and 
NPO proposals 

To ask for Cabinet’s 
approval of a strategic 
review of arts festivals 
in BCP and 
recommendations for 
governance, 
programming, 
marketing and 
production aimed at 
ensuring the festivals 
ecology meets BCP's 
objectives and provides 
maximum reach, value 
and provision for BCP 
residents. To also 
advise Cabinet on 
Council applications for 
Arts Council National 
Portfolio Organisation 
support in 2022 and 
advise on the overall 
picture of applications 
from the locality. 

No Cabinet 

24 Nov 2021 

All Wards Cultural 
organisations, 
Arts Council 
England, BCP 
Cultural 
Compact board 
and consultative 
group. 

Informal 
engagement 
May-September 
2021 

Michael Spender Open 

 

138



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Acquisition of 
Queen Parks 
Leisure Centre 

To consider the 
proposal to acquire 
Queens Park Leisure 
Centre in 
Bournemouth. 

Yes Cabinet 

24 Nov 2021 

Queen's 
Park 

  Anthony Rogers Fully exempt 

 

         

Quarter Two 
Budget 
Monitoring and 
MTFP Report 

To provide budget 
monitoring information 
for the end for quarter 2 
with explanations for 
significant variances. 
The report may also 
include budget 
virements for approval 
by Cabinet or Council. 

No Cabinet 
15 Dec 2021 

 
Council 

4 Jan 2022 

All Wards CMB CMB Nicola Webb Open 

 

Organisational 
Design - 
Implementation 
Progress 

To provide an update 
on progress of 
implementation of the 
organisational design 
and BCP Council 
operating model. 

No Cabinet 

15 Dec 2021 

All Wards None None Julian Osgathorpe Open 

 

139



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Climate Action 
Annual Report 
2020/21 

To update on progress 
towards achieving BCP 
Council's targets to: 
• make BCP Council 
and its operations 
carbon neutral by 2030 
• work with the wider 
community to make the 
BCP Council Area 
carbon neutral before 
the UK target of 2050 
 
Report will look back 
over activities and 
achievements in 2020, 
and set out planned 
action up to the target 
dates of 2030 and 
2050. 

No Cabinet 
15 Dec 2021 

 
Council 

4 Jan 2022 

All Wards Portfolio Holder, 
Executive 
Officers, Climate 
Action Steering 
Group 

Input sought 
from services in 
the 
development of 
the report. 
Paper to 
Climate Action 
Steering 
Group/CMB/Scr
utiny/Cabinet/C
ouncil. 

Roxanne King, 
Kate Langdown, 
Ian Poultney 

Open 

 

         

140



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Home to School 
Transport 

This comes back to CS 
O and S and Cabinet 
post consultation (pre 
consultation reports to 
CS O and S and 
Cabinet in Sept) 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
25 Jan 2022 

 
Cabinet 

9 Feb 2022 

All Wards   Rachel Gravett Open 

 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account (HRA) 
Budget Setting 
2022/23 

To set the HRA budget 
for April 2022 to March 
2023 

Yes Cabinet 
9 Feb 2022 

 
Council 

22 Feb 2022 

All Wards CMB, Portfolio 
Holder for 
Homes, Director 
of Finance, 
Head of Legal 
Services, Poole 
Housing 
Partnership 

Internal 
consultation 
prior to decision 
November - 
December 

Lorraine Mealings Open 

 

141



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

BCP Council 
Cemeteries 
Rules & 
Regulations 
adoption 

To present to and be 
adopted by Cabinet a 
harmonised set of 
Cemeteries Rules & 
Regulations for BCP 
Council, in accordance 
with the local 
Government Act 1972 
and the Local 
Authorities Cemeteries 
Order 1977 

Yes Cabinet 

9 Feb 2022 

All Wards   Andy McDonald Open 

 

         

Bereavement 
Services 
Business Plan 
Update 

To update Cabinet on 
the progress made 
since the adoption of 
BCP Council 
Bereavement Plan 
2021 -26 and the future 
options for investment 
into Poole Crematorium 
as a continued site for 
the bereaved. 

Yes Cabinet 

25 May 2022 

All Wards Council, 
Councillors, 
Funeral 
Directors, 
General Public 

 Andy McDonald Open 

 

         

142



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Christchurch 
Bay and 
Harbour 
FCERM 
Strategy 

Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole 
Council (BCP) and 
New Forest District 
Council (NFDC) are 
working together with 
the Environment 
Agency to produce a 
new strategy to protect 
coastal communities 
from tidal flooding and 
erosion risk. It will 
guide how the frontage 
from Hengistbury Head 
to Hurst Spit, 
encompassing 
Christchurch Harbour, 
will be sustainably 
managed for the next 
100 years. 

No Cabinet 

12 Apr 2023 

Christchurch 
Town; East 
Southbourn
e & Tuckton; 
Highcliffe & 
Walkford; 
Mudeford, 
Stanpit & 

West 
Highcliffe 

Landowners, 
BCP residents, 
businesses, 
organisations, 
BCP services 

Several levels 
of public 
enegagement 
and consultation 
throughout the 
development of 
the Strategy 
between 2021 
and 2023. 

Catherine Corbin, 
Alan Frampton, 
Matt Hosey 

Open 

 

143



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

South Part of 
Beach Road 
Car Park Poole 

Appropriation and 
disposal for housing (in 
accordance with its 
local plan allocation) 
subject to an approved 
and adopted 
Development Brief by 
the Local Planning 
Authority, being in 
place. 

Yes Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Canford 
Cliffs 

Portfolio holders 
for 
1.Regeneration, 
Economy & 
Strategic 
Planning, 2. 
Tourism,Leisure 
Culture, 
3.Community 
Safety and 4. 
Transport & 
Sustainability. 

The disposal 
approval is 
sought, subject 
to an adopted 
Development 
brief being in 
place, and if 
Cabinet give the 
Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) 
approval to 
consult the 
public on the 
Development 
brief, then all 
portfolio holders 
local residents 
association and 
other interested 
parties from the 
public will have 
an opportunity 
to make 
representations 
through the 
LPA's 6 week 
public 
consultation 
process. 

Irene Ferns Open 

 

144



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Library Strategy To produce a library 
strategy across all BCP 
libraries and the 
development of 
libraries as 
neighbourhood hubs. 

No Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

    Open 

 

145



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Dorset Flood & 
Coastal 
Partnership 

To seek approval to 
evolve from the existing 
Dorset Coastal 
Engineering 
Partnership Agreement 
(between BCP Council 
and Dorset Council) to 
a Shared Service 
Agreement. This would 
include working to a 
single budget for the 
resourcing and 
management of the 
service, including a 
longer term shift to 
BCP acting as host 
employer. It is also 
proposed for the 
Shared Service to 
expand to include 
surface water 
management and 
therefore operate as 
the Dorset Flood and 
Coastal Partnership. 

No Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

All Wards Cabinet 
consideration is 
required by both 
BCP Council 
and Dorset 
Council. 

 Catherine Corbin, 
Matt Hosey, Julian 
McLaughlin 

Open 

 

146



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Russell Coates 
Arts Gallery 
Museum 
Governance 
Report 

To consider the 
formation of a separate 
charitable entity for 
Russell Cotes Art 
Gallery & Museum. 

No Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

 RCAGM Mgt 
Committee  
Charity 
Commission 
Arts Council 

All parties have 
been involved 
with initial 
feasibility and 
continue to be 
actively 
engaged. 

Sarah Newman, 
Chris Saunders 

Open 

 

Beach Hut 
Policy 

Harmonisation of 
policy, pricing, team 
location and booking 
system 

No Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

 Beach Hut 
Associations, l 
Beach Hut 
owners/ tenants, 
and for some of 
the work a more 
general 
consultation with 
BCP residents. 

Consultation 
with the Beach 
Hut 
Associations will 
take place over 
the course of 
the project. 
More formal 
consultation will 
take place with 
Beach Hut 
Owners & 
Tenants and if 
required a 
suitable sample 
of BCP 
residents 
(between April 
a2020 and April 
2021). 

Andrew Brown Open 

 147



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Adoption of 
Ducking Stool 
Walk, 
Christchurch 

To consider a request 
from Priory Mews 
Management Company 
for BCP Council to 
adopt the land and 
structures forming the 
Public Right of Way 
known as Ducking 
Stool Walk 

No Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Christchurch 
Town 

Leader of the 
Council (Cllr 
Drew Mellor); 
Portfolio Holder 
(Cllr Mark 
Anderston); 
Ward 
Councillors (Cllr 
Peter Hall and 
Cllr Mike Cox); 

Informal 
consultation to 
inform the 
report 

Alan Ottaway Open 

 

BCP Economic 
Development 
Strategy 

 Yes Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

 

     

 

148



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Western 
Gateway Sub-
national 
Transport Body 
(STB)- Strategic 
Transport Plan 

To advise Cabinet of 
the STB's intention to 
adopt its Strategic 
Transport Plan at its 
Board meeting in 
December 2020 
subject to agreement of 
all its consituent 
members. This is also 
subject to the outcome 
of an active 
consultation period 
which will close on 31st 
July 2020. 

No Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

All Wards Portfolio Holders 
for Transport 
and 
Infrastructure 
and Environment 
and Climate 
Change. 

A public 
consultation is 
active until 31 
July 2020 
https://westerng
atewaystb.org.u
k/ 

Julian McLaughlin, 
Ewan Wilson 

Open 

 

Children's 
Safeguarding 
Arrangements 

To present reviewed 
arrangements 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
 

Cabinet 

 

Dates to be 
confirmed 

All Wards   Rachel Gravett Open 

 

149



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Bournemouth 
Learning Centre 
conversion to a 
Special School 
Campus - 
Capital budget 
approval 

 No Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

All Wards    Open 

 

Poole 
Regeneration 
Update 

To update Cabinet and 
the public on projects 
and activities in Poole 
Town Centre 

No Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Poole Town relevant 
stakeholders to 
the Poole 
Regeneration 
Programme 

 Chris Shephard Open 

 

Thistle Hotel, 
Poole Quay - 
Lease 
restructure 

To seek authorisation 
to restructure a lease to 
enable a third party 
Hotel/Residential 
development to 
proceed 

No Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Poole Town   Rebecca Bray Open 

 

150



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Crime & 
Disorder 
Reduction 
Strategy 

To agree & adopt a 
BCP Crime & Disorder 
Reduction Strategy 

No Cabinet 
Date to be 
confirmed 

 

All Wards Community 
Safety 
Partnership 

 Andrew Williams Open 

 

151



T
his page is intentionally left blank

152


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 Care Homes for Older People Strategy
	Enc. 1 for Older Peoples Care Home Strategy
	Enc. 2 for Older Peoples Care Home Strategy

	7 Extra Care Housing Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council Extra Care Housing Commissioning Strategy 2022-2030
	Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment
	Appendix 3 - Recommendations from the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

	8 Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Policy
	Appendix 1 - Disabled Facilities Grant Policy
	Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment
	Appendix 3 - Action Plan

	9 Bus Operator Enhanced Partnership (National Bus Strategy)
	10 Christchurch Business Improvement District
	11 Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Service structure
	14 Cabinet Forward Plan

